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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Xin (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Canhao

Dr. Cheng Li-Lan

Dr. Ding Zuyu

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Silong (Resigned on 2 September 2021)
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Ms. Xie Mei

Mr. Huang Haojun (Resigned on 2 September 2021)

Mr. Lv Peimei (Appointed on 2 September 2021)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Bang
Mr. Zhu Hongchao
Mr. Wang Liqun
Mr. Li Jin

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Bang (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Liqun
Mr. Li Jin

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhu Hongchao (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Liqun
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhou Xin (Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Hongchao
Mr. Wang Liqun

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Zhou Liang
Mr. Cheng Ching Kit



REAXK

ERVA |
ISErh e

BB

=g e EMR A SEMANTT

AR F s BB SRR
(R20224F7H20 HEHT)

FEZESTRESAMERAR

BESAD
(R20224F7H29HEZ(T)

AfREE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

BB

hE T
H R E ELER 3835
Bl HiE11#2
IS - 200072

ERTEERME

BEBBIT
SRABR2485%
RETE R LA01E
EEER
EBREBER
3 BB R A E TS P
H B A

BE A (/) AT
FEREER

EBEERMERFA (B8 BRERATAE

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Cheng Li-Lan
Mr. Zhou Liang

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
(resigned on 20 July 2022)

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants
(Appointed on 29 July 2022)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS
11/F, Yinli Building

383 Guangyan Road, Jing’an District
Shanghai 200072, China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong law and United States law
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom

As to the laws of mainland China

Grandall Law Firm (Shanghai)

As to Cayman Islands law

Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP
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EBEERREZE
BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

In 2021, under the general principle of “houses are for living,
not for speculation” there was a demand for stabilizing land
premiums, housing prices and expectations. As a number of policies,
including those regarding land auctions and regulatory funds,
were implemented, the real estate industry has been under severe
conditions, with transactions continuing to decrease and several
property developers facing credit crisis. As the primary downstream
service platform of China’s real estate industry, the Group was
also affected by the chain reaction of the industry. Its collection of
real estate sales showed a staged downward trend and its overall
performance declined. During the Reporting Period, the Group
recorded a loss of RMB12.265 billion. This was mainly due to (i)
the decline in the Group’s business scale as a result of the overall
downturn in the real estate market; (ii) the additional loss allowance
recognized by the Group for the ECL on outstanding trade-related
receivables from customers due to the deterioration in the credit
quality of several real estate developer customers; and (iii) impairment
losses on other assets resulting from the overall real estate market
downturn.

During this unprecedented difficult period for the industry, the Group
proactively responded to the risks and challenges arising from industry
reform and corporate development. We strictly limited expenditures
and reorganized cost structure. In order to follow the development
trend of the upstream real estate development industry, we disposed
of problematic projects in the existing real estate agency services in
the primary market sector and adjusted the staffing in this business
sector to optimize the direction and pace of resource investment.
We actively recovered receivables and optimized the projects’ credit
periods. For the accounts receivables where impairment provision
was made, the Group actively followed up through formulating a
recovery plan, stepping up efforts in collection, prudently evaluating
the cooperating developer customers, giving priority to high-quality
projects with guaranteed collection and strictly controlling the credit
period of collection. Over the years, the Group has built certain
development resilience from its entire industry chain layout in respect
of the real estate marketing and data consulting services industry.
With the gradual rebound of the real estate industry and the further
recovery of the liquidity of upstream real estate developers, the Group
believes that gradual business recovery will be achieved through
synergies among various business sectors.

The Group adheres to the two major strategic focuses of digital
marketing and digital services, leveraging business synergies to
optimize asset value.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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With the digital marketing strategy centered on
“Tmall Haofang (X%##&E)", the Group built a full-
chain platform for online and offline real estate
digital marketing:

On the offline end, based on years of long-term close
cooperation with domestic real estate developers, traditional
real estate agency services in the primary market and real
estate brokerage network services will continue to ensure the
offline supply of high-quality properties. The Group’s Fangyou
brand integrated small and medium-sized real estate brokerage
companies across the country, building strong customer
acquisition capabilities through multiple channels. On the
online end, the Group's Leju brand further developed its online
real estate marketing business. In September 2021, the Group
formed a new strategic cooperation with Alibaba and officially
completed the acquisition of Tmall Haofang through an equity
swap in November 2021. The exclusive right Alibaba granted the
Group to operate online real estate marketing and transactions
promotes the Company’s digital transformation, while Tmalls
massive user base will bring in huge traffic to traditional
business sectors, creating incremental income in all aspects. The
Group will spare no effort to build a closed loop of online and
offline full-chain transactions, and develop Tmall Haofang into a
new open digital transaction platform that converges, serves and
empowers the entire industry.
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2)

Adhering to the digital service strategy centered on
"CRIC Big Data”, the Group built a real estate digital
solution platform ecosystem:

Through giving full play to the advantages of real estate big data
and digitalization, the Group will develop CRIC into a leading
real estate digital solution provider in China. The Group created
better big data products through expanding and extending its
advantages of big data to the application scenarios of the whole
real estate field from traditional residences to existing asset
management sectors, such as properties, commercial offices,
cultural tourism, apartments, health care and others, and actively
explored the application of digitalization to create a digital
system that provides high-quality real estate data and consulting
services for industry participants and helps customers reduce
costs and increase efficiency. In addition, CRIC will adapt to the
challenging times faced by the real estate industry and carry
out digital innovation and exploration of real estate business
models, including but not limited to digital asset management
innovation in the field of existing real estate and non-performing
assets. CRIC's continuous upgrade, innovation and enhanced
defence will help the Group provide better services to real estate
developers and house buyers, and achieve a customer-centric
full closed-loop ecosystem that spans from strategy to execution,
online to offline and customer acquisition to transformation.
With sufficient synergy with the digital marketing sector,
CRIC helps the Group achieve strong capabilities in customer
acquisition, strategy, transaction and brand marketing.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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Total revenue amounted to RMB8,866.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The total gross transaction value (“GTV") of real estate agency
services was RMB296.3 billion for the year ended 31 December
2021.

The total GTV of real estate brokerage network services
amounted to RMB119.5 billion for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Loss for the year amounted to RMB12,264.7 million, and total
comprehensive expense for the year amounted to RMB12,260.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.



A

BB ALE2020F 9 AREES,051.58 &
TCIZNN10.1% 22021 FH AR E,866.08
B ZEMNEERRINELEERREH
FEERBOBAZEARE3 443.25ET
FrEK -

—FERERBEENBAN2020FHAR
#3,203.5B8 LA 37.9% E2021F A
R¥E1,989.188B L TEZEHREHEMS
R M E B GTV RBRFTEL -

B i E A 4D AR IR TS EE AU A1 20205 &)
ARHE2,732 3B BILHLT7.9% E2021FH)
AR®2517.088L  ZRAPTDEEHRR
B EMISEEEXMERGTV N -

FHbE R KA AR E SRR AR 2020F
MARMEISTOBE LA 7.1%E2021FH
AR¥916.7EET - TEZAHNFBHARBA
DR o

HFLHERBEENHBAN2020FHARE
1,128. 7B & LI M205.1% Z2021 FHAR
3443 2FEBT TEHNN2020511 A4

LEEI
BIKAE

BRI E TRZARHE 2020 A RE2,734.3H
BITIEMN18.6%E2021 FMAR3,243.2
BEI ° BTG ARILLBIHE2020F 1
34.0%EINE2021FK)36.6% © EZHRIK
N TFEETEL -

EERERAX

BN EERERRAIE20200WARE
946 8 HELIENM222.0% E2021 FH AR
#3,048.3F BT TEHM2020F11 A
BEER  ZER20Q1FREANTELE
BRI ARE2 742 6 EBTLHY - £FH
EEMMERAY ETZREANERBERNE
MG ERETEEKA o

EEENWmED N
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

Our revenue increased by 10.1% from RMB8,051.5 million in 2020
to RMB8,866.0 million in 2021. The increase was primarily due to
revenue derived from digital marketing services upon the acquisition
of Leju which amounted to RMB3,443.2 million.

Revenue derived from real estate agency services in the primary
market decreased by 37.9% from RMB3,203.5 million in 2020 to
RMB1,989.1 million in 2021, primarily due to the decline of GTV
caused by the overall downturn in the real estate market.

Revenue derived from real estate brokerage network services
decreased by 7.9% from RMB2,732.3 million in 2020 to RMB2,517.0
million in 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the decline of GTV
caused by the overall downturn in the real estate market.

Revenue derived from real estate data and consulting services
decreased by 7.1% from RMB987.0 million in 2020 to RMB916.7
million in 2021 primarily due to the decrease of consulting services.

Revenue derived from digital marketing services increased by 205.1%
from RMB1,128.7 million in 2020 to RMB3,443.2 million in 2021
primarily due to the acquisition of Leju in November 2020.

Staff costs

Our staff costs increased by 18.6% from RMB2,734.3 million in 2020
to RMB3,243.2 million in 2021. Staff costs as a percentage of our
revenue increased from 34.0% in 2020 to 36.6% in 2021, primarily
due to the decrease in revenue.

Advertising and promotion expenses

Our advertising and promotion expenses increased by 222.0% from
RMB946.8 million in 2020 to RMB3,048.3 million in 2021, primarily
due to advertising and promotion expenses amounting to RMB2,742.6
million incurred by Leju in 2021 upon the acquisition of Leju in
November 2020. The advertising and promotion expenses of Leju
primarily consist of targeted online and offline marketing costs for
business expansion.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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Rental expenses for short-term leases, low-value assets
leases and variable leases

We recorded rental expenses for short-term leases, low-value assets
leases and variable leases of RMB111.4 million in 2021, and RMB33.6
million in 2020. The increase was primarily due to the increase of
expenses relating to variable leases.

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Our depreciation and amortisation expenses increased by 106.7%
from RMB210.6 million in 2020 to RMB435.3 million in 2021,
primarily due to the increase in amortisation of intangible assets
arising from acquisition and the increased balance of property and
equipment.

Loss allowance on financial assets subject to expected
credit loss (“ECL"), net of reversal

Our loss allowance on financial assets subject to ECL, net of
reversal increased by 5,094.9% from RMB172.5 million in 2020 to
RMB8,963.7 million in 2021, primarily due to the recognition of
additional loss allowance on ECL of the Group's outstanding trade
related receivables from certain of the Group’s customers engaged in
property development whose credit qualities have worsened.

Loss on derecognition of receivables at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

We recorded loss on derecognition of receivables at FVTOCI of
RMB5.7 million in 2021, and RMB14.7 million in 2020. The cost
incurred was primarily from the disposal of receivables at FVTOCI
through certain factoring arrangement.

Impairment losses recognised on non-current assets

We recorded impairment losses recognised on non-current assets of
RMB858.5 million in 2021, and nil in 2020. The cost incurred was
primarily from the impairment losses recognised on goodwill.
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Consultancy expenses

Our consultancy expenses increased by 33.9% from RMB228.4 million
in 2020 to RMB305.7 million in 2021, primarily due to the cost
incurred by real estate agency services in the primary market.

Distribution expenses

Our distribution expenses increased by 2.8% from RMB2,395.8 million
in 2020 to RMB2,462.3 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase
of distribution cost rate.

Other operating costs

Our other operating costs increased by 99.7% from RMB359.4 million
in 2020 to RMB717.7 million in 2021, primarily due to the other
operating costs of RMB294.3 million incurred by Leju in 2021 upon
the acquisition of Leju in November 2020.

Other income

Our other income increased by 41.5% from RMB140.2 million in 2020
to RMB198.4 million in 2021, primarily due to the recognition of the
financing component in transaction price.

Other gains and losses

We recorded net other gains of RMB72.3 million in 2020 and net
other losses of RMB214.7 million in 2021. Our net other gains in
2020 were primarily attributable to the fair value gain on holding of
shares of other companies listed on the Stock Exchange, and the net
other loss in 2021 was primarily attributable to the fair value loss on
holding of such shares.

Other expenses

Our other expenses increased from RMB15.6 million in 2020 to
approximately RMB29.7 million in 2021. The increase was primarily
due to the increase in donation.

Share of results of associates

We recorded share of profits of associates of RMB21.1 million in
2020 and share of losses of associates of RMB33.0 million in 2021.
The share of losses in 2021 was primarily attributable to the share of
losses of an associate which had just commenced its new business.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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Finance costs

Our finance costs increased by 11.8% from RMB481.9 million in 2020
to RMB538.8 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase in the
weighted average balances of interest bearing loans.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased by 43.0% from RMB252.4 million
in 2020 to RMB360.9 million in 2021, primarily due to the valuation
allowance of defer tax assets.

Loss/profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year amounted to
RMB12,264.7 million in 2021, compared to profit for the year of
RMB439.2 million in 2020.

Total comprehensive expense/income for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our total comprehensive expense for
the year amounted to RMB12,260.9 million in 2021, compared to
our total comprehensive income for the year of RMB458.7 million in
2020.

Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial information which is
presented in accordance with IFRS, we also use (i) operating loss/
profit and operating loss/profit margin and (ii) EBITDA loss/EBITDA
as additional measures for illustrative purposes only. We believe that
these measures provide useful information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial results in the
same manner as our management.
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We define our operating loss/profit as revenue net of operating
costs, which consist of staff costs, advertising and promotion
expenses, rental expenses for short-term leases, low-value assets
leases and variable leases, depreciation and amortization expenses,
loss allowance on financial assets subject to ECL net of reversal, loss
on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost, loss
on derecognition of receivables at FVTOCI, consultancy expenses,
distribution expenses, and other operating costs. We define operating
loss/profit margin as operating loss/profit divided by revenue for the
year.

Our operating loss amounted to RMB10,427.4 million in the year
ended 31 December 2021 compared to an operating profit of
RMB955.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. Our
operating loss margin was 117.6% in the year ended 31 December
2021, as compared to our operating profit margin of 11.9% for
the year ended 31 December 2020, primarily due to the net loss
allowance on financial assets. The calculation of operating loss/
profit and operating loss/profit margin is not in accordance with IFRS
and may not be directly comparable with similarly named financial
measures of other companies. The use of these measures has
limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in
isolation from other measures as reported in accordance with IFRS.

We define EBITDA loss/EBITDA as (i) loss/profit for the year, adjusted
to add back (ii) finance costs (iii) depreciation and amortisation
expenses and (iv) income tax expense. We use EBITDA loss/EBITDA
to emphasize operating results and it more nearly approximates cash
flows.

Our EBITDA loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
RMB10,929.6 million, as compared with EBITDA of RMB1,384.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The calculation of
EBITDA is not in accordance with IFRS and therefore may not be
directly comparable with similarly named financial measures of other
companies. The use of these measures has limitations as an analytical
tool, and you should not consider them in isolation from other
measures as reported in accordance with IFRS.
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We define core net loss/profit attributable to owners of the Company

s (i) loss/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company,
adjusted to add back (ii) profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the 21 investors (the “21 Investors”) of the PRC
Holdco, details and background of the 21 Investors are set out in
the section headed “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure
— Our Corporate Reorganization — Reorganization of Interests in
PRC Holdco” of the Prospectus, and (iii) share-based compensation
expense related to the Company’s pre-IPO share option scheme.

Since the profit and total comprehensive income attributable to the
21 Investors of the PRC Holdco was nil from 2019, and the share-
based compensation expense related to the Company’s pre-IPO share
option scheme was immaterial in the year ended 31 December 2021,
the disclosure of these measures would not be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of financial
statements.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

During the year ended 31 December 2021, we funded our cash
requirements principally from cash generated from our operations,
external borrowings, and the issue of USD-denominated senior
notes due 2022 and 2023. We had cash and cash equivalents of
RMB7,515.8 million and RMB3,314.7 million as of 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2021, respectively. We generally deposit our excess
cash in interest bearing bank accounts and current accounts.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, our principal uses of cash
have been for the funding of required working capital and other
recurring expenses to support the expansion of our operations and to
finance the purchases in April 2021 and May 2021 as disclosed in the
section headed “Material Acquisitions and/or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies” in this annual report. Going forward, we
believe our liquidity requirements will be satisfied by using funds from
a combination of internally generated cash, external borrowings, and
the issue of United States dollar-denominated senior notes due 2022
and 2023 and other funds raised from the capital markets from time
to time.



BEXRFX

Capital Expenditure

HE12A31BILFE
Year ended 31 December

2021%F 20204

AR¥TR ARETT

(RET) (& &sT)

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

(audited) (audited)

BEVERSBEURDERRBEZS Purchase of and deposits placed for 369,185 176,564
property and equipment

HBEREEE Purchase of intangible assets 647 288

st Total 369,832 176,852

BANEAAXETESNBEENE  RER
BREENNRERMEERNR - HEMEEE
(E2EREMBEERRERR) EWER
REBERED

BEERBERMRERRZH

HZE2021F128318 » HMILEETEM
BEABRINS -

BEXEERR

HZE20215F12 8318 » BEE 2020412
A318®31.9%48k - AEEELRBREL X
(FRHARER (FrARITREMER) BER
NEBEBEHE) B56.6% ° ZEMESH
RERTTHE S - BRRR - BRKREBRRIZAR
BEF 20T A H 42 B US89 W A
BT o

Our capital expenditures primarily related to purchases of property,
equipment, and intangible assets and capitalised prepayment.
Leasehold improvements, mainly including capitalised decoration
and maintenance costs, account for the majority of property and
equipment purchases.

Off-Balance Sheet Commitments and Arrangements

As of 31 December 2021, we had not entered into any off-balance
sheet transactions.

Gearing Ratio

As of 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is
calculated by dividing total debt (all bank and other borrowings) by
total assets as of the end of the period, was 56.6%, as compared with
31.9% as of 31 December 2020. The increase was primarily due to
the decrease of bank balances, accounts receivables, bills receivables
and receivables at FVTOCI.
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Significant Investments Held

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Material Acquisition and/
or Disposals of Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies”, as of 31
December 2021, we did not hold any significant investments in the
equity interests of any other companies (including any investment in
an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the Company’s
total assets as at 31 December 2021).

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

As of 31 December 2021, we did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.

Material Acquisitions and/or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

1. On 27 April 2021, Shanghai Ziyong (as buyer) and Shanghai
Tianji and Tianji Management (as sellers) entered into a transfer
agreement (the “Tianji Network Transfer Agreement”),
pursuant to which Shanghai Ziyong agreed to acquire the
entire equity interests of Shanghai Tianji Network Service Co.,
Ltd. from Tianji Development and Tianji Management for the
consideration of RMB300,000,000.

For further details of the Tianji Network Transfer Agreement,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 27
April 2021 and 13 May 2021. The acquisition was completed on
30 May 2021.

2. On 28 April 2021, the Company and Alibaba Investment Limited
(the "Alibaba Investment”) entered into an acquisition
agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
and to procure Fangyou to receive (as transferee), and Alibaba
Investment agreed to sell, an 85% equity interest in TM Home
Limited (the “JV") for a consideration of HK$1,860 million (the
“JV Acquisition Agreement”), which shall be settled by way of
the allotment and issue of 248,000,000 consideration shares by
the Company to Alibaba Investment.

The JV Acquisition Agreement was terminated on 1 September
2021, and the rights and obligations of the parties under such
agreements have ceased to have effect. For further details of
the JV Acquisition Agreement, related updates and termination,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28
April 2021, 20 May 2021, 2 July 2021, 2 August 2021 and 1
September 2021.
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3.

On 1 September 2021,

(a)

the Company and the JV entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to sell, and the JV has conditionally agreed to purchase,
the sale interest comprising of 76,401,247 ordinary
shares of Leju, a subsidiary of the Company, representing
approximately 55.84% of the issued share capital of
Leju and the entire equity interest in E-House (China)
International Property Development Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. The consideration shall
be the sum of HK$2,558,696,093 which shall be settled
by the JV allotting and issuing 11,692,966 new ordinary
shares of the JV to the Company on and upon the terms
and subject to the conditions set out in the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

the Company and the JV entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the JV has conditionally agreed to
allot and issue 6,854,839 new ordinary shares in the JV
for a consideration of HK$1,500,000,000 (representing
approximately HK$218.82 per share in the JV) which shall
be payable by the Company in full upon completion of the
Subscription Agreement.

the Company and Alibaba (China) Technology Co., Ltd.
("Alibaba China”) entered into a strategic cooperation
amendment agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation
Amendment Agreement”) which amended and
restated the terms of (i) the strategic cooperation
agreement dated 31 July 2020 (the “July 2020 Strategic
Cooperation Agreement”) entered into between the
Company and Alibaba China; and (ii) the amendment
agreement amending and restating the July 2020 Strategic
Cooperation Agreement dated 28 April 2021 entered into
between the Company and Alibaba China, and under
which Alibaba China agreed to cause to be granted to
Shanghai Tianji Haofang E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (“Tianji
Haofang”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the JV,
the exclusive right to develop and operate Tmall Haofang
(R#175), a branded online real estate marketing and
transaction service platform, to cause to be licensed to
Tianji Haofang Tmall-related intellectual property rights,
and to cause to be provided to the Company technical,
product, data and operational support to enhance its
digital and online marketing capabilities.
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Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
Subscription Agreement took place on 24 November 2021.
For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 1 September 2021, the circular of the Company
dated 28 October 2021, and the announcement of the Company
dated 24 November 2021.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we did not have any material
acquisitions and/or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
during the Reporting Period.

Employee and Remuneration Policy

As of 31 December 2021, we had 10,560 full-time employees, most
of whom were based in China. Our employees are based in our
headquarters in Shanghai and various other cities in China according
to our business strategies.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate
qualified personnel. As part of our retention strategy, we offer
employees performance-based cash bonuses and other incentives in
addition to base salaries. The total remuneration expenses, including
share-based compensation expense, for the year ended 31 December
2021 were RMB3,243.2 million, as compared to RMB2,734.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing a year-on-year
increase of 18.6%.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our functional currency is Renminbi, but certain of our cash and cash
equivalent, USD-denominated senior notes and conditional investment
fund received are denominated in foreign currency and are exposed
to foreign currency risk. We currently do not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. We will continue to monitor foreign exchange
exposure and will take actions when necessary.
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Pledge of Assets

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB1,646.5 million were secured by a bank deposit of US$118.4
million (equivalent to approximately RMB755.1 million), the Wanju
Property (carrying amount of RMB612.9 million), Tangchao Grand
Hotel (carrying amount of RMB539.8 million) and 2 units in Hangzhou
PinglLan business center (carrying amount of RMB18.2 million).

For further details of the Wanju Property and Tangchao Grand Hotel,
please refer to the announcements of the Company published under
the titles “Discloseable Transaction — Acquisition of Shanghai Wanju”
and “Discloseable Transaction — Acquisition of Shanghai Juanpeng”,
respectively, on 22 March 2020.

Contingent Liabilities

As of 31 December 2021, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2020: nil).
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#®E FiR B EZERESZHY
Name Age Position Date of appointment as Director
EDies 55 HITEERTF 201042 H22H
Mr. Zhou Xin Executive Director and Chairman 22 February 2010
BRERLE 65 WITEERETRE 2017411 A9H
Mr. Huang Canhao Executive Director and Vice Chairman 9 November 2017
BiaREL 57 WITES 201843 A16H
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan Executive Director 16 March 2018
THERT 49 WITESERERITE 201843 A 16H
Dr. Ding Zuyu Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 16 March 2018
FRERBELEED 38 HERITEF 202068 A31H
Mr. Li Silong® Non-executive Director 31 August 2020
BB ED 47 FERITEF 2021494 2H
Mr. Tang Xing® Non-executive Director 2 September 2021
FEH M 2 L © 39 FERTEF 202247 A5H
Ms. Jiang Shanshan® Non-executive Director 5 July 2022
RGRED 52 FHTES 202098 A31H
Mr. Zhang Hai® Non-executive Director 31 August 2020
BREE® 50 FHTES 202264 A1H
Mr. Yang Yong® Non-executive Director 1 April 2022
WGt 54 FHTES 2018511 A30H
Ms. Xie Mei Non-executive Director 30 November 2018
BERELED 32 FERTEF 202068 A31H
Mr. Huang Haojun® Non-executive Director 31 August 2020
EOMEFES 36 FHITES 202159 A2H
Mr. Lv Peimei® Non-executive Director 2 September 2021
REESEA 54 BIUFATES 201847 A 10H
Mr. Zhang Bang Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018

KA ELE 62 BIUERITES 201857 A 10H
Mr. Zhu Hongchao Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018
THBEE 68 BIYFRITES 2018%7A10R
Mr. Wang Liqun Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018

FH 55 BUIFNTES 20187 A 10H
Mr. Li Jin Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018
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(1) Mr. Li Silong and Mr. Huang Haojun resigned as non-executive Directors
effective from 2 September 2021.

(2)  Mr. Tang Xing was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2021 and resigned as a non-executive Director on 5 July
2022.

(3)  Mr. Zhang Hai resigned as a non-executive Director effective from 1
April 2022.

(4)  Mr. Yang Yong was appointed as a non-executive Director effective from
1 April 2022.

(5)  Mr. Lv Peimei was appointed as a non-executive Director effective from
2 September 2021.

(6)  Ms. Jiang Shanshan was appointed as a non-executive Director effective
from 5 July 2022.

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Xin (A7), aged 55, is a founder of our business, an
executive Director, chairman of the nomination committee, and
chairman of our Group. He is primarily responsible for formulating
the overall development strategies and business plans of our Group.
Mr. Zhou received his bachelor's degree in mechanical design and
manufacturing from the Shanghai University (/& KX£) in 1990.

Mr. Zhou has over 23 years of experience in China’s real estate
industry. He served as deputy general manager of Shanghai Jinfeng
Investments Co., Ltd. (E/8& 2 ERMHER AR, a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600606. He has held
many roles in E-House (China) Holdings, formerly listed on NYSE with
stock code EJ, including as vice chairman and president of E-House
Management since 2003, its chairman since 2005 and chief executive
officer from 2003 to 2009 and again since 2012. Between 2009 and
2012, Mr. Zhou was the co-chairman and chief executive officer of
CRE Corp during the time it was listed on NYSE until it was privatised
by E-House (China) Holdings. He has also served as executive chairman
of Leju since its inception. Mr. Zhou has also been the director of PRC
Holdco since July 2006.
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Currently, Mr. Zhou holds directorships in the following listed
companies:

o director of Leju since its listing in April 2014. Leju is a
company listed on NYSE with stock code LEJU and has since
the completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements become a
subsidiary of the Company; and

o director of Jupai, a company which was listed on NYSE with
stock code JP but became delisted during the Reporting Period
and which is held as to 23% by E-House (China) Holdings (one
of our substantial Shareholders) from May 2014 to April 2015
and since July 2015.

Mr. Zhou was a director of E-House (China) Holdings, a company
listed on NYSE with stock code EJ, from its listing in August 2007 to
August 2016 when it was delisted.

Mr. Zhou was named the “Person of the Year of Chinese Economy”
jointly by SINA Corporation and People’s Daily in 2016, received
the “China Business Leader Award” from the Eighth China Business
Leader Forum in 2016, received the “Outstanding Entrepreneur
Award” from Enterprise Asia in 2010, and was awarded the “Special
Contribution Award in China’s Real Estate Services Industry” in 2005.

Mr. Zhou currently serves as vice-chairman of China Real Estate
Association, director of The Nature Conservancy China, vice-chairman
of China Real Estate Developers and Investors Associations, and
chairman of Real Estate Service Committee of China Real Estate
Association. He is also chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Broker
Industry Association, and rotating chairman of Shanghai Entrepreneur
Association.

Mr. Zhou is also a director of certain of our substantial Shareholders
and their subsidiaries and associates, as detailed in the section headed
“Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

Mr. Huang Canhao (E%), aged 65, is an executive Director and
vice chairman of our Group. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
the management and strategic development of our Group. Mr. Huang
received his diploma in economics management from the International
Business School of Shanghai University in 1998.
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In 2000, he joined our business, serving at E-House Management
from 2000 to 2007 as vice president and serving at E-House (China)
Holdings from 2007 to 2009 as head of operations. He has also held
various roles in PRC Holdco, including vice president of the real estate
agency services business division in the primary market from 2009 to
2015, and a director and vice chairman since 2016.

Mr. Huang has been a director of Leju since its listing in April 2014.
Leju is a company listed on NYSE with stock code LEJU and has
since the completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements become
a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Huang was a director of our
substantial Shareholder, CRE Corp, from its listing in October 2009
to May 2012 when it was delisted. Additionally, Mr. Huang was
previously a director of E-House (China) Holdings, a company listed
on NYSE with stock code EJ, from its listing in August 2007 to August
2016 when it was delisted.

Mr. Huang was re-appointed as a director of E-House (China) Holdings
Limited.

Mr. Li-Lan Cheng (23ZJ®), aged 57, is currently an executive
director of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (2048.HK)
("E-House"), a real estate service provider in China, a position he has
held since 2018. He has also been the acting chief financial officer
of Leju, a subsidiary of E-House, since 2017, and was its executive
director from 2014 to 2017. Mr. Cheng served as the chief operating
officer of E-House (China) Holdings Limited (formerly NYSE: EJ), an
affiliate of E-House, from 2012 to 2018 and its chief financial officer
from 2006 to 2012.

Prior to joining E-House, Mr. Cheng served as the chief financial
officer of SouFun Holdings Limited, an online real estate service
company in China, from 2005 to 2006. From 2002 to 2004, Mr.
Cheng served as an executive director and the chief financial officer
of SOHO China Limited, a real estate developer in Beijing. Mr. Cheng
was an assistant director and the head of the Asian transportation
sector investment banking group of ABN AMRO Asia from 1997
to 2002. From 1995 to 1997, Mr. Cheng was a senior analyst at
the National Economic Research Associates, Inc., an economic and
financial consulting firm in New York. From 1989 to 1991, he was
an investment trainee and analyst at the Prudential Investment
Corporation, the institutional investment subsidiary of the Prudential
Insurance Company of America based in Newark, NJ.
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Mr. Cheng is an independent director and audit committee chairman
of Yunji Inc. (NASDAQ: YJ), a Nasdag-listed social e-commerce
platform in China. He also served as an independent director and on
the audit committee of 51job, Inc. (formerly NASDAQ: JOBS), LAIX Inc.
(formerly NYSE: LAIX), Country Style Cooking Restaurant Chain Co.,
Ltd. (formerly NYSE: CCSC), and Le GAGA Holdings Limited (formerly
NASDAQ: GAGA).

Mr. Cheng received a bachelor’'s degree in Economics from
Swarthmore College and a Ph.D. degree in Economics from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Mr. Cheng is a chartered
financial analyst (CFA).

Dr. Ding Zuyu (T#£), aged 49, is an executive Director of our
Company and chief executive officer of the Group. Dr. Ding is
primarily responsible for overseeing the management and strategic
development of our Group. He received his bachelor’s degree in
real estate business management in July 1998 and his doctorate in
economics in December 2013, both from East China Normal University

(EREHALR).

Between September 2000 and November 2001, he served as
manager of the research and development department of E-House
Management, after which he served as vice president and technology
director of E-House Management until January 2008. He also served
as co-president of CRE Corp from September 2009 to September
2011 and as director from March 2011 to April 2012. Dr. Ding was
the co-president of E-House (China) Holdings from April 2012 to
August 2016. He has been the president of real estate data and
consulting services division of PRC Holdco since July 2006 and chief
executive officer of PRC Holdco since August 2016.
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He serves as a vice principal of the E-House Research and Training
Institute (BEMZTFL). He is also an executive member of the China
Real Estate Association (FBIFEHEZ#E) and served as an adviser
on the real estate market for the China’s Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development (BIZK{EEMMAERIFHE). He was
named as “Shanghai Outstanding Young Merchant” (E&#HE
&) in 2012 and was named one of the “Top Ten Shanghai Young
Economics Figures” (/8 + AR STELEAY) for 2011 to 2012.
Dr. Ding currently also serves as the general manager Beijing CREA

Technology Services Ltd. (At R FE i E TR % A R 2 7).

Dr. Ding was an independent director of Sanxiang Impression Co.,
Ltd (= MENEMDABRAR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange with stock code 00863 from January 2012 until his
resignation in January 2018. Dr. Ding has also been an independent
non-executive director of Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code
1238, since December 2014. Dr. Ding was also an independent
director of Shanghai Chengtou Holdings Co., Ltd. (_E/&¥I&E A
AR AF]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with
stock code 600649, from July 2011 to March 2017.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Jiang Shanshan (¥ H3#t), aged 39, is a non-executive Director.
Ms. Jiang currently serves as investment director at Alibaba Group
Holding Ltd. From 2016 to 2018, Ms. Jiang was an investment
director at Permira Advisers (China) Limited. Between 2010 and 2015,
Ms. Jiang served as vice president at Unitas Capital. She was a senior
associate of strategic consulting at PricewaterhouseCoopers from
2008 to 2010. Ms. Jiang received a master's degree in operational
research and control sciences from Fudan University in 2008.
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Mr. Yang Yong (#E), aged 50, is a non-executive Director. Mr.
Yang holds the professional title of senior economist. Mr. Yang
graduated with a bachelor's degree in economics from Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University (1t A EE S
Efr) in 1995. Since 1995, Mr. Yang has served in several senior
positions at Shanghai Star (Group) Co., Ltd. (-8 E ((2E) BREA
A]), including as a general manager in the investment management
department and a deputy chief economist. Between 2014 and 2019,
Mr. Yang served as a general manager in the strategic investment
department at Shanghai Land (Group) Co., Ltd.. He was a general
manager of Shen Shou Run Investment Management Co., Ltd. from
2019 to 2021. Since 2021, Mr. Yang has served as a general manager
in the investment and development facilitation centre of China Vanke

Co, Ltd. (BRIEEBRMNBR AR LSREREMEBEREES D).

Ms. Xie Mei (#i1§), aged 54, is a non-executive Director. Ms. Xie
has rich management experience. Ms. Xie has been a non-executive
director of Yuzhou Properties Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 1628, since September 2018.
Ms. Xie joined Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited (¥
B (TEM) 1R E R A F]) (“OCT (Asia)”), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 3366, in 2004 and is currently the
executive director and chief executive officer of OCT (Asia). Ms. Xie
is also the assistant to the president of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese
Town Company Limited ORYIZEGBHKHERAF) ("OCT Ltd.”),
the director and general manager of Overseas Chinese Town (HK)
Company Limited (BB EGH AR AR]) (the beneficial owner of
all the issued share capital in Pacific Climax Limited, which is the
controlling shareholder of OCT (Asia)), and the director of Pacific
Climax Limited. Ms. Xie joined Overseas Chinese Town Group Co.,
Ltd. (EEHEREABMRAF) ("OCT Group”) in 1994 and was the
deputy director and director of the strategic development department
of OCT Group. Ms. Xie graduated from the Department of Electrical
Engineering of Xi‘an Jiaotong University and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Engineering in 1989. She also obtained a master’s degree in
Economics from the Renmin University of China in 1999.
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Mr. Lv Peimei (B5M3£), aged 36, is a non-executive Director. Mr.
Lv is the general manager of the investment management centre
of Evergrande and is responsible for the management of the listed
company affairs. Between 2018 and 2020, he acted as an assistant
to the president of Xinjiang Guanghui Group (“Guanghui”), in
which Evergrande held equity interests, and was responsible for the
operation of Guanghui and the management of its supply chain. He
acted as the executive vice general manager of Evergrande Property
Services Group during 2017 and 2018 and was responsible for the
business operation and the establishment of information systems
to promote convenience and efficiency. He acted as the chairman
of Evergrande Lituo Site Preparation Company Limited between
2015 and 2017 and was responsible for the overall operation and
management of the company. He acted as an assistant to the general
manager of the administration and supervision centre of Evergrande
Real Estate Group during 2012 and 2015 and was responsible for
the planning and management of the industrial operation of the
company.

Mr. Lv obtained a Master’s degree in Information Technology from
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2009 and a
Master’s degree in Engineering Management from Tsinghua University
in 2019.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Bang (3R%8), aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee
with effect from 10 July 2018. He is our Director with appropriate
professional accounting or related financial management experience
for the purpose of Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules through his
experiences described below. Additionally, Mr. Zhang is both a
fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and
a chartered global management accountant of the Association of
International Certified Professional Accountants.

Mr. Zhang received his master’'s degree in business administration in
June 2001 from Jinan University in China.

Mr. Zhang is currently the chief corporate officer of Octave (Shanghai)
Enterprise Management Company Limited (FE (H/8) hEEEE
fR27]), having held that position since April 2018. Previously, Mr.
Zhang served as the chief financial officer of DG Group (E£EE%
& E) and Golden Jaguar Group (£#EHEKEE). He was also the
chief financial officer of MecoxLane Co. Ltd. (ZXEMEE), a company
previously listed on the NASDAQ with stock code MCOX, from July
2009 to December 2013. Between April 1994 and June 2009, Mr.
Zhang was the chief financial officer of McDonald’s (China) Company
Limited (B &% (R E) BRAA)).
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Currently, Mr. Zhang holds directorships in the following listed
companies:

o independent director of Jupai, a company which was listed
on NYSE with stock code JP but became delisted during the
Reporting Period and which is held as to 23% by E-House
(China) Holdings (one of our substantial Shareholders) since July
2015; and

o independent non-executive director of Arrail Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 6639
since November 2021.

Mr. Zhu Hongchao (%k#i#), aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the remuneration
committee, and a member of the nomination committee with effect
from 10 July 2018. Mr. Zhu received his bachelor's degree in law
from Fudan University (fE B K2 in 1983 and his master’s degree in
foreign legal studies from Fudan University (8 B X£2) in July 1996.
In 1993, he obtained a Qualification Certificate for the Securities Law
Consulting Business (FEIEAFEEEEZEGNEEFEREBER)
by the CSRC.

Mr. Zhu serves as the head of office and senior partner at Shanghai
United Law Firm, having held that position since 1986. He has
previously served as the vice president and chief supervisor of the
Shanghai Lawyers Association. Mr. Zhu also served as the vice
president of the All-China Lawyers’ Association, and between 2008
and 2018 Mr. Zhu served as a representative member of the 13th
and 14th Shanghai Municipal People's Congress. Mr. Zhu is also
an arbitrator at both the Shanghai Arbitration Commission and the
Shanghai International Arbitration Centre since September 2008 and
May 2015 respectively, and is an accredited mediator of the Shanghai
Commercial Mediation Centre. He has been a part-time professor at
the Lawyer Academy of East China University of Political Science and
Law since September 2012, and part-time supervisor of postgraduates
at Shanghai International Studies University since October 2015.
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Currently, Mr. Zhu holds directorships in the following listed
companies:

o independent director of Jupai, a company which was listed
on NYSE with stock code JP but became delisted during the
Reporting Period and which is held as to 23% by E-House
(China) Holdings (one of our Controlling Shareholders) since July
2015;

o independent director of Leju since March 2017. Leju is a
company listed on NYSE with stock code LEJU and has since
the completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements become a
subsidiary of the Company;

o independent non-executive director of Haitong Securities Co.,
Ltd. (Stock Exchange stock code: 6837, and Shanghai Stock
Exchange stock code: 600837) since June 2019;

o independent director of Shanghai Hysea Industrial
Communications Co., Ltd.* (&84 TEBARMDAER LD A)
(National Equities Exchange and Quotations (NEEQ) stock code:
831305) since July 2020; and

o independent non-executive director of Sansheng Holdings
(Group) Co. Ltd. (Stock Exchange stock code: 2183) since
February 2021.

Mr. Zhu was also an independent non-executive director of E-House
Holdings Limited from 2007 to 2017, an independent non-executive
director of PRC Holdco since 2017, an independent director of
Wonders Information Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange stock code:
300168) from December 2013 to October 2019 and an independent
non-executive director of Chiho Environmental Group Limited (Stock
Exchange stock code: 976) from April 2018 to February 2020.

Mr. Wang Liqun (E1%), aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee,
with effect from 10 July 2018. He received his diploma in economic
management from the University of Shanghai Urban Construction
College in July 1987, and received his bachelor’s degree in economics
in December 1993 from Correspondence Institute of the Party School
of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (FF B2
EhAE EeERKFEER). Mr. Wang obtained the senior economist
certificate issued by the Working Group for the National Reform of
the Professional Ranking System of Shanghai (/8 Ek#EMNE T {E%E
#/\#H) in December 1992.

* English name is for the identification purpose only
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Mr. Wang is the chairman and founder of Stone Capital Co., Ltd., a
private equity fund management company based in China, which he
founded in September 2008. Prior to that, he was the chief executive
officer of Shanghai Bus Corporation from 1992 to 2007, president
of the Shanghai Urban Construction and Investment Corporation
from 1999 to 2001, chairman of the Shanghai Public Transportation
Card Corporation from 1999 to 2004 and chairman of the Shanghai
Modern Rail Transit Corporation from 2000 to 2007.

Mr. Li Jin (Z8)), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the audit committee with effect
from 10 July 2018. Mr. Li received his juris doctor degree in law from
Columbia University in May 1994.

Mr. Li served as the chief financial officer of Inke Limited since March
2018 until his resignation in February 2019. He also served as the
executive director of China Linong International Limited from 2006
to 2013, as the chief financial officer of Sungy Mobile Limited from
July 2013 to August 2014, and as chief financial officer of Baby Space
Corporation from December 2015 to December 2016.

Mr. Li is an independent director of Leju since April 2014. Leju is a
company listed on the NYSE with stock code LEJU and has since the
completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements become a subsidiary
of the Company. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Kingbo Strike Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 1421, since June 2017. He also served as a director of Le GAGA
Holdings Ltd., an agricultural products producer company formerly
listed on NASDAQ with stock code GAGA, from 2006 until it was
delisted in 2014.
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The senior management team of our Group comprises the following
persons:

" Fie B RESREERENBEH
Date of appointment as

Name Age Position senior manager
Bzt 50 BEELE 20183 A16H

Ms. Yan An Chief operating officer 16 March 2018
Azt a1 EE 201843 A16H

Mr. Zhou Liang Chief financial officer 16 March 2018
LAk 48 —FEHERIEREAEE 201853 H16H

Mr. Zong Lei President of the real estate agency 16 March 2018

service in the primary market
SREA L 47 P 4 2 B I v s AR A% SR A5 Mk 2018437316 H

Ms. Zhang Yan

President of real estate data and
consulting services division

16 March 2018
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Ms. Yan An (B %), aged 50, was the president of the Group from
16 March 2018 until her appointment as the chief operating officer
of the Group on 27 March 2019 and is responsible for the overall
management of our Group. Ms. Yan received her master’s degree in
human resources from Renmin University of China (FEIARKZ) in
2010. Since joining our Group in September 2000, Ms. Yan has served
in numerous positions in our Group including as deputy director of
the operations management department of E-House Management
from December 2002 to December 2009; vice president and deputy
operating officer of E-House Management from January 2010 to
December 2011; chief operating officer of E-House Management
from January 2012 to July 2016; vice president and director of the
operations department of E-House (China) Holdings Limited from
August 2016 to January 2018; and deputy general manager and
secretary to the board of directors of E-House Enterprise (China)
Group Co., Ltd. since August 2016.
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Mr. Zhou Liang (%), aged 41, is our chief financial officer and is
responsible for overseeing the overall financial management of our
Group. He received his bachelor’s degree in business administration
from Shanghai Jiaotong University (_F/832 @ AE) in July 2003.

Mr. Zhou Liang has been the chief financial officer of PRC Holdco
since joining our Group in September 2016. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Zhou previously worked at Ernst and Young (&K &&tAi S
T FT) from September 2003 to September 2016 including as a senior
manager and as a partner.

Mr. Zong Lei (3R#), aged 48, was appointed as the president of the
real estate agency service in the primary market of the Group on 27
March 2019 and is responsible for overseeing the Group's real estate
agency services in the primary market. Mr. Zong received an executive
master's degree in business administration from the University of
Toronto in May 2007.

Since joining our business in September 2000, Mr. Zong has served in
numerous positions in our Group including as:

o planning manager of E-House Management from September
2000 to February 2003,

o planning and project director of E-House Management from
February 2003 to January 2007;

o general manager of E-House Management (Shanghai Branch)
from January 2007 to February 2010;

o vice president and general manager of E-House Management
(Wuhan and Changsha Branch) from February 2010 to December
2013,

o vice president and general manager of E-House Management
(Hubei Branch) from January 2014 to December 2014;

o chief executive officer of E-House Management from January
2015 to July 2016; and

o chief operating officer of PRC Holdco from August 2016 to 27
March 2019.
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Ms. Zhang Yan (5&#), aged 47, is the president of the real estate
data and consulting services division and is responsible for overseeing
real estate data and consulting services division of the Group. She
received her master’s degree in law majoring in scientific socialism (%}
S 2@+ %) from the Sichuan Academy of Social Sciences (PUJI1& &
ERERT) in July 1999 and her executive master’s degree in business
administration from China Europe International Business School (FEX
EEP) in August 2017.

Ms. Zhang has over 16 years of experience in the real estate industry,
beginning in September 1999 as senior real estate editor for Shenzhen
Special Zone Newspaper ((RII%R ) FEESERGFEE), a position
she remained in until September 2001. From May 2001 to January
2005, she was executive deputy editor of the Pioneer Weekly (%c§%e
& EH)) at Chengdu Economic Daily € X EBER)).

She joined our business in February 2006, she served as director of
the promotion centre from February 2006 to December 2010, with
responsibility for the integration and promotion of our operations
and brand. She also served as the general manager, vice president
and president of our Northern-China division for real estate data and
consulting services business from 2008 to 2016. Ms. Zhang has been
an executive president of PRC Holdco since August 2016, primarily
responsible for the real estate data and consulting services business.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Zhou Liang (%) is our chief financial officer and joint company
secretary. Please see his biography in the part headed “Senior
Management”.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit (E8#2#t) was appointed on 12 June 2018 as
our joint company secretary.

Mr. Cheng is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional services provider
specialising in corporate services, and has over 9 years of experience
in corporate secretarial field. He is an associate member of both
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. In addition, he holds
a bachelor of commerce degree in finance from the University of
Queensland, Australia.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of the Directors of the Company are set out below:

1. Mr. Zhang Hai resigned as a non-executive Director effective
from 1 April 2022.

2. Mr. Yang Yong was appointed as a non-executive Director
effective from 1 April 2022.

3. Mr. Tang Xing resigned as a non-executive Director effective
from 5 July 2022.

4. Ms. Jiang Shanshan was appointed as a non-executive Director
effective from 5 July 2022.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2021 and as at the date of this annual report, there has
been no change to the information of the Directors which is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board of the Company is pleased to present this Report of the
Directors with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 February
2010 as an exempted limited liability company under the Companies
Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961) of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies
Law”). The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 20 July 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal business of the Company’s subsidiaries is providing real
estate transaction services in China, including real estate agency
services in the primary market, real estate brokerage network services
and real estate data and consulting services.

The analysis of the Group's revenues and contribution to results by
business segments and the Group’s revenues by geographical area
of operations are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance,
an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
and the Group’s key relationships with its stakeholders who have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s success
depends, is set out in the Business Review and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 19 of this annual report. All the
review, discussions and analysis mentioned above form part of this
Directors’ report. Events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of the financial year is set out under “Important Events
after Reporting Period” in this Directors’ report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with relevant
laws and regulations and relationships with employees are also
discussed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 119 to page 120 of this annual
report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the condensed consolidated results and financial
positions of the Group is set out on page 121 to page 122 of this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Customers

Our customers are mainly real estate developers in China, from whom
we have historically derived a significant majority of our revenue.
Our customers also include banks, investors and government that
use our real estate data and consulting services, as well as real estate
brokerage firms and their customers that use our services provided at
the E-House Real Estate Transaction Service Centres.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, we generated revenue of
RMB676.1 million (2020: RMB1,321.1 million) from our single largest
customer, Vanke (2020: Evergrande), representing 7.6% (2020:
16.4%) of our total revenue during the Reporting Period. During the
same period, we generated revenue of RMB483.0 million, RMB386.0
million, RMB152.5 million and RMB130.5 million, respectively, from
our second to fifth largest customers, representing 5.5%, 4.4%,
1.7% and 1.5% of our total revenue. All of our top five customers
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are real estate developers
in China.
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Some of our major customers are our Shareholders. Other than
Evergrande, Vanke, which are our Shareholders each holding 9.82%
of our Shares, none of our Directors, their respective close associates,
or any Shareholder who, to the knowledge of our Directors, own
more than 5% of our issued capital, had any interest in any of our
five largest customers during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Suppliers

During the year ended 31 December 2021 our largest suppliers were
labour dispatch agencies as some of our PRC subsidiaries historically
used a significant number of dispatched employees for their principal
business activities.

Apart from labour dispatch agencies, our suppliers also include,
among others, office space providers, renovation service providers,
advertising companies, as well as real estate brokerage firms that
assist us in the selling of real estate units in the primary market.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the purchases we made
from the single largest supplier was RMB281.8 million (2020:
RMB146.7 million), representing 2.64% (2020: 2.19%) of our total
purchases in each corresponding period. During the same period, the
purchases we made from the second to fifth largest suppliers was
RMB121.7 million, RMB112.2 million, RMB81.2 million and RMB64.2
million, representing 1.14%, 1.05%, 0.76% and 0.60% of our total
purchases. During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of our
suppliers was also our major customer.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares had any interest in the
Group's five largest suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company is committed to maintaining a good relationship with
stakeholders that have a significant impact on the Company and on
which the Company’s success depends. Further details are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Details
of such are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of
the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our business involves certain risks as set out in the section headed
“Risk Factors” in the Prospectus and the risk factors as set out under
the section headed “Leju Contractual Arrangements” in this Report of
the Directors. The following list is a summary of certain principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are beyond its
control.

o Our business is susceptible to fluctuations in the real estate
market of China, which may materially and adversely affect our
revenues and results of operations.

o Our business may be materially and adversely affected by
government measures aimed at China’s real estate industry.

o We generate a substantial portion of revenue from a
concentrated number of real estate developers.

o Our real estate brokerage network services have a limited
operating history and are provided under a new business model.

o If we cannot manage our growth effectively and efficiently, our
results of operations or profitability could be adversely affected.

o We may lose our competitive advantage if we fail to obtain and
maintain accurate, comprehensive and reliable data in our CRIC
Systems or prevent disruptions or failure in the performance of
our CRIC Systems.
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We have significant balances of trade receivables and customer
deposits, which increase our credit risks and could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations.

Certain of our subsidiaries are held through Contractual
Arrangements, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership and has other legal and operational risks.

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our advertising services business
and real estate online business in China do not comply with
PRC governmental restrictions on foreign investment in the
advertising industry or the internet information service industry,
we could be subject to severe penalties.

We rely on contractual arrangements with Beijing Leju, Shanghai
Yi Xin and Beijing Jiajujiu and their respective shareholders for
a portion of our operations, which may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing operational control.

The shareholders of our consolidated variable interest entities
may have potential conflicts of interest with us, and if any such
conflicts of interest are not resolved in our favor, our business
may be materially and adversely affected.

Our ability to enforce the equity pledge agreements between us
and the shareholders of Beijing Leju, Shanghai Yi Xin or Beijing
Jiajujiu may be subject to limitations based on PRC laws and
regulations.

Contractual arrangements we have entered into with Beijing
Leju, Shanghai Yi Xin and Beijing lJiajujiu may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and a finding that we, Beijing
Leju, Shanghai Yi Xin or Beijing lJiajujiu owe additional taxes
could reduce our net income and the value of your investment.

Substantial uncertainties exist with the PRC foreign investment
legal regime and may have a significant impact on our corporate
structure and business operations.
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USE OF PROCEEDS BROUGHT FORWARD
FROM PREVIOUS FINANCIAL YEARS

Use of Proceeds from Issue of USD-Denominated
Senior Notes Due 2022

On 10 October 2019 and 7 August 2020, the Company entered
into purchase agreements with various financial institutions in
connection with the issue of USD-denominated senior notes due
2022 in the principal amount of US$200 million and US$100
million, respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had used around
RMB1,929.9 million for general corporate purposes and
refinancing existing indebtedness. All proceeds from the 2022
Notes have been fully utilized in accordance with the purposes
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 8 October
2019 and 7 August 2020.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 8 October 2019, 10 October 2019, 7 August
2020 and 14 August 2020.

Use of Proceeds from Subscription

On 31 July 2020, the Company entered into the Share
Subscription Agreement with Taobao China, pursuant to which
Taobao China conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total of
118,300,000 subscription shares at the subscription price of
HK$7.00 per subscription share for a total subscription amount
of HK$828,100,000.
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The gross proceeds from the subscription amount to
HK$828,100,000. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had used
HK$203.0 million for general corporate purposes. The Company
intends to apply the net proceeds from the subscription (after
deduction of legal, professional and other costs and expenses
associated with the Subscription) towards the Group’s general
working capital and to expand its existing businesses, or for
other purposes considered appropriate by the Directors from
time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the proceeds may not
be used to pre-pay any debt, borrowings or indebtedness of the
Group with a principal amount of more than RMB10 million. The
Company expects to fully utilise the proceeds within two years.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 July 2020.

Use of Proceeds from Issuance of Convertible Note

On 31 July 2020, the Company entered a subscription
agreement with Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited (the “Alibaba
Noteholder”), pursuant to which the Alibaba Noteholder
conditionally agreed to subscribe for the convertible note in the
principal amount of HK$1,031,900,000.

The gross proceeds from the note issuance amounted to
HK$1,031,900,000. As at 31 December 2021, the Group
had used HK$280.6 million for general corporate purposes.
The Company intends to apply the net proceeds for the note
issuance (after deduction of legal, professional and other costs
and expenses associated with the note issuance) towards the
Group’s general working capital and to expand its existing
businesses, or for other purposes considered appropriate by the
Directors from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the
proceeds may not be used to pre-pay any debt, borrowings or
indebtedness of the Group with a principal amount of more
than RMB10 million. The Company expects to fully utilise all the
proceeds within two years.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 July 2020.
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4. Use of Proceeds from lIssue of USD-Denominated
Senior Notes Due 2023

On 3 December 2020 and 2 June 2021, the Company, Fangyou
Information Technology and Hong Kong Fangyou Software
Technology Co. Ltd. entered into a purchase agreement with
various financial institutions in connection with the issue of USD-
denominated notes due 2023 in the principal amount of US$200
million and US$100 million respectively (the “2023 Notes”).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had used around
RMB1,306.3 million for refinancing existing indebtedness.

The utilised proceeds as described above were in accordance
with the purposes set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 3 December 2020 and 2 June 2021 (the “2023
Notes Announcements”). There was no change in the intended
use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the 2023 Notes
Announcements. The remaining balance of the net proceeds
(approximately US$100 million, equivalent to RMB651.2 million)
was placed with banks. The Group will gradually apply the
remaining net proceeds in the manner set out in the 2023 Notes
Announcements. The Company may adjust its development plans
in response to changing market conditions and, thus, reallocate
the use of the proceeds.

The Company expects to fully utilise the proceeds within 1 year.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 3 December 2020, 11 December 2020, 3 June
2021 and 11 June 2021 and the offering memoranda published
by the Company on 11 December 2020 and 15 June 2021.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to RMB1,303.4 million (2020: RMB14,078.3 million).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 123 to 124 and
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 19A to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group made charitable
donations of approximately RMB3,524,377.01 (2020: RMB174.079.0).

DEBENTURE ISSUED DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 3 December 2020, the Company, Fangyou and Hong Kong
Fangyou entered into a purchase agreement with various financial
institutions in relation to the issue of USD-denominated senior notes
due 2023 in the principal amount of US$200 million (the “2023
Notes”). The 2023 Notes are listed on the Stock Exchange. For
further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 3 December 2020 and 11 December 2020.

On 2 June 2021, the Company and certain of its non-PRC subsidiaries
entered into a purchase agreement with various financial institutions
in relation to the issue of additional USD-denominated senior notes
due 2023 in the principal amount of US$100 million (the “Additional
Notes"”) which are consolidated into and form a single series with the
2023 Notes. The Additional Notes are listed on the Stock Exchange.
For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 3 June 2021, 11 June 2021 and 15 June 2021.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Detail

s of movements in the property and equipment of the Group

during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save
in thi

as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Schemes”
s Report of the Directors, no equity-linked agreements were

entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIR

The |

ECTORS

ist of Directors who held office during the year ended 31

December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Xin (Chairman)

Mr. H

uang Canhao

Dr. Cheng Li-Lan

Dr. Di

Non-

Mr. Li

ng Zuyu (Chief Executive Officer)

Executive Directors

Silong (resigned on 2 September 2021)1

Mr. Tang Xing (appointed on 2 September 2021
and resigned on 5 July 2022)?
Mr. Zhang Hai (resigned on 1 April 2022)®

Ms. Ji
Mr. Y

ang Shanshan (appointed on 5 July 2022)
ang Yong (appointed on 1 April 2022)

Ms. Xie Mei

Mr. H

uang Haojun (resigned on 2 September 2021)%

Mr. Lv Peimei (appointed on 2 September 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Bang
Mr. Zhu Hongchao
Mr. Wang Liqun
Mr. Li Jin

Notes:

Mr. Li Silong resigned as a non-executive Director due to his other
business engagements which require more of his dedication.

Mr. Tang Xing resigned as a non-executive Director due to his other
business engagements which require more of his dedication.

Mr. Zhang Hai resigned as a non-executive Director due to his other
business engagements which require more of his dedication.

Mr. Huang Haojun resigned as a non-executive Director due to his other
business engagements which require more of his dedication.
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In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association, at
every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Direction shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he
retires and shall be eligible for re-election there at.

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company are set out in the circular to the Shareholders
together with this annual report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their
duty in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The Company has taken out liability
insurance to provide appropriate coverage for the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a period of three years, subject to renewal
after the expiry of the then current term.

Each of the non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for a period of three years, subject to renewal
after the expiry of the then current term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a period of three years, subject
to renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

45



46

EEEgHS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

-

BRAAREERRAFAEEEEINE
EMERANEEITAKBRAFAEAEET
SATERE CRERERIN) AR TR —F AR
LERIRIBAH]

EFNEARS  RHY

KRAEFeRE[HERS | —SMEESE
Gh 0 BE2021F12A31MBIEFEERFR
BEEFYHESAHENTNEEEER
FERARAR - Qs EEMHER
AIZARMB AR YMNENEARS
THRA KPR EAELS °

EEEHN

HZE2021F 128318 IEFE » ARQRWE
AN FEEEARREENE IR TAE
EHN 2 ERERITHAL °

BEZERKRRITLNELN

BRAFWMPTHEESI - BZE2021512 A31
HBIEFE » ARRIRETMKEA R ER
R RS HETAMBAR L AMERE
HREBARBEEL -

%%Wﬂ%ﬂiﬁﬁ%%%ﬂ@

BRAFWMPTHEESI - HZE2021512 A31
Bt FEEMAER  AQRKEERKMBEA
A RRWNBARSEER AR ET T
2B AEE BRI B B AN A Al sk ] H b
EANBBZRDNEREMENRZ - B
BERRERBR TR TR EERE
/NS RS GRS YN &N A =6 )
HYEITER BER -

SE(PE)EXRERARRIA —T-—FERS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
members of the Group that is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions”
of this Report of the Directors, none of the Directors nor any entity
connected with the Directors had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at
the end of the year ended 31 December 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance or
contract of significance for the provision of services has been entered
into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its holdings companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their
spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate,
or had exercised any such right.
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DIRECTORS'
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

Save and except for the interests of our Controlling Shareholders in
our Company and its subsidiaries, during the year ended 31 December
2021, neither our Controlling Shareholders nor any of our Directors
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of our Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
our business, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which (a) were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to
therein; or (b) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

EBRBE FRELEILO

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage
Name of Director Capacity shares of holding™
B e R LERER S BanEEA 413,073,499(L) 23.617%
Mr. Zhou Xin®@ Interest in controlled corporations/Beneficial owner
HmEERES BmBEAA 9,600,000(L) 0.549%
Mr. Huang Canhao® Beneficial owner
THERES BmBEAA 9,600,000(L) 0.549%
Mr. Ding Zuyu® Beneficial owner
BIREES BHBEAA 1,446,000(L) 0.083%
Mr. Cheng Li-Lan® Beneficial owner
B E=mBEBA 2,400,000(L) 0.137%
Ms. Yan An® Beneficial owner
IEERP e BmBEAA 2,400,000(L) 0.137%

Mr. Zhou Liang® Beneficial owner

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

47



48

EEEgHS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

-

it -

(1) FEFER2021F12A31 B BITEK
1,749,059,530 &A% 17 °

(2) 413,073,499 BH D RIEFREERFEES
- SE (R E) %R - On Chance &Regal
Ace$574228,920,0000% + 146,918,440
fi% ~ 20,000,0000% % 2,775,059/% - I B £
EREBEE XA AMBENERETSELNE
[REBEITEEN TEEITAI 14,460,000 % %
e -hEEEEEEEASE (bEH)IER
ET2ENBAR 28 (FB)ERAS
EERET2EMBAR - BEEBKAEON
Chance * Jun Heng A% 4+54633.13% -
14.65% }252.22%H) % #E ° Jun HengHiOn
Chance2& %% * MOn ChancemE%L4E
2E%A - Regal AceHRAXLEZEEE -
FEEERBEERFE#228,920,000% %
HERTLEHERERRBRITRMOARAR
([HERIT]) - ERBERTETSE (R
B)EREHERRMBNERD - BH#E—
FHE - B2HARRAYA2018F9A6
AR -

(3)  ZERMNEREERAMEEABERETE
R BRI T RRIR S T RATEVRAD o

(4) FEILRFZBALREOGHNFR CE
HEABRHFRARGHIEXVER)

br EXFTIEERE SN - BR2021F12A31H -
BEEZIARAEZSITHRAERERRR
HAMMBEEE (& RLESRPEENSE
XVER) BIR% (D ~ AR R EREFEAIR
BEERPEEGEIS2EARRFEENE
MM EE M ERAR - HARIE (RS
BV AE AR R R AT S sA R o

SERZIRp RRwR

M2021F128318  EERESTHAR
(ERZEREAFRAEE) RIMIATHRE
RRIRH RABERDFHEERRAIRIEES
REEGRAIE3cEREFEMNELMARTHZ
RERFKBIAT

Iff

ZE(FE)CEZRERAT —T-—FE#H

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,749,059,530 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2021.

(2) 413,073,499 Shares are held as to 228,920,000 Shares by CRE Corp,
146,918,440 Shares by E-House (China) Holdings, 20,000,000 Shares
by On Chance and 2,775,059 Shares by Regal Ace, respectively, and
including 14,460,000 Shares to be issued upon exercise of options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. CRE Corp is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of E-House (China) Holdings, itself a wholly-owned
subsidiary of E-House Holdings. E-House Holdings is held as to 33.13%
by On Chance, 14.65% by Jun Heng, and 52.22% by Mr. Zhou. Jun
Heng is wholly-owned by On Chance, which is in turn wholly-owned by
Mr. Zhou. Regal Ace is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou. The 228,920,000
Shares held by CRE Corp were pledged in favour of Shanghai Pudong
Development Bank Co., Ltd. (“SPD Bank") as security for a term loan
facility granted by SPD Bank to E-House (China) Holdings. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 6 September 2018 for further
details.

(3)  These Shares represent the Shares to be issued upon exercise of options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

(4)  The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company has any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model
Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the persons other than the Directors and
chief executives, whose interests have been disclosed in this annual
report, had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as
follows:



(i) RAEQFNER

(i) Interest in our Company

RERERE 37 LEREE FRELEILO
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares of holding™
TERFEERER? ERfEAA 228,920,000(L) 13.088%
CRE Corp®? Beneficial owner
HIE (R E) K2 REHEERER S ERfEEA 375,838,440(L) 21.488%
E-House (China) Holdings®? Interest of controlled corporations/
Beneficial owner
PHIEFERS Ry EEER 375,838,440(L) 21.488%
E-House Holdings® Interest of controlled corporations
Pl B B B R @ REHEE RS 245,096,197(L) 14.013%
Alibaba Holding® Interest of controlled corporations
WETREERERAR BERfEAA 145,588,000(L) 8.324%
Taobao China Holding Limited® Beneficial owner
Taobao Holding Limited® G EE RS 145,588,000(L) 8.324%
Taobao Holding Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
MEBEEEBERRAA EnfAA 99,508,197(L) 5.689%
Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited® Beneficial owner
Alibaba.com Investment Holding Limited® SYEGIAE RS 99,508,197(L) 5.689%
Alibaba.com Investment Holding Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
MEREEEERAR® R EE R 99,508,197(L) 5.689%
Alibaba.com Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
LEERARAFO EREEA 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Jovial Idea Developments Limited® Beneficial owner
RERFERDA® R EE R 171,690,000(L) 9.816%

Central Sino Global Limited®

Interest of controlled corporations
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REERE 37 ZERYE BEREAFILO
Number of Approximate

ordinary percentage

Name of Shareholder Capacity shares of holding™

REZEBRERLFO Rt EEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Tianji Holding Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
BAMESEERARFS Rt EEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Hengda Real Estate Interest of controlled corporations

Group Company Limited®
BMTEEEXERARS Rt EEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Guangzhou Kailong Real Estate Interest of controlled corporations

Company Limited®
BMTHEEEXERARFS Rt EEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Interest of controlled corporations

Company Limited®
ZEBVIAR AR Rt EEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Anji (BVI) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
(EWNG! Rt EEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Evergrande® Interest of controlled corporations
Xin Xin (BVI) Limited® Rt EEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Xin Xin (BVI) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
HRDFEES Rt EE R 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Mr. Hui Ka Yan® Interest of controlled corporations
Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited® SR 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
Climax Fame (BVI) Limited® Rt EE R 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Climax Fame (BVI) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
Brlem (B8 ARAA® Rt EE RS 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Vanke Finance (Hong Kong) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
BHEX (HE)BRLF® Rt EE RS 171,690,000(L) 9.816%

Vanke Property (Hong Kong) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations

50 ZSE(FEH)CEZERERAT —T-—SEHE
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REERE 37 ZERYE BEREAFILO
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares of holding™
FEBMEERRA RyEhhEEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Shanghai Vanke Real Estate Interest of controlled corporations
Company Limited®
PEEBHREEEAER LA RyEhhEEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Shanghai Vanke Investment and Interest of controlled corporations
Management Company Limited®
Bre RyEhhEEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Vanke® Interest of controlled corporations
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Notes:

)

2)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,749,059,530 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2021.

CRE Corp is a wholly-owned subsidiary of E-House (China) Holdings,
itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of E-House Holdings. E-House Holdings
is held as to 33.13% by On Chance, 14.65% by Jun Heng, and 52.22%
by Mr. Zhou. Jun Heng is wholly-owned by On Chance which is in turn
wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou. The 228,920,000 Shares held by CRE Corp
were pledged in favour of SPD Bank as security for a term loan facility
granted by SPD Bank to E-House (China) Holdings. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 September 2018 for further
details.

375,838,440 Shares are held as to 228,920,000 Shares by CRE Corp and
146,918,440 Shares by E-House (China) Holdings. CRE Corp is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of E-House (China) Holdings, itself a wholly-owned
subsidiary of E-House Holdings. E-House Holdings is held as to 33.13%
by On Chance, 14.65% by Jun Heng, and 52.22% by Mr. Zhou. Jun
Heng is wholly-owned by On Chance which is in turn wholly-owned by
Mr. Zhou.
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(4) 145,588,000 Shares are held by Taobao China Holding Limited and
99,508,197 underlying Shares pursuant to the Convertible Notes are
held by Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited. Taobao China Holding Limited
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Taobao Holding Limited, which is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Alibaba Holding. Alibaba.com Hong Kong
Limited is wholly-owned by Alibaba.com Investment Holding Limited,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Alibaba.com Limited. Alibaba.com
Limited is 80.02% held by Alibaba Holding.

(5)  Jovial Idea Developments Limited is wholly-owned by Central Sino Global
Limited (FEEBIRAMRAF), which is in turn wholly-owned by Tianji
Holding Limited (REIZAXARARF]). Tianji Holding Limited is wholly-
owned by Hengda Real Estate Group Company Limited ([E XM ESE
BR7AA]), which is owned as to 63.46% by Guangzhou Kailong Real
Estate Company Limited (EMmElEEZAFR AR, which is in turn
wholly-owned by Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Company Limited (/M
MHBEYEEAMR A A]). Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Company Limited is
wholly-owned by Anji (BVI) Limited (ZZBVIFBR A A]), which is wholly-
owned by Evergrande. Evergrande is held as to 70.30% by Xin Xin
(BVI) Limited, itself is wholly-owned by Mr. Hui Ka Yan. Hence, Central
Sino Global Limited, Tianji Holding Limited, Hengda Real Estate Group
Company Limited, Guangzhou Kailong Real Estate Company Limited,
Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Company Limited, Anji (BVI) Limited,
Evergrande, Xin Xin (BVI) Limited and Mr. Hui Ka Yan are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Jovial Idea Developments Limited.

(6)  Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited is wholly-owned by Climax Fame (BVI)
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Vanke Finance (Hong Kong)
Limited. Vanke Finance (Hong Kong) Limited is wholly-owned by Vanke
Property (Hong Kong) Company Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned
by Shanghai Vanke Enterprise Company Limited (H8BRIMEER A
A]). Shanghai Vanke Enterprise Company Limited is wholly-owned by
Shanghai Vanke Investment and Management Company Limited (k£
BERHEEEE AR AR, which is in turn wholly-owned by Vanke.
Hence, Climax Fame (BVI) Limited, Vanke Finance (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, Vanke Property (Hong Kong) Company Limited, Shanghai
Vanke Enterprise Company Limited, Shanghai Vanke Investment and
Management Company Limited and Vanke are deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited.

(7)  The letter "L"” denotes the person’s long position (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2021, no person, other
than the Directors and chief executives whose interests are set out in
this annual report, had any interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, the Company has established the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
to formulate remuneration policies. The remuneration is
determined and recommended based on each Director’s and senior
management personnel’s qualification, position and seniority. As
for the independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration
is determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. The Directors and the senior management
personnel are eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, details of which are set out in
the Prospectus and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and
the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 13A and note 13B,
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
1. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
Purpose

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
selected participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in our Company and to encourage the selected
participants to work towards enhancing the value of our
Company and our Shares for the benefit of our Company and
our Shareholders as a whole. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
will provide our Company with a flexible means of retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to the selected participants.
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Eligible Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director (including executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor,
customer, supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture
business partner or service provider of any member of the Group
or any affiliate who the Board or its delegate(s) considers, in
its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the
Group, may be granted options to subscribe for Shares.

Maximum Number of Shares

The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time
shall not exceed 91,568,000 Shares.

As at 31 December 2021, outstanding options representing
81,528,400 underlying Shares were granted to eligible
participants pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of this annual report, options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 77,695,600 Shares were outstanding, representing
approximately 4.4% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this annual report.

No further option could be granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

Period of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was in force from 20 April
2018, the date on which the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was
adopted, until 1 July 2018, both dates inclusive.

Consideration

A nominal consideration of RMB1.00 is payable upon acceptance
of the grant of an option.

Option Period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by our Directors to each grantee, which
shall end not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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Exercise Price

The exercise price per Share under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is HK$10.37 per Share.

Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out

in the Prospectus and note 33 to the financial statements.

Details of the movements of the options granted under the Pre-

IPO Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December

2021 are as follows and in note 33 to the financial statements:

BREHA
Number of options
R0211E R0211E
BHREREA 1818 BERE BEEH NANA
Ehgts BB RiiAH BRENE i3 BRI B /&M GESHd
Cancelled/
Outstanding Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
asat  duringthe  during the asat31
Name or category Exercise 1January  Reporting  Reporting  December
of option holders  Position Date of grant Option period price 2021 Period Period 2021
AAREE
Directors of the Company
Elipid ATEERIR 2018547218 RTBHRI0E 10378 14,460,000 - - 14,460,000
Mr. Zhou Xin Executive Director & 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant HK$10.37
Chairman
EERE ATERRELR 2018547218 RTBHLI0E 103747 9,600,000 - - 9,600,000
Mr. Huang Canhao ~ Executive Director & 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant HK$10.37
Vice Chairman
TEERL AMEERERAGE  2018F4ANE RTBHLI0E 103747 9,600,000 - - 9,600,000
Dr. Ding Zuyu Executive Director & 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant HK$1037
Chief Executive Officer
BuUREL HiTE% 2018544218 RYREEI0E 10377 1,446,000 - - 1,446,000
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan  Executive Director 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant HK$1037
EfER AR 2018544218 RYREEI0E 10378 52,469,200 - 6046800 46,422,400
Other grantees in aggregate 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant HK$1037
@it 87,575,200 - 6,046,800 81,528,400
Total
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Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to the
written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 4 July 2018.

Purpose

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
eligible persons to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in our Company and
to encourage the eligible person to work towards enhancing
the value of our Company and our Shares for the benefit
of our Company and Shareholders as a whole. The Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme will provide our Company with a flexible
means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to eligible persons.

Eligible Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director, officer, consultant,
advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent,
business partner, joint venture business partner or service
provider of any member of our Group or any of our Group's
affiliates whom the Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to our
Group is entitled to be offered and granted options.

Maximum Number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Company is
146,743,600, being no more than 10% of the Shares in issue on
the Listing Date (the “Option Scheme Mandate Limit").

As at 31 December 2021, no options had been granted, agreed
to be granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed pursuant to the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and therefore the total number
of Shares available for grant under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme was 146,743,600 Shares (representing approximately
8.39% of the number of issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report).
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The Option Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed at any
time subject to prior approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules from time to time. However, the Option Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed cannot exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of such approval. Options previously granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those
outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with its terms or
exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the refreshed Option Scheme Mandate Limit.

Remaining Life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for the period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date
(after which no further options shall be offered or granted).
The remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is
approximately 6.5 years.

Limit of Each Participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
and to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of our Company to
each eligible person (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue.

Consideration

A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable within 20 business days
from the date of grant of an option.

Option Period

An option may, subject to the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the terms and conditions upon which such option is
granted, be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee giving
notice in writing to our Company in such form as our Board may
from time to time determine stating that the option is thereby
exercised and the number of Shares in respect of which it is
exercised.
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Exercise Price

Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the participants
may subscribe for the Shares on the exercise of an option at the
price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at least
the highest of (a) the closing price of a Share as stated in the
daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant; (b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(c) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged in certain
transactions with the following persons that constituted connected
transactions under the Listing Rules.

1. Mr. Zhou is considered a “connected person” under the
Listing Rules by virtue of him being an executive Director and a
substantial shareholder holding 23.617% of the issued Shares.
Pursuant to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules, any transactions
between the Company and Mr. Zhou are considered as
connected transactions.

2. Leju was considered a “connected person” under the Listing
Rules by virtue of it being an associate of E-House (China)
Holdings, one of our substantial shareholders. Pursuant to Rule
14A.04(1) of the Listing Rules, any transactions between the
Company and Leju were considered as connected transactions.
Following completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements, Leju
became a subsidiary of the Company in November 2020.

3.  TED is considered a “connected person” under the Listing
Rules by virtue of it being an associate of CRE Corp, one of
our substantial Shareholders. Pursuant to Rule 14A.04(1) of the
Listing Rules, any transactions between the Company and TED
are considered as connected transactions.

4. SINA and Tencent are each a “connected person” at the
subsidiary level according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions

On 27 April 2021, Shanghai Ziyong (as buyer) and Tianji
Development and Tianji Management (as sellers) entered
into a transfer agreement (the “Tianji Network Transfer
Agreement”), pursuant to which Shanghai Ziyong agreed to
acquire the entire equity interests of Tianji Network from Tianji
Development and Tianji Management for a consideration of

RMB300,000,000.

The consideration comprised of (a) the assignment of
the existing debts of Tianji Network in the amount of
RMB238,325,400 to Shanghai Ziyong, and (b) RMB43,172,200
payable in cash for the 70% equity interest held by Tianji
Development and RMB18,502,400 payable in cash for the 30%
interest held by Tianji Management. It was arrived at after arm’s
length negotiation between the parties with reference to (i)
the valuation conducted by an independent third party valuer
in relation to the research and development costs incurred
to develop the online tools and platform developed by Tianji
Network, (ii) functionality and potential user market of the
online tools and platform developed by Tianji Network, and
(iii) potential synergy to be achieved for the Group to be able
to incorporate these tools and platforms into its operations to
enhance its online real estate transaction services.

The acquisition was completed on 30 May 2021. For further
details of the Tianji Network Transfer Agreement, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 27 April 2021 and
13 May 2021.

On 28 April 2021, the Company and Alibaba Investment
Limited (“Alibaba Investment”) entered into an acquisition
agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
and to procure Fangyou to receive (as transferee), and Alibaba
Investment agreed to sell, an 85% equity interest in TM Home
Limited (the “JV") for a consideration of HK$1,860 million (the
“JV Acquisition Agreement”), which shall be settled by way of
the allotment and issue of 248,000,000 consideration shares by
the Company to Alibaba Investment.

The JV Acquisition Agreement was terminated on 1 September
2021, and the rights and obligations of the parties under such
agreements have ceased to have effect. For further details of
the JV Acquisition Agreement, related updates and termination,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28
April 2021, 20 May 2021, 2 July 2021, 2 August 2021 and 1
September 2021.
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BERERS CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

TERAEARNEERREHENFERER Set out below is a table in relation to continuing connected

5 BRE(THIDRARTERRLGES transactions of the Group during the Reporting Period and are

BAFSRR I ER o required under the Listing Rules to be disclosed in the annual report
and consolidated financial statements of the Company.

202183 2021 B

FELR RBEHE
(AR¥BEBR) (AR®EER)
Proposed Actual
Annual Cap Transaction
in 2021 Amount in 2021
BEBERS Continuing Connected Transactions (RMB'Million)  (RMB’Million)
NEEHERR Qiushi Building Lease Agreement 46 46
DL G IR P A G sub-lease of office premises from Yike Network
LENEEHEERS Leju-Qiushi Building Lease Agreement 4 4
DG MBI QG sub-lease of office premises from Yike Network
XREHERZE Wenwu Building Lease Agreement 23 3
ENSHEYNE SoRiE /N 31 sub-lease of office premises to Shanghai Tianji
AETEREERDGZE TED Event Services Framework Agreement 15 -
ANiEREBE QTR TED and its associates to provide the Group with event
REERWEB MR ERS and exhibition services
VEMREERERS Leju-SINA Continuing Connected Transactions NA® 65
FEAO
RN ESFEHERRE Advertising Inventory Sale Agency with SINA NA® 65
FEAO
FORME A AR Domain Name and Content License with SINA NA®M =
FEAO
FORBEIRETAI Trademark License with SINA NA® =
FEAO
ORI BT O] R A5 IR Software Licence and Support Services with SINA NA®M =
FEAO
R RE SINA Registration Rights NA® =
FEAO
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FELR REEHE

(AR¥BER) (AR¥EER)

Proposed Actual

Annual Cap Transaction

in 2021 Amount in 2021

BEBERS Continuing Connected Transactions (RMB'Million)  (RMB’Million)

LERANSEBERS Leju-Tencent Continuing Connected Transactions NA® 121
R@ERA®

A E SRR Advertising Agency with Tencent NA® 121
R@ERA®

BaREE S Tencent Investor Rights NA® -
R@ERA®

LEFEERSERERS Leju-E-House Holdings Continuing Connected NA®M 9
Transactions TERO

R F Master Transaction Agreement NA® NA

R@ERA® FEAR

RINBE R TS ik Offshore Transitional Services Agreement NA® -
R@ERA®

BNBE RS & Onshore Transitional Services Agreement NA® 9
FERA®

BRI Non-competition Agreement NA®M NA

F@ERA® FEAR

BEEOTH Leju Contractual Arrangements NA® -
FERA®

Kzt Note:

(1) HE2021F12A31BILEFE - ZS5HmE (1)
BEELR - ZEHBETHORZIRBA
[EFE LROFERERS] -

BN TXBRARBENBERERS » %
EXGEBTHR  FEERRDERTE
BERECETRADE1AAZTE T B L RRH

ERVRRIE ©

Cap”.

There is no annual cap for these agreements for the year ended 31
December 2021. Transactions under these agreements are collectively
referred to as “Continuing Connected Transactions with no Annual

We set out below a summary of the continuing connected transactions
for our Group, which are subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcements but are exempt from independent Shareholders’

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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1.

Lease of office premises from associates of Mr. Zhou

(a) Qiushi Building Lease Agreement

On 29 December 2020, the PRC Holdco (a subsidiary of the
Company) entered into a property leasing agreement (the
"Qiushi Building Lease Agreement”) with Yike Network
(an associate of Mr. Zhou). Pursuant to the Qiushi Building
Lease Agreement, Yike Network sub-leased to the PRC
Holdco the premises at Level 1-12, Qiushi Building, 149
Yanchang Road, Zhabei District, Shanghai, PRC (“Qiushi
Building”), with a total gross floor area of approximately
18,000 square meters for use as offices of the Group.

The Qiushi Building Lease Agreement had a term of one
year from 1 January 2021 on 31 December 2021.

Reasons for the transactions

Historically, Yike Network had sub-leased premises of the
Qiushi Building to the PRC Holdco, including for the years
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2020 under the
terms of the Property Leasing Framework Agreement. The
sub-lease enables our Group to secure a good location for
some of our offices at a fair market price. The continuation
of these arrangements will avoid unnecessary disruptions
and costs to our business that might be caused by
relocation, and will ensure continuity of our operations.

Pricing policy

The rent is RMB165 per square meter per month, excluding
management fees, maintenance fees and other utilities
charges.

The annual rent under the Qiushi Building Lease
Agreement was determined based on the parties’ arm’s
length negotiations with reference to the actual rents
charged by Yike Network, and the prevailing market rental
guotations of similar grade and sized properties within the
Qiushi Building or, if not available, in the same vicinity,
from independent third parties.

The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
RMB46 million.

Further details of the Qiushi Building Lease Agreement are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29
December 2020.
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(b) Leju-Qiushi Building Lease Agreement

On 29 December 2020, Shanghai SINA Leju (a subsidiary
of Leju) entered into a property leasing agreement (the
“Leju-Qiushi Building Lease Agreement”) with Yike
Network (an associate of Mr. Zhou). Pursuant to the Leju-
Qiushi Building Lease Agreement, Yike Network sub-leased
to Shanghai SINA Leju the premises at Level 3, Qiushi
Building, with a total gross floor area of approximately
1,500 square meters for use as offices of the Group.

The Qiushi Building Lease Agreement had a term of one
year from 1 January 2021 on 31 December 2021.

Reasons for the transactions

Historically, Yike Network had sub-leased premises of the
Qiushi Building to Shanghai SINA Leju, including prior to
the Company’s acquisition of Leju. The sub-lease enables
the Group to secure a good location for some of our
offices at a fair market price. The continuation of these
arrangements will avoid unnecessary disruptions and costs
to our business that might be caused by relocation, and
will ensure continuity of our operations.

Pricing policy

The rent is RMB165 per square meter per month, excluding
management fees, maintenance fees and other utilities
charges.

The annual rent under the Leju-Qiushi Building Lease
Agreement was determined based on the parties’ arm’s
length negotiations with reference to the actual rents, and
the prevailing market rental quotations of similar grade
and sized properties within the Qiushi Building or, if not
available, in the same vicinity, from independent third
parties.

The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
RMB4 million.

Further details of the Leju-Qiushi Building Lease Agreement

are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29
December 2020.
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(c)

Wenwu Building Lease Agreement

On 29 December 2020, Shanghai Shanglin (a subsidiary of
the Company) entered into a rental contract (the “Wenwu
Building Lease Agreement”) with Shanghai Tianji (an
associate of Mr. Zhou). Pursuant to the Wenwu Building
Lease Agreement, Shanghai Shanglin sub-leased to
Shanghai Tianji the premises at 1st to 6th Floors, Wenwu
Building, Building 1, 149 Yanchang Road, Shanghai, China
("Wenwu Building”), with a total gross floor area of
approximately 11,000 square meters for use as offices of
the Group.

The Wenwu Building Lease Agreement had a term of one
year from 1 January 2021 on 31 December 2021.

Reasons for the transactions

Since the Wenwu Building has been purchased recently
and will serve its function in the future business plan of the
Group, and is currently idle, the Company considers it in its
interests to utilise idle properties of the Group by leasing
them to Shanghai Tianji to generate rental income and
enhance the working capital of the Group in circumstances
where the rent is considered to be fair and reasonable to
the Company.

Pricing policy

The rent is RMB165 per square meter per month exclusive
of management fees, maintenance fees and other utilities
charges.

The annual rent under the Wenwu Building Lease
Agreement are determined based on the parties’ arm’s
length negotiations with reference to the prevailing market
rental price per square meter per month of similar office
buildings in the neighbourhood based on research and
survey of major rental platforms, and Wenwu Building’s
specific features (location and proximity to public
transportation, quality of internal decor and furnishing,
etq).

The annual cap for the rental income for the year ended
31 December 2021 was RMB23 million.

Further details of the Wenwu Building Lease Agreement
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29
December 2020.
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TED event services
The TED Event Services Framework Agreement

TED is a company established in the PRC on 9 February 2007 and
listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations with
stock code 837383. TED is principally engaged in the business of
providing public relations services to real estate developers and
organising publicity events for real estate development projects.

On 4 July 2018, our Company (for ourselves and on behalf of
our associates) and TED (for itself and on behalf of its associates)
entered into a framework event services agreement (the “"TED
Event Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
TED and its associates will provide us with event and exhibition
services. We procure these event and exhibition services in
relation to promotional activities relating to our real estate
agency services in the primary market, publicity of our rating
and ranking services, and for internal operating purposes. These
event and exhibition services may include provision of exhibition
booths and ancillary services at TED organised real estate
exhibitions and provision of audio-visual equipment and ancillary
services for events organised by our Group. On 29 December
2020, the Company and TED renewed the above agreement by
entering into a new agreement renewed (the “2021 TED Event
Services Framework Agreement”) for a term of three years
commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December
2023.

Reasons for the transactions

We have extensive business operations and proprietary real
estate databases covering many provinces, municipalities and
autonomous regions across China, all of which are engaged in
the real estate industry. It is therefore in our interest to procure
the services of TED, one of China’s leading public relations
and communications firms. In particular, TED has extensive
experience in real estate-related public relations and has a pan-
China presence.
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Pricing policy

The equipment rental and labour fees and exhibition space
rental and service fees under the TED Event Services Framework
Agreement and the 2021 TED Event Services Framework
Agreement are determined either based on the prevailing market
rate or as agreed by the parties’ arm’s length negotiations,
with reference to the quantity or duration of equipment, space
or services contracted by us and the price for comparable
equipment, space or services charged by Independent Third
Parties.

The annual cap for the 2021 TED Event Services Framework
Agreement for each of the years ending 31 December 2021,
2022 and 2023 is RMB15 million, RMB15 million and RMB15
million, respectively.

Further details of the TED Event Services Framework Agreement
and the 2021 TED Event Services Framework Agreement are set
out in the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company
dated 29 December 2020, respectively.

Leju Continuing Connected Transactions

Effective from completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements,
certain existing transactions engaged in by Leju as described in
the section headed “Appendix Il — Financial Information of Leju
— Related Party Balances and Transactions” in the circular of the
Company dated 14 October 2020 (the “2020 Circular”) have
become connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the Listing Rules, if the Group
continues to conduct such transaction, the Company is only
required to comply with the annual review and disclosure
requirements. When any such agreements are renewed or their
terms are varied, the Company will comply with the applicable
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

See "Appendix Il — Financial Information of Leju — Related Party
Balances and Transactions” in the 2020 Circular for details of
the historical amounts for each of these transactions.
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Transactions with SINA and Tencent

Advertising Inventory Sale Agency. On 7 March 2014, SINA
and Leju entered into the advertising inventory sale agency
agreement for a term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March 2024.
Under the advertising inventory sale agency agreement, Leju
will have the exclusive right to sell advertising to real estate,
home furnishing and construction materials advertisers on all
SINA non-real estate websites. Leju is required to pay SINA fees
of approximately 15% of the revenues generated from sales of
advertising on SINA non-real estate websites, subject to certain
limitations on the amount of advertising that Leju may sell and
fees payable by Leju to SINA based on the amount of advertising
sold. In addition, Leju authorizes SINA as its exclusive agent to
sell non-real estate-related advertising on its directly operated
websites. Leju is entitled to receive approximately 85% of the
revenues generated from these sales.

Domain Name and Content License. On 7 March 2014,
Beijing SINA Internet Information Service Co., Ltd. (At RFTR
ERENRE AR AT (the “Licensor”) and Beijing Yisheng
Leju Information Services Co., Ltd. (the “Licensee”) entered
into the amended and restated domain name and content
license agreement for a term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March
2024. Under the amended and restated domain name and
content license agreement, the Licensor, granted to the Licensee
an exclusive license to use its five domain names, namely,
house.sina.com.cn, jiaju.sina.com.cn, construction.sina.com.cn,
dichan.sina.com.cn, and esf.sina.com.cn in connection with
Leju’s real estate internet operations in China. In addition, the
Licensor also granted to Licensee an exclusive license to use
all contents, whose copyrights are owned by the Licensor or
owned by a third-party provider but is sub-licensable by the
Licensor without requiring payment of any additional fees and
without violating the terms of any agreement with such third
party provider, in connection with websites associated with the
domain names licensed to Licensee.
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Trademark License. On 7 March 2014, the Licensor and the
Licensee entered into the amended and restated trademark
license agreement for a term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March
2024. Under the amended and restated trademark license
agreement, the Licensor granted to the Licensee a non-exclusive
license to use three SINA trademarks and an exclusive license
to use four SINA related trademarks in connection with Leju’s
real estate online operations in China through websites located
at leju.com and the websites located at house.sina.com.cn,
jiaju.sina.com.cn, construction.sina.com.cn, dichan.sina.com.cn
and esf.sina.com.cn.

Software License and Support Services. On 7 March 2014,
SINA.com Technology (China) Co. Ltd. (¥R (hE)H
[R’A7A]) (the “Software Licensor”) and Shanghai SINA Leju
Information Technology Co. Ltd. (L/@#FUREFEZERFEARA
Al) (the “Software Licensee”) entered into the amended and
restated software license and support services agreement for a
term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March 2024. Under the amended
and restated software license and support services agreement,
the Software Licensor granted to the Software Licensee a non-
exclusive license to use (i) the proprietary software used for,
among other things, internet content publishing, advertising
publishing, sales management, procurement reimbursement,
financial management flow, statistics, monitoring and censoring;
(i) certain current software products and interfaces necessary to
facilitate Leju’s use of such current software products; (iii) the
databases; (iv) certain improvements to the licensed software;
and (v) related documentation and hardware, in each case to
the extent such items (other than licensor improvements) exist
and have been delivered to us under the software license and
support service agreement executed in 2009. The Software
Licensor also provided to Leju infrastructure necessary to operate
Leju’s websites and facilitate Leju’s use of the licensed software.
In addition, the Software Licensor also provided support
services, including routine maintenance, technical support and
hardware support. The licenses are free of any fees (subject to
certain exceptions). However, to the extent that there are any
reasonable, incremental costs for use of the licensed software or
the infrastructure, or provision of the support services, due to a
change in the business needs, we are required to reimburse the
licensor for all such costs.
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Registration Rights. On 21 March 2017, SINA and Leju entered
into the registration rights agreement for a term from 21 March
2017 until the earliest of (i) SINA, and any affiliate transferee
of SINA and their affiliates ceasing to own any Equity Securities
(as defined therein), or (ii) termination by the parties in writing.
The investor rights agreement granted SINA, among other
things, certain registration rights with respect to Leju’s ordinary
shares owned by it, including demand registration rights, shelf
registration rights, and piggyback registration rights in relation
to securities laws of the United States.

Advertising Agency. In January 2019, Leju entered into a
series of exclusive advertising agency agreements with Tencent.
Pursuant to the exclusive advertising agency agreements, Leju
are the exclusive real property advertising agent of Tencent for
selling advertising to real estate advertisers in certain areas of
China, including, Tianjin and Sichuan, Anhui, Shanxi, Guangxi
and Fujian provinces. In March 2019, Leju entered into an
advertising agency agreement with Tencent, pursuant to which
Leju is the real property advertising agent of Tencent in certain
other areas of China. In January 2020, Leju renewed and entered
into advertising agency agreements with Tencent, pursuant to
which we are the real property advertising agent of Tencent
in many areas of China. Pursuant to the exclusive advertising
agency agreements signed in April 2020, such areas of China
were Heilongjiang, Shanxi, Tianjin, Fujian, Guangxi, Guizhou,
Chongging, Sichuan and some cities in Jiangsu Province.

Investor Rights. On 31 March 2014, E-House Holdings, THL O
Limited and Leju entered into the investor rights agreement for
a term from 31 March 2014 until the earliest of (i) Tencent, and
any affiliate transferee of Tencent and their affiliates ceasing to
own any Equity Securities (as defined therein), or (ii) termination
by the parties in writing. The investor rights agreement granted
Tencent, among other things, certain registration rights with
respect to Leju’s ordinary shares owned by it, including demand
registration rights, shelf registration rights, and piggyback
registration rights in relation to securities laws of the United
States.

View of Directors and Listing Rule implications. The
Board, including the independent non-executive directors, have
reviewed and approved such transactions, have determined that
these transactions are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms or better and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole (including to facilitate the continuation
of business by Leju without interruption).
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As all such transactions were entered into prior to completion
of the Equity Transfer Agreements, pursuant to Rule 14A.60
of the Listing Rules, the Company is only required to comply
with the annual review and disclosure requirements. SINA and
Tencent are each a connected person at the subsidiary level
according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, it
is anticipated that at the time of any future renewal or variation
of the terms of such transactions, the exemption under Rule
14A.101 of the Listing Rules for transactions between the Group
and persons connected at the subsidiary level would apply,
such that the renewal or variation would be exempt from the
circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, provided
that (i) the Board approves the relevant renewal or variation and
(i) the independent non-executive Directors are of the opinion
that the terms of the transaction are fair and reasonable and the
transactions are on normal commercial terms or better and in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Transactions with E-House Holdings

Master Transaction Agreement. On 10 March 2014,
E-House Holdings and Leju entered into the master transaction
agreement for a term from 10 March 2014 until the date that
is five (5) years after the first date upon which members of the
E-House Group (as defined therein) no longer collectively own
at least twenty percent (20%) of the voting power of the then
outstanding securities of Leju. The master transaction agreement
contains provisions relating to Leju’s carve-out from E-House.
The master transaction agreement provides for cross-indemnities
that generally will place the financial responsibility on Leju
for all liabilities associated with the current and historical real
estate online services business and operations that have been
conducted by or transferred to Leju, and generally will place
on E-House Holdings the financial responsibility for liabilities
associated with all of E-House Holding’'s other current and
historical businesses and operations, in each case regardless of
the time those liabilities arise. The master transaction agreement
also contains indemnification provisions under which Leju and
E-House Holdings will indemnify each other with respect to
breaches of the master transaction agreement or any related
agreement.
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Offshore Transitional Services Agreement. On 10 March
2014, as amended on 4 November 2020, E-House Holdings
and Leju entered into the offshore transitional services
agreement for a term until 31 December 2025. Under the
offshore transitional services agreement, E-House Holdings
agrees that, during the service period, E-House Holdings will
provide Leju with various corporate support services, including:
accounting support; administrative support; marketing support;
internal control support; customer service support; and legal
support. The price to be paid for the services provided under
the offshore transitional service agreement shall be the actual
direct costs and indirect costs of providing such services. Direct
costs include compensation and travel expenses attributable to
employees, temporary workers, and contractors directly engaged
in performing the services as well as materials and supplies
consumed in performing the services. Indirect costs include
occupancy, information technology supervision and other
overhead costs of the department incurring the direct costs of
providing the service.

Onshore Transitional Services Agreement. On 10 March
2014, as amended on 4 November 2020, Shanghai Real Estate
Sales (Group) Co., Ltd. ("E-House Shanghai”), Shanghai SINA
Leju Information Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Yisheng Leju
Information Services Co., Ltd., Shanghai Yi Yue Information
Technology Co., Ltd., Shanghai Yi Xin E-Commerce Co., Ltd.,
Beijing Maiteng Fengshun Science and Technology Co., Ltd.,
Beijing Jiajujiu E-Commerce Co., Ltd., and Rehouse Real Estate
Broker (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Leju Subsidiaries”), entered into
the onshore transitional services agreement for a term until 31
December 2025. The onshore transitional services agreement
adopts terms and conditions similar to those of the offshore
transitional services agreement. Under the onshore transitional
services agreement, E-House Shanghai, an indirectly wholly
owned subsidiary of E-House Holdings, agrees, during the
applicable service period, to provide the Leju Subsidiaries or the
Leju PRC Entities (as defined therein), and/or their designated
PRC affiliates, with various corporate support services, including
accounting support, administrative support, internal control
and internal audit support, marketing support, customer service
support and legal support. The price to be paid for the services
provided under the onshore transitional services agreement shall
be the actual direct costs and indirect costs of providing such
services. Direct costs include compensation and travel expenses
attributable to employees, temporary workers, and contractors
directly engaged in performing the services as well as materials
and supplies consumed in performing the services. Indirect costs
include occupancy, information technology supervision and other
overhead costs of the department incurring the direct costs of
providing the service.
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Non-competition Agreement. On 10 March 2014, E-House
Holdings and Leju entered into the non-competition agreement
for a term from 10 March 2014 until the later of (i) three years
after the first date when E-House Holdings ceases to own in
aggregate at least 20% of the voting power of Leju’s then
outstanding securities and (ii) five years after the date that
the registration statement on Form F-1 for Leju’s initial public
offering is first publicly filed with the SEC. E-House Holdings
agreed not to compete with Leju during the non-competition
period in the business of providing real estate e-commerce,
online advertising and listing services, anywhere in the world.
Leju agreed not to compete with E-House Holdings during the
non-competition period in any business conducted by E-House
Holdings as described in its periodic filings with the SEC, other
than the businesses Leju are engaged in as described in the
prospectus for Leju’s initial public offering. The non-competition
agreement also provides for a mutual non-solicitation obligation.

View of Directors and Listing Rule implications. The
Board, including the independent non-executive directors, have
reviewed and approved such transactions, have determined that
these transactions are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms or better and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole (including to facilitate the continuation
of business by Leju without interruption).

As all such transactions were entered into prior to completion
of the Equity Transfer Agreements, pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of
the Listing Rules, the Company is only required to comply with
the annual review and disclosure requirements. When any such
agreements are renewed or their terms are varied, the Company
will comply with the applicable requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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4. Leju Contractual Arrangements

Upon completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements, Leju
became a subsidiary of the Company and its financial results are
consolidated into those of the Group. Due to PRC restrictions
on foreign investment in the internet industry and advertising
industries, Leju conducts part of its business through the
Contractual Arrangements with its affiliated PRC entities, the
details of which were described in the section headed “Appendix
Il — Financial Information of Leju — VIE Arrangements” in the
2020 Circular. On 4 November 2020, prior to completion of the
Equity Transfer Agreements, Leju entered into the Contractual
Arrangements, which were updated to comply with the
applicable requirements of HKEX Guidance Letter GL77-14.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 4 November 2020.

REASONS FOR USE OF CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

Leju is a leading online-to-offline real estate services provider in
China, offering real estate e-commerce, online advertising, and online
listing services through its online platform. Leju integrates its online
platform with complementary offline services to facilitate residential
property transactions.

Leju’s e-commerce business with respect to new residential properties
is operated through its contractual arrangements with Shanghai Yi
Xin and its shareholders. Leju’s e-commerce business with respect to
home furnishing is operated through its contractual arrangements
with Beijing lJiajujiu and its shareholders. Leju’s online advertising
business for new residential properties websites and its secondary
listings business are operated through its contractual arrangements
with Beijing Leju and its shareholders.

PRC laws and regulations or their implementation by relevant
government authorities, generally prohibit or restrict foreign
ownership in the businesses conducted through the Contractual
Arrangements. As a result of such restrictions, Leju is unable to own
or hold any direct equity interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and has adopted the Contractual Arrangements to exercise control
of, and enjoy the economic benefits of, the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities.
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PRC laws and regulations

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for
Foreign Investment Access (2020 Edition) (JMEIIREFEANSRIE RS
Me(BEIE ) (2020)) (the “Negative List”), provision of value-added
telecommunications services falls within the ‘restricted’ category. As
such, the shareholding percentage of a foreign investor in companies
engaged in value-added telecommunications services shall not
exceed 50%. Moreover, pursuant to the Administrative Measures on
Internet Information Services (¥t 4815 E RIS E B #1)%), a commercial
provider of internet information services (namely services involving
the provision of information or website-design services through
the internet to internet-users for a fee) is required to obtain an ICP
license.

Since Leju’s e-commerce business, online advertising business and
secondary listings business involve the operation of commercial
internet information services, which is a sub-category of valued-added
telecommunications business, for which an ICP licence is required,
Leju’s e-commerce business, online advertising business and secondary
listings business are subject to foreign ownership restrictions.

Currently, PRC laws and regulations restrict foreign ownership of
value-added telecommunications service providers (in addition to
imposing a qualification requirement on the foreign owners). In
addition, PRC laws and regulations currently do not allow foreign
entities with less than two years of direct experience operating an
advertising business outside China to invest in an advertising business
in China.

Qualification Requirements under FITE Regulations

Article 10 of the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-
Invested Telecommunications Enterprises (the “FITE Regulations”)
further provides that a major foreign investor which invests in a
value-added telecommunications business in the PRC must possess
prior experience in, and a proven track record of good performance
of, operating value-added telecommunications businesses overseas
(the "Qualification Requirements”). Foreign investors that meet
these requirements must obtain approvals from the MIIT which retain
discretion in granting such approvals.
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The MIIT issued a Guidance Memorandum on the Application
Requirements for Establishing Foreign-invested Value-added
Telecommunications Enterprises in the PRC (JNEREBKELEZE
HEW RS ER) ("Guidance Memorandum”). According to this
Guidance Memorandum, a foreign investor applicant is required to
provide, as proof of the satisfaction of the Qualification Requirements,
a description of the value-added telecommunications services
previously provided by itself or its direct shareholder, supported by,
among other things, screenshots of license and filings previously
obtained and websites and apps previously operated, as well as
previous telecommunication business licenses issued by the relevant
local authorities (unless where no license is required in the relevant
jurisdiction). The Guidance Memorandum, however, does not provide
any further guidance on the proof, records or documents required
to support the proof satisfying the Qualification Requirements.
Further, this Guidance Memorandum does not purport to provide an
exhaustive list on the application requirement.

The PRC Legal Adviser has advised that at present, the Guidance
Memorandum has no legal or regulatory effect under PRC laws and
no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules provided clear guidance
or interpretation on the Qualification Requirements. Moreover, they
have advised that the foreign shareholders of the Company do not
have the necessary good performance and operational experience of
value-added telecommunication services. Therefore, they are unable
to engage in value-added telecommunication business in the PRC.
We are unable to establish a Sino-foreign equity joint venture and
obtain an ICP license for the time being based on the current policy
of relevant PRC governmental authorities, and even if we meet the
Qualification Requirement, it would still be difficult to obtain approval
to establish a Sino-foreign equity joint venture.

We will actively manage the operations of Leju and procure it to
continue carrying out steps (including leveraging its and our offshore
operations) after closing for the purpose of being qualified, as early
as possible, to acquire the entire shareholding in our Onshore Holdcos
when the relevant PRC laws and regulations and authorities allow
foreign investors to invest and hold interest in enterprises which
engage in the restricted businesses. Considering the time since
acquiring a majority interest in Leju, the PRC Legal Adviser is of the
view that we have taken all reasonable steps towards fulfilling the
Qualification Requirements subject to the discretion of competent
authority.
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Circumstances in which we will unwind the Contractual
Arrangements

We will unwind and terminate the Contractual Arrangements as soon
as practicable, to the extent permissible, and we will directly hold
the maximum percentage of ownership interest permissible under
the relevant PRC laws and regulations if the relevant government
authority grants ICP licences to the Sino-foreign entities currently held
and to be established by our Company. In this event, each WFOE will
exercise its rights under the relevant Exclusive Option Agreement to
unwind and terminate the Contractual Arrangements to the extent
permissible and we will directly operate the underlying businesses
without using the Contractual Arrangements.

OVERVIEW OF CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group under
the Contractual Arrangements:
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Notes:

Beijing Leju is currently 80% owned by Mr. Xudong Zhu and 20%
owned by Mr. Yinyu He. Leju Hao Fang and Beijing Jiajujiu are each
currently 70% owned by Mr. Yinyu He and 30% owned by Mr. Weijie
Ma. Mr. Xudong Zhu is an employee of E-House Holdings. Mr. Yinyu He
is the chief executive officer of Leju. Mr. Weijie Ma is an employee of
E-House Holdings.

"—>" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity
interest.

“==>" denotes contractual relationship.
"---=" denotes the control by WFOEs over the Registered Shareholders
and the Onshore Holdcos through (i) powers of attorney to exercise all
shareholders’ rights in the Onshore Holdcos, (ii) exclusive options to
acquire all or part of the equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos and (iii)
equity pledges over the equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos.

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Under the exclusive business cooperation agreements dated 4
November 2020, between the Onshore Holdcos and the WFOEs (the
“Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”), pursuant to
which, in exchange for a monthly service fee, the Onshore Holdcos
agreed to engage the WFOEs as its exclusive provider of technical
support, consultation and other services, including the following

services:

(i)  the use of any relevant software legally owned by the WFOEs;

(i) development, maintenance and updating of software in respect
of the Onshore Holdcos’ business;

(iii) design, installation, daily management, maintenance and
updating of network systems, hardware and database design;

(iv) providing technical support and staff training services to relevant
employers of the Onshore Holdcos;

(v)  providing assistance in consultancy, collection and research of
technology and market information (excluding market research
business that wholly foreign owned enterprises are prohibited
from conducting under the laws of China);

(vi) providing business management consultation;

(vii) providing marketing and promotional services;
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(viii) providing customer order management and customer services;
(ix) transfer, leasing and disposal of equipment or properties; and

(x)  other relevant services requested by the Onshore Holdcos from
time to time to the extent permitted under the laws of China.

Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the service
fee shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated profit of the
Onshore Holdcos, after the deduction of any accumulated deficit
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in respect of the preceding
financial year(s), operating costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contributions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the WFOEs may adjust
the scope and amount of services fees according to China tax law and
tax practices, and the Onshore Holdcos will accept such adjustments.
The WFOEs shall calculate the service fee on a monthly basis and issue
a corresponding invoice to the Onshore Holdcos. Notwithstanding
the payment arrangements in the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, the WFOEs may adjust the payment time and payment
method, and the Onshore Holdcos will accept any such adjustment.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of the WFOEs, during
the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, with
respect to the services subject to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements and other matters, the Onshore Holdcos shall not directly
or indirectly accept the same or any similar services provided by any
third party and shall not establish cooperation relationships similar
to that formed by the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements
with any third party. The WFOEs may appoint other parties, who may
enter into certain agreements with the Onshore Holdcos, to provide
the Onshore Holdcos with the services under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreements.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements also provide that
the WFOEs have the exclusive proprietary rights to and interests in
any and all intellectual property rights developed or created by the
Onshore Holdcos during the performance of the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements shall remain effective
unless terminated (a) in accordance with the provisions of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements; (b) in writing by the
WFQEs; or (c) renewal of the expired business period of either the
WFOEs or the Onshore Holdcos is denied by relevant government
authorities, at which time the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements will terminate upon termination of that business period.
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Under the exclusive option agreements dated 4 November 2020,
among the Onshore Holdcos, the WFOEs and the Registered
Shareholders (the “Exclusive Option Agreements”), the WFOEs
have the rights to require the Registered Shareholders to transfer any
or all their equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos to the WFOEs and/
or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and
from time to time, for considerations equivalent to the respectively
outstanding loans owed to the Registered Shareholders (or part of the
loan amounts in proportion to the equity interests being transferred)
or, if applicable, for a nominal price, unless the relevant government
authorities or the China laws request that another amount be used
as the purchase price, in which case the purchase price shall be the
lowest amount under such request.

The Onshore Holdcos and the Registered Shareholders, among other
things, have covenanted that:

(i)  without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the constitutional
documents of the Onshore Holdcos, increase or decrease their
registered capital, or change the structure of their registered
capital in other manner;

(ii)  they shall maintain the Onshore Holdcos' corporate existence
in accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices, obtain and maintain all necessary government licenses
and permits by prudently and effectively operating their business
and handling their affairs;

(iii) without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall
not at any time following the signing of the Exclusive Option
Agreements sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any manner
any material assets of the Onshore Holdcos or legal or beneficial
interest in the material business or revenues of the Onshore
Holdcos of more than RMB1,000,000, or allow the encumbrance
thereon of any security interest;

(iv) without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, the Onshore
Holdcos shall not incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt,
except for debts incurred in the ordinary course of business
other than payables incurred by a loan;
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(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

the Onshore Holdcos shall always operate all of their businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain their asset
value and refrain from any action/omission that may adversely
affect the Onshore Holdcos' operating status and asset value;

without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
cause the Onshore Holdcos to execute any material contract with
a value above RMB1,000,000, except the contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business;

without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
cause the Onshore Holdcos to provide any person with any loan
or credit;

they shall provide the WFOEs with information on the Onshore
Holdcos' business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOEs;

if requested by the WFOEs, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of the Onshore Holdcos’ assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE, at an amount
and type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
cause or permit the Onshore Holdcos to merge, consolidate
with, acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOEs of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to the Onshore Holdcos’ assets, business or
revenue;

to maintain the ownership by the Onshore Holdcos of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate documents,
take all necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary
or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defenses against all claims;

without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, the Onshore
Holdcos shall not in any manner distribute dividends to their
shareholders, provided that upon the written request of the
WFOEs, the Onshore Holdcos shall immediately distribute all
distributable profits to their shareholders;

at the request of the WFOEs, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOEs as the directors and/or senior
management of the Onshore Holdcos; and
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(xv) unless otherwise mandatorily required by China laws, the
Onshore Holdcos shall not be dissolved or liquidated without
prior written consent by the WFOEs.

In addition, the Registered Shareholders, among other things, have
covenanted that:

(i)  without the written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not sell,
transfer, pledge or dispose of in any other manner the legal
or beneficial interest in the Onshore Holdcos, or allow the
encumbrance thereon of any security interest, except for the
Equity Pledge Agreements and the interests prescribed in the
Powers of Attorney, and procure the shareholders’ meeting and
the board of directors of the Onshore Holdcos not to approve
such matters;

(i)  for each exercise of the equity purchase option, to cause the
shareholders’ meeting of the Onshore Holdcos to vote on the
approval of the transfer of equity interests and any other action
requested by the WFOEs;

(iiiy they shall relinquish the pre-emptive right (if any) he/she is
entitled to in relation to the transfer of equity interest by any
other shareholders to the Onshore Holdcos and give consent to
the execution by each other shareholder of the Onshore Holdcos
with the WFOEs and the Onshore Holdcos exclusive option
agreements, equity interest pledge agreements and powers of
attorney similar to the Exclusive Option Agreements, the Equity
Pledge Agreements and the Powers of Attorney, and accept not
to take any action in conflict with such documents executed by
the other shareholders (if any); and

(iv) each of the Registered Shareholders will transfer to the WFOEs
or its appointee(s) by way of gift any profit or dividend in
accordance with the China law.

The Registered Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to
the relevant laws and regulations, they will return to the WFOEs any
consideration they receive in the event that the WFOEs exercise the
options under the Exclusive Option Agreements to acquire the equity
interests in the Onshore Holdcos.

The Exclusive Option Agreements shall remain effective unless
terminated in the event that the entire equity interests held by the
Registered Shareholders in the Onshore Holdcos have been transferred
to the WFOEs or their appointee(s).
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Equity Pledge Agreements

Under the equity pledge agreements dated 4 November 2020,
entered into between the WFOEs, the Registered Shareholders and
the Onshore Holdcos (the "Equity Pledge Agreements”), the
Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective equity
interests in the Onshore Holdcos that they own, including any
interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOEs as a security
interest to guarantee the performance of contractual obligations and
the payment of outstanding debts.

The pledge in respect of the Onshore Holdcos takes effect upon
the completion of registration with the relevant administration for
industry and commerce and shall remain valid until after all the
contractual obligations of the Registered Shareholders and the
Onshore Holdcos under the relevant Contractual Arrangements
have been fully performed and all the outstanding debts of the
Registered Shareholders and the Onshore Holdcos under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of
default (as defined in the Equity Pledge Agreements), the WFOEs
shall have the right to require the Onshore Holdcos' shareholders (i.e.
the Registered Shareholders) to immediately pay any amount payable
by the Onshore Holdcos under the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement, repay any loans and pay any other due payments,
and the WFOEs shall have the right to exercise all such rights as a
secured party under any applicable China law and the Equity Pledge
Agreements, including without limitations, being paid in priority
with the equity interests based on the monetary valuation that such
equity interests are converted into or from the proceeds from auction
or sale of the equity interest upon written notice to the Registered
Shareholders.

The registration of the Equity Pledge Agreements as required by
the relevant laws and regulations will be completed in accordance
with the terms of the Equity Pledge Agreements and China laws and
regulations.
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Powers of Attorney

The Registered Shareholders have executed powers of attorney dated
4 November 2020, (the “Powers of Attorney”). Under the Powers
of Attorney, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably appointed the
WFOEs and their designated persons (including but not limited to
Directors and their successors and liquidators replacing the Directors
but excluding those non-independent or who may give rise to conflict
of interests) as their attorneys-in-fact to exercise on their behalf, and
agreed and undertook not to exercise without such attorneys-in-
fact’s prior written consent, any and all right that they have in respect
of their equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos, including without
limitation:

(i)  to convene and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Onshore
Holdcos;

(ii)  to file documents with the relevant companies registry;

(iii) to exercise all shareholder’s rights and shareholder’s voting
rights in accordance with law and the constitutional documents
of the Onshore Holdcos, including but not limited to the sale,
transfer, pledge or disposal of any or all of the equity interests
in the Onshore Holdcos;

(iv) to execute any and all written resolutions and meeting minutes
and to approve the amendments to the articles of associations in
the name and on behalf of such shareholder; and

(v)  to nominate or appoint the legal representatives, directors,
supervisors, general manager and other senior management of
the Onshore Holdcos.

Further, the Powers of Attorney shall remain effective for so long as
each shareholder holds equity interest in the Onshore Holdcos.

Loan Agreements

Under the loan agreements entered into between the WFOEs and the
relevant Registered Shareholders dated 4 November 2020, (the “Loan
Agreements”), pursuant to which the WFOEs agreed to provide loans
to the Registered Shareholders, to be used exclusively as investment
in the relevant Onshore Holdcos. The loans must not be used for any
other purposes without the relevant lender’s prior written consent.
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The term of each loan commences from the date of the agreement
and ends on the date the lender exercises its exclusive call option
under the relevant Exclusive Option Agreement, or when certain
defined termination events occur, such as if the lender sends a written
notice demanding repayment to the borrower, or upon the default of
the borrower, whichever is earlier.

After the lender exercises his exclusive call option, the borrower may
repay the loan by transferring all of its equity interest in the relevant
Onshore Holdco to the lender, or a person or entity nominated by
the lender, and use the proceeds of such transfer as repayment of
the loan. If the proceeds of such transfer is equal to or less than the
principal of the loan under the relevant Loan Agreement, the loan
is considered interest-free. If the proceeds of such transfer is higher
than the principal of the loan under the relevant Loan Agreement,
any surplus is considered interest for the loan under the relevant Loan
Agreement.

RISK FACTORS

A summary of the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements
was set out in the section headed “Appendix Il — Financial Information
of Leju — Risks in relation to the VIE structure” in the 2020 Circular
and detailed in Leju’s annual report on Form 20-F filed with the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission on 15 July 2020.
Set out below are the key risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements:

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our advertising services business
and real estate online business in China do not comply with
PRC governmental restrictions on foreign investment in the
advertising industry or the internet information service industry,
we could be subject to severe penalties.

o We rely on contractual arrangements with Beijing Leju, Shanghai
Yi Xin and Beijing Jiajujiu and their respective shareholders for
a portion of our operations, which may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing operational control.

° The shareholders of our consolidated variable interest entities
may have potential conflicts of interest with us, and if any such
conflicts of interest are not resolved in our favor, our business
may be materially and adversely affected.

o Our ability to enforce the equity pledge agreements between us
and the shareholders of Beijing Leju, Shanghai Yi Xin or Beijing
Jiajujiu may be subject to limitations based on PRC laws and
regulations.
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o Contractual arrangements we have entered into with Beijing
Leju, Shanghai Yi Xin and Beijing Jiajujiu may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and a finding that we, Beijing
Leju, Shanghai Yi Xin or Beijing Jiajujiu owe additional taxes
could reduce our net income and the value of your investment.

o Substantial uncertainties exist with the PRC foreign investment
legal regime and may have a significant impact on our corporate
structure and business operations.

WAIVER FROM STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH
THE LISTING RULES

Reasons for the transaction and the waiver application

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the Contractual Arrangements and the transactions
contemplated therein are fundamental to our legal structure and
business operations following the acquisition of a controlling interest
in Leju. Our Directors also believe that our structure, whereby
the financial results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities will
be consolidated into our financial statements as if they were our
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and all the economic benefits
of their business flows to our Group, places our Group in a special
position in relation to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly,
notwithstanding that the transactions contemplated under the
Contractual Arrangements and any new transactions, contracts
and agreements or renewal of existing transactions, contracts and
agreements to be entered into, among others, by our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and any member of our Group from time to time
(including Consolidated Affiliated Entities) (the “"New Intergroup
Agreements”) technically constitute continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors
consider that it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable,
and would add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company,
for all such transactions to be subject to strict compliance with
the requirements set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
including, among other things, the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements.

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that: (i) the Contractual Arrangements have been
entered into in our ordinary and usual course of business on normal
commercial terms or better, on terms that are fair and reasonable, and
in the interests of our Company and our Shareholders as a whole; and
(ii) it is normal business practice for the Contractual Arrangements to
be of a term greater than three years.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-Executive Directors

All the above continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed by the independent
non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive Directors
have confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have been
entered into:

(a)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

in accordance with the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Auditor

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions entered into in the year ended 31
December 2021:

(a)

nothing has come to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

for transactions involving the provision of services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company;

nothing has come to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions;

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the disclosed
continuing connected transactions (excluding the Continuing
Connected Transactions with no Annual Cap), nothing has come
to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company; and
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(e) with respect to the Exclusive Option Agreements under the
Leju Contractual Arrangements with Leju entered into among
Beijing Yisheng Leju Information Services Co., Ltd, Shanghai Yi
Xin E-Commerce Co., Ltd., and Beijing Jiajujiu E-Commerce Co.,
Ltd. (collectively the “Onshore Holdcos”), Shanghai SINA Leju
Information Technology Co., Ltd., Shanghai Yi Yue Information
Technology Co., Ltd. and Beijing Maiteng Fengshun Science
and Technology Co., Ltd (collectively the “WFOEs”) and Mr.
Xudong Zhu, Mr. Yinyu He and Mr. Weijie Ma (collectively
the “Registered Shareholders”), nothing has come to their
attention that causes Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited to believe
that there was any dividend or other distribution made by the
Onshore Holdcos to the Registered Shareholders which were not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

A summary of all significant transactions with related parties (the
“Related Party Transactions”) entered into by the Group during the
Reporting Period is contained in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements. During the Reporting Period, other than the continuing
connected transactions of the Group set out and summarized on
page 60 which should be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, no
related party transactions disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions entered
into by the Group during the year under review.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's
securities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage
of public float under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

1. On 2 June 2021, the Company and certain non-PRC subsidiaries
of the Company entered into a purchase agreement with various
financial institutions in relation to the Additional Notes.

For further details of the Additional Notes, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 3 June 2021, 11 June
2021 and 15 June 2021.
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2. As disclosed in the section headed “Material Acquisitions and/
or Disposals of Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies” in this
annual report, on 28 April 2021, the Company and Alibaba
Investment entered into JV Acquisition Agreement for a
consideration of HK$1,860 million, which shall be settled by way
of the allotment and issue of 248,000,000 consideration shares
by the Company to Alibaba Investment.

The JV Acquisition Agreement was terminated on 1 September
2021. For further details of the issue and allotment of the
consideration shares and related updates, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 28 April 2021, 20 May
2021, 2 July 2021, 2 August 2021 and 1 September 2021.

Save for the aforesaid, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed
on the Stock Exchange during the Reporting Period.

CHANGE IN AUDITORS IN PRECEDING THREE
YEARS

On 20 July 2022, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu tendered its resignation
as the auditor of the Company. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu confirmed
that there were no matters in respect of those circumstances that
need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company. The Board also confirmed that there is no disagreement
between Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and the Company, and there
are no other matters in relation to the resignation of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu that need to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
previous two years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 were audited
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

On 29 July 2022, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited were appointed by
the Directors to fill the casual vacancy so arising. Save as disclosed
above, there have been no other changes of auditor in the past
three years. Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited will retire as the Company's
auditor at the end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for reappointment.
A resolution will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-elect
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as the Company's auditor for the year
ending 31 December 2022.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In March 2022, the Group announced an offshore debt restructuring
(the "Restructuring”) in respect of its series of senior notes due
2022 and 2023. The proposed scheme of arrangement between
the Company and the scheme creditors under section 86 of the
Companies Act (2022 Revision) relating to the Restructuring was
sanctioned by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands on 9 November
2022. The Restructuring will become effective only upon the
satisfaction or waiver of the restructuring conditions in accordance
with the terms of the scheme. Under the terms of the scheme, the
long stop date for satisfying or waiving such conditions is currently 14
December 2022. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 31 March, 7, 11, 14, 18, and 25 April, 21 September,
5, 6, 7 and 12 October, 3, 10 and 16 November 2022.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no other significant
events that might affect the Group from 31 December 2021 to the
date of this annual report.

By the order of the Board

Chairman
Zhou Xin

Hong Kong
21 November 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance. The principle of the Company’s corporate
governance is to promote effective internal control measures and
to enhance the transparency and accountability of the Board to all
Shareholders.

The Company has complied with all the applicable principles and
code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Review Period”). Unless otherwise stated,
reference of the code provisions made in this Corporate Governance
Report in relation to the CG Code is referred to the provisions
contained in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules in force during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company. Having made
specific enquiry of all the Directors of the Company, all the Directors
confirmed that they have strictly complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code during the Review Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises twelve members consisting of four
executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors.

During the Review Period and up to the date of this annual report,
the composition of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhou Xin (Chairman of the Board,
Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Huang Canhao
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan (Member of the Remuneration Committee)
Dr. Ding Zuyu (Chief Executive Officer)
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Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Silong (resigned on 2 September 2021)

Mr. Tang Xing (appointed on 2 September 2021
and resigned on 5 July 2022)

Mr. Zhang Hai (resigned on 1 April 2022)

Ms. Jiang Shanshan (appointed on 5 July 2022)

Mr. Yang Yong (appointed on 1 April 2022)

Ms. Xie Mei

Mr. Huang Haojun (resigned 2 September 2021)

Mr. Lv Peimei (appointed on 2 September 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Bang (Chairman of the Audit Committee)

Mr. Zhu Hongchao (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
Member of the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wang Liqun (Member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Jin (Member of the Audit Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationships
between the members of the Board are disclosed under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 34 of
this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
by Mr. Zhou Xin and Dr. Ding Zuyu, respectively. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on
the Company’s business development and the daily management
and operations generally. Their respective responsibilities are clearly
defined and set out in writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Review Period, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.
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Terms of Appointment of Non-executive Directors

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
Directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after appointment and that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Any new director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of three years or until the third
annual general meeting of the Company from the commencement
date of the letter of appointment and is subject to retirement by
rotation at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Each of independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
or until the third annual general meeting of the Company from the
commencement date of the letter of appointment and is subject to
retirement by rotation at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company,
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.
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The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of director’'s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for the Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to the Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.



HE2021F12A31BILEE  SE5E During the year ended 31 December 2021, the key methods of
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Non-Executive Director
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Mr. Li Silong (resigned on 2 September 2021) v
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B+ (720227 A5 AEZE(E) TiEA

Ms. Jiang Shanshan (appointed on 5 July 2022) N/A
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Mr. Yang Yong (appointed on 1 April 2022) N/A
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Board Meetings, General Meetings and Committee
Meetings

Code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the Review Period,
the Board held 8 meetings.

Attendance Records of Directors
During the Review Period, the attendance record of each Director at

the Board and committee meetings held during the Review Period is
as follows:

HE ERRH
Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)

Exps Ezg Eit£8E FHEESE REEEE BRAE

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meetings
JEIT e 8/8 -/~ -/~ 2/2 2/2
Mr. Zhou Xin
BERESLE 8/8 -/~ -/~ -/~ 2/2
Mr. Huang Canhao
VERVA 8/8 —/- 11 —/- 2/2
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan
THEELT 8/8 ~/- ~/- —/- 2/2
Dr. Ding Zuyu
FEELLED 171 -/~ -/~ -/~ 1/1
Mr. Li Silong®
BEEES 171 -/~ ~/- ~/- 1/1
Mr. Tang Xing®
RAGEED 8/8 -/~ ~/- ~/- 212
Mr. Zhang Hai®
EH iz © —/- -/~ -/~ —/- —/-
Ms. Jiang Shanshan®
BEEEW -/~ ~/- ~/- -/ -/
Mr. Yang Yong®¥
WGt 8/8 -/ ~/- ~/- 2/2
Ms. Xie Mei
EEEEED 717 ~/- ~/- ~/- 1/1
Mr. Huang Haojun®"
BMSEEED 1/1 -/~ -/~ -/~ 1/1
Mr. Lv Peimei®
REESLAE 8/8 2/2 —/- —/- 2/2
Mr. Zhang Bang
KB EE 8/8 -/~ 171 272 212
Mr. Zhu Hongchao
ThERE 8/8 212 11 2/2 212
Mr. Wang Liqun
FYLLE 8/8 212 ~/- —/- 212
Mr. Li Jin
SE(FE)CEZRERAT S —FERE
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(1) Resigned on 2 September 2021.
(2)  Appointed on 2 September 2021.
(3)  Resigned on 1 April 2022.

(4)  Appointed on 1 April 2022.

(5)  Appointed on 2 September 2021 and resigned on 5 July 2022.

(6)  Appointed on 5 July 2022.

In accordance with code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, apart from
the regular board meetings above, the Chairman of the Board also
held meetings with the non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) without the presence of executive Directors
during the year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee for overseeing specific aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the Company’'s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal controls system (including risk management) of
the Group, review and approve connected transactions and provide
advice and comments to the board of Directors. The Audit Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Zhang Bang, Mr. Li Jin, and
Mr. Wang Liqun, all independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhang
Bang is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, the
following matters:

o assisting the Board in reviewing the financial information and
reporting process of the Company;

o monitoring and reviewing risk management and internal control
systems of the Company through the internal audit department;
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o reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company;

reviewing the scope of audit and appointment of external
auditor of the Company; and

o supervising internal investigation and reviewing the
arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, the Audit Committee met twice to review
the Company’s annual results and annual report for the year ended
31 December 2020 and the interim results and interim report for
the six months ended 30 June 2021. During the meeting, the Audit
Committee also reviewed the significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance matters, risk management
and internal control systems and internal audit function, scope of
work and appointment of external auditor, connected transactions
and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration
packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to our Directors
and other senior management. The Remuneration Committee consists
of three members, namely Mr. Zhu Hongchao, Dr. Cheng Li-Lan, and
Mr. Wang Liqun. Dr. Cheng Li-Lan is an executive Director, and Mr.
Zhu Hongchao and Mr. Wang Liqun are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Zhu Hongchao is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

o reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management;

o reviewing and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors;

o reviewing and make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration all
Directors and senior management; and

o establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the Review Period, the Remuneration Committee met
once to review and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy of the Directors and senior management, review
the remuneration of the new non-executive Directors upon their
appointment to the Board, and other related matters.

Details of the fees and other emoluments paid or payable to the
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note
13A to the audited consolidated financial statements contained in this
annual report.

The remuneration of the members of senior management by band for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

EREEEREAH

Number of members of

i 48 7 Remuneration bands senior management
2,000,001 L% 3,000,0008 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1
3,000,001 L% 4,000,000 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 B
“eEt Total 4
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance and Corporate Governance Report in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the nomination committee are to
make recommendations to our Board on the appointment of Directors
and management of Board succession. The nomination committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Zhou Xin, Mr. Wang Liqun,
and Mr. Zhu Hongchao. Mr. Zhou Xin is an executive Director, and
Mr. Wang Liqun and Mr. Zhu Hongchao are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Zhou Xin is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:
. reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors;

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors; and

o assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

During the Review Period, the Nomination Committee met twice
to (i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (ii)
consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting; and (iii) review
the qualifications of the new non-executive Directors in relation to
their appointment to the Board.
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Board Diversity Policy

On 4 July 2018, the Company has adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognizes and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of aspects, including, but not limited to, gender, age, educational
background, ethnicity, professional (including regional and industry)
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service (the “Diversity
Perspectives”).

In identifying and nominating candidates for appointment, the Board
will have regard to the Diversity Perspectives and any other factors
considered appropriate by the Nomination Committee. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and expected contribution that the
selected candidate(s) will bring to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such Diversity Perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company's business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Diversity Policy periodically
to ensure its effectiveness and will recommend revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval as appropriate.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company had a total of 12
Directors, covering different genders and a broad age distribution.
There is a diverse mix of educational backgrounds and professional
experience. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy and considers that there is appropriate balance among
the Board members in terms of skills, experience and perspectives.
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Director Nomination Policy

In accordance with code provision L(d)(ii) of the amended CG Code,
the Company has adopted a director nomination policy for election of
directors (the "Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018.
Such policy sets out the criteria and procedure in the nomination and
appointment of Directors, and ensures that the Board will maintain a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the Company. The Board believes that the defined selection process
is good for corporate governance in ensuring the Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level, and enhancing Board
effectiveness and diversity.

According to the Director Nomination Policy:

(i)  the Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee;

(i)  the Nomination Committee shall identify, consider and
recommend suitable individuals to the Board to consider and
to make recommendations to the Shareholders for election of
Directors at a general meeting either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board;

(iii) in assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee may
make reference to certain selection criteria, such as character,
integrity, professional qualifications and skills, commitment in
respect of available time, and diversity in all aspects; and

(iv) the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board would review the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development of
the directors and the senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In accordance with code provision E.1.5 of the amended CG Code,
the Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on
27 March 2019, which outlines the principles and guidelines that the
Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the Shareholders.
According to the Dividend Policy:

(i)  the Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio, and the Board has absolute discretion to declare and
distribute dividends to the Shareholders subject to the Articles of
Association and all applicable laws and regulations and certain
factors which the Board shall take into account in assessing the
declaration and payment of dividends, such as financial results,
cash flows situation, business conditions and strategies, future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure
plans, and restrictions on the payment of dividend;

(i) the Company’s ability to pay dividends depends substantially
on the receipt of cash contributions (i.e. dividends) from its
subsidiaries. The ability of these subsidiaries to pay dividends and
make other payments to the Company will likewise be restricted
by the requirements in their constitutional documents and the
relevant laws and regulations of the jurisdiction to which they
are formed and other applicable laws and regulations; and

(iiiy dividends, if declared, may be paid in cash or by shares.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company during the Review
Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company, Zhonghui
Anda CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 110 to 118 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

INTERNAL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board oversees risk management functions directly and
also through the Audit Committee and the senior management, and
will assess the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems at least once a year.

The senior management is responsible for the overall implementation
of risk management and internal control plans and policies
determined by the Board and managing the risks in connection with
all of the Company’s business operations. The senior management
identifies, assess and take measures against any significant risks that
the Company is facing, and reviews the risk assessment report on a
quarterly basis and reports to the Board on a semi-annual basis.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and monitoring and overseeing the risk management and internal
control systems through the internal audit department, and reporting
and making recommendations to the Board where appropriate.

The internal audit department oversees the risk management
and internal control systems under the supervision of the Audit
Committee by performing independent audit on the effectiveness and
completeness of the risk management and internal control systems.
It identifies any material risks and makes recommendations on the
improvement and rectification plans and measures and conducts
follow-up audits with regard to the identified issues to ensure the
planned remedial measures that have been duly implemented. The
internal audit department operates independently from the Company’s
business centers and departments and directly reports the audit
findings and follow-up status to the Audit Committee on a quarterly
basis.
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The main responsibilities of the internal audit department are set out
below:

1. In accordance with the requirements and targets of the business
operation and development, the Company will establish and
improve its compliance and internal control systems of the
Group to prevent unauthorized appropriation of assets of the
Group;

2. In line with the corporate strategy and objectives, the Company
will prepare a general scheme for compliance review, and
identify specific review scope and procedures by taking into
consideration various operation segment and management
models;

3. On a quarterly/annual basis, the review will be carried out
either jointly or severally, and on-site inspection will be
implemented through all business processes for the purposes
of exercising related control, including but not limited to
fund budget, contract approval, and procedural review. The
Company will identify potential risks and control deficiency that
has been found, and produce audit findings and rectification
recommendations;

4. The management will be provided reliable financial information
on a timely basis for the purposes of preparing quarterly
financial statements so as to analyze and verify the differences
of the budgets by the Company.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings by the internal
audit department, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the year ended 31 December 2021, and considered that
such systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders are timely
and fully informed about the material developments in the Company’s
business, the Board has adopted the inside information Disclosure
Policy regarding the procedures of proper information disclosure. As
such, the inside information will not be passed on to any external
party.
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Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the Company to
raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was engaged as the Company’s auditors
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021. A breakdown of
the remuneration payable to the external Auditor of the Company,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of the audit services and the
non-audit services conducted during the year ended 31 December
2021 is set out below:

R ER e ERER
Fees Paid/

Service Category Payable
AR®TT

RMB’000

EETRTS Audit Services 6,740.90
FEEFHARTE Non-audit Services 2,639.10
9,380.00

BMELATRE

ARt BANEEMBERBEAQR
WE - BRHRE  FLHAFHRI SR
BHE] 8-

BREGELE  SHTELCERBEER(FE)
BRAR (—REMARFLEERBHESR
RIGRHE) 28R  REXWERD
BEHEBAIFLER - RRBERAAE
RERREFHFARAELAGZEE - it
O BEARMNELRAZHEL (SR)

B -

BRELERARANEIZH/ABAR
ANBEEVBERBEARNMERARL
Ko

REZE2021F12A31BILEE - AR%
AR AT BT ETRAINES .29
EEZ2EADRI5/NEBREFEZESE -

ZE(TR)CEERERAT —T-—FERE

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Zhou Liang (%) is our chief financial officer and joint company
secretary. Please see his biography in the section headed “Senior
Management” of this annual report.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit (Ef24##) is an assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional services
provider specialising in corporate services, and has over 9 years of
experience in corporate secretarial field. He is an associate member
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. In addition, he
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree in finance from the University
of Queensland, Australia.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit's primary corporate contact person at the
Company is Mr. Zhou Liang, who is the chief financial officer and
joint company secretary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Zhou Liang and Mr.
Cheng Ching Kit have complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, general
meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more members deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition
of any one member which is a recognized clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the Shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals
at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph to make
a written requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director of the Company are published on the Company’s
website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address 11/F, Yinli Building
383 Guangyan Road, Jing'an District
Shanghai 200072, China
(For the attention of the Board of Directors/Company
Secretary)
Email . ir@ehousechina.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. The information of the Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At annual general meetings, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company discloses information and publishes periodic reports and
announcements to the public in accordance with the Listing Rules,
the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company
is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful
and complete, thereby enabling Shareholders, investors as well as the
public to make rational and informed decisions.
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To the shareholders of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings
Limited (incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of E-House
(China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
121 to 122, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Material uncertainties relating to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
RMB12,264,659,000 and net cash outflow from operating activities
of approximately RMB2,370,896,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities approximately RMB1,031,973,000 and approximately
RMB9,995,000, respectively. As stated in Note 2, these events or
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

(i) Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") on accounts
receivables, bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties — trade-nature (including those carried at amortised cost
and fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"))

We identified loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivables,
bills receivables and amounts due from related parties —
trade-nature (including those carried at amortised cost and
FVTOCI) as a key audit matter due to the significance to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and the management of the Group
estimates in evaluating the ECL of these receivables.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group's carrying amount of
these receivables measured at amortised cost amounted to
RMB223,639,000, (net of ECL of RMB523,241,000 credited
to the loss allowance account) and the Group's carrying
amount of these receivables measured at FVTOCI amounted to
RMB2,251,496,000 (with ECL of RMB4,671,979,000 recognised
in other comprehensive income without reducing the carrying
amount of these receivables) as disclosed in notes 22, 23
and 24 to the consolidated financial statements, aggregately
representing 33% of the current assets of the Group.

The management of the Group estimated the amount of loss
allowance for ECL on these receivables based on the credit risk
of the respective receivables. These receivables are assessed
on an individual basis for customers with good credit rating
(strategic type customers) or with high credit risk (high risk type
customers or normal risk type customers — credit-impaired) and
the remainings (normal risk type customers — not credit-impaired)
are assessed collectively using provision matrix.

The Group engaged an independent professional valuer in
assessing the ECL on these receivables. The ECL is measured
as the difference of the receivables’ carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows estimated based
on historical settlement pattern, past default experience of the
debtor, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.
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Our procedures in relation to the loss allowance for ECL on
these receivables included:

1.

Obtaining an understanding and assessing the key controls
in respect of ECL assessment on these receivables;

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent professional valuer of the Group;

Involving our internal valuation experts to evaluate the
management of the Group’s judgements in assessing the
valuation methodology in deriving the ECL;

Challenging the Group’s basis and judgements in
determining ECL on these receivables as at 31 December
2021, including (i) their identification and evaluation of
the individually assessed property developer customers
(strategic type customers, high risk type customers,
individually assessed customers or normal risk type
customers — credit-impaired), and (ii) the reasonableness
of the Group's grouping of the remaining property
developer customers (normal risk type customers —
not credit-impaired) into different categories and the
collectively assessed property developer customers using
the provision matrix, and the basis of estimated loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix (with
reference to historical default rates) and forward-looking
information;

Reviewing the historical settlement pattern of the
receivables from property developer customers; and

Testing the appropriateness and accuracy of these
receivables’ ageing report as at 31 December 2021, on a
sample basis, by comparing individual items in the ageing
report with the relevant supporting documents on the
completion of property transfer to buyers and/or other
supporting documents.
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Occurrence in the revenue recognition on real estate agency
services in the primary market

We identified the occurrence in the revenue recognition on
real estate agency services in the primary market as a key audit
matter because the amounts and impact to the Group's financial
performance were significant.

The Group recognised revenue from real estate agency services
in the primary market amounted to RMB1,989,121,000 (included
in note 6) for the year ended 31 December 2021. Revenue from
real estate agency services in the primary market is recognised
when the service is rendered and:

i) the property buyer has executed the sales and purchase
agreement and made the required down-payment; or

i)  the sales and purchase agreement has been registered with
the relevant government authorities according to the terms
and conditions stated in different agency contracts.

Our procedures in relation to the real estate agency services in
the primary market included:

1. Understanding the Group's process for approving the
real estate agency framework agreements in the primary
market;

2.  Obtaining an understanding and assessing the key controls
in respect of the occurrence in the revenue recognition on
real estate agency services in the primary market;

3. Selecting transactions, on a sample basis, of the real estate
agency services in the primary market and:

- obtaining and verifying the terms and conditions set
out in the real estate agency framework agreements
regarding the criteria of satisfaction of performance
obligation;

- obtaining the relevant supporting documents on the
completion of sales;

- checking and verifying the commission rate used
to recognise the revenue from real estate agency
framework agreements in the primary market; and

- tracking the settlement records, on sample basis,
during the year and subsequent to the end of
reporting period to bank slips, if any.
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4.  Sending confirmations to property developer customers, on
a sample basis, to validate the relevant real estate agency
service transactions conducted by the Group; and

5.  Visiting the real estate projects for which the Group
provides the real estate agency services, on a sample basis,
to verify validity of the real estate projects and observe the
Group's real estate agency services.

Impairment assessments of goodwill and intangible assets

We identified impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
arising from the acquisition of Leju as a key audit matter because
the amounts were significant and assessment of impairment
involved significant estimation uncertainty.

As disclosed in note 19, 20 and 40, the Group had goodwill
and intangible assets of RMB544,114,000 and RMB654,907,000
arising from the acquisition of Leju during the year ended 31
December 2020, respectively. The carrying amounts of such
intangible assets were RMB329,367,000 as at 31 December
2021.

Leju incurred losses during the year ended 31 December 2021,
following a review of the related business, along with the
adverse changes in external market conditions, this has increased
the risk that carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets
may be impaired.

The management of the Group reviews the recoverable amounts
of the relevant assets or cash generating units (“CGUs") (which
is the higher of its value-in-use and its fair value less costs of
disposal) to determine whether there is any impairment loss.

The recoverable amounts of those intangible assets or CGUs
were determined based on a value-in-use calculations required
significant management judgement with respect to the discount
rates and the assumptions adopted in the underlying cash
flows of each asset or CGUs. The recoverable amounts of those
intangible assets or CGUs were determined based on fair values
less costs of disposal, also required management judgement.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
had recognised impairment loss of RMB544,114,000 and
RMB179,229,000 in relation to goodwill and intangible assets
arising from the acquisition of Leju, respectively.
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Leju included:

1.

Obtaining an understanding of the management’s internal
controls and process of the recoverable amounts; and
assessing the inherent risks of material misstatements
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud;

THREREZNGERELEE 2. Understanding the management’s approach on identification
BB IR 8750 i 5 B 18 I8 /Y of indicators on impairment of goodwill and intangible
HERBEARAER assets and checking whether the management’s approach
is reasonable and supportable;
MZES KB L HERER AT 3.  For those assessments involving an independent professional
hmE @ AHEEBERE D B valuer, assessing its competence, capabilities and
BEAREHE  WRBEEER objectivity, and verifying its qualification; discussing the
HERENwm LEHEWENE scope of work with the management and reviewing its
BEER DA BE E W SR AT fE (R R 2 terms of engagement to determine that there were no
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=== limitations upon it;
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BN EZRBZURBLEET and industry trend, and comparing operating margins and
BRIRAE REBERRETL revenue growth against historical performance; and
) &
ERMABHEEERNOBEIT - 5.  With the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
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assessing whether the assumptions of projected cash flows
forecasts, prepared by the management, adopted in the
models are reasonable and supportable; and reviewing
sensitivity analysis prepared by the management.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the

consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at: https:/Amww.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre.

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P05498

Hong Kong, 21 November 2022



mEBRERHEMEZE KSR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

fftat 20214 2020

ARBTR ARETT

Notes 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

WA Revenue 6 8,865,987 8,051,509

8 THRA Staff costs 12 (3,243,221) (2,734,263)

SEREERS Advertising and promotion expenses (3,048,306) (946,816)
RHEE  KEBEEME Rental expenses for short-term leases,

M SHEMNHESRAY low-value assets leases and variable leases (111,398) (33,628)
MERBHERY Depreciation and amortisation expenses 12 (435,347) (210,570)
HEREREEEX ([FHEE Loss allowance on financial assets subject to

BR)MepEERBRE expected credit loss (“ECL"), net of reversal

(FNERFEE) 9A (8,963,718) (172,548)
BIFHERIE AR BEFEWE A Loss on derecognition of receivables

Hip 2wk ([ AREMEE  at fair value through other comprehensive

Wt AEA 2 E U |) BB income ("FVTOCI”)

HEANER (5.651) (14,651)
HRIERBEERNRMBEELR Impairment losses recognised on

non-current assets 9C (858,534) -
B Consultancy expenses (305,714) (228,357)
k=153 Distribution expenses (2,462,261) (2,395,799)
H A a8 Ak AR Other operating costs (717,743) (359,388)
H A YA Other income 8 198,396 140,199
HAbWes & E1E Other gains and losses 9B (214,741) 72,345
Hibkx Other expenses (29,667) (15,583)
FE(L B & N B 4R Share of results of associates (33,039) 21,056
B Finance costs 10 (538,800) (481,913)
Bia (F8) /FE (Loss)/profit before taxation (11,903,757) 691,593
ISR x Income tax expense 11 (360,902) (252,371)
ER(ER)FE (Loss)/profit for the year (12,264,659) 439,222
FREMZE (X)W Other comprehensive (expense)/income
for the year
HEBEEN S B EBmmIEE - Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
BAREEFELETAEMEE  Fair value changes on receivables
W B EBGRIE A 7 BEEE) measured at FVTOCI (4,671,979) (119,196)
BRARBETELTAEMERE  Net changes in ECL of receivables
W M ERRIBTEAEEE X measured at FVTOC|
BE)FR 4,671,979 119,196
BREBINEBEENELZRE Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations 3,780 19,465
FRHM2EKZ - FOBRATEH Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of income tax 3,780 19,465
FRE2ME (BX) WREHE Total comprehensive (expense)/income
for the year 12 (12,260,879) 458,687
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HEeRBaRkEMEEKE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2021F12A31HLEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

st 202145 20204
ARBTR ARBTIT
Notes 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
THALEEER (BEB), 7B :  (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
ANRARER A Owners of the Company (11,642,687) 304,413
s Non-controlling interests (621,972) 134,809
(12,264,659) 439,222
FAZME BIX) W EHE : Total comprehensive (expense)/income
for the year:
RREEBA Owners of the Company (11,640,065) 315,255
FEPE IR Non-controlling interests (620,814) 143,432
(12,260,879) 458,687
S (F8) &R (Loss)/earnings per share 15
—ER(ARED) — Basic (RMB cents) (665.65) 21.11
—#E(AR%ED) ~ Diluted (RMB cents) (665.65) 17.70
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=5 B ik R &
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

72021512 831H Asat 31 December 2021

fftat 20214 2020
ARBTR ARBTIT
Notes 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
EYSER Property and equipment 16 1,109,694 1,077,120
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 17 350,755 542,331
BB Investment properties 18 648,992 700,996
S Goodwill 19 - 549,223
B EE Intangible assets 20 1,907,583 699,474
N NG 2y Interests in associates 21 71,635 300,694
e FB B 77 SRR Amounts due from related parties 23 492 11,135
EERIBEE Deferred tax assets 31 402,987 845,467
HMIEmen&EE Other non-current assets 22 83,020 594,366
4,575,158 5,320,806
nREEE Current assets
JFEE LAT B K % Mk ZE Accounts receivables and bills receivables 22 223,639 1,066,285
HoAth & IR IR Other receivables 22 621,624 2,322,991
e FB B 77 5K IR Amounts due from related parties 23 33,540 293,945
BRARBEFELTAEMEE  Receivables at FVTOC

Wz 1 FE s 5k IR 24

— FEUER R R R UM R — accounts receivables and bills receivables 1,985,190 4,813,186

— [EMR A 5 5B — amounts due from related parties

— EUERR — accounts receivables 266,306 2,152,393
BREE Contract assets 8,936 8,628
BRAREBETETTAER Financial assets at fair value through

([EAnEEF 2L AEBZE])  profit or loss (“FVTPL")

BEREE 25 212,848 1,388,027
TR HIRTT 484 Restricted bank balances 26 132,198 284,943
BEEMRITIER Pledged bank deposits 26 755,136 605,902
ReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 26 3,314,741 7,515,836

7,554,158 20,452,136
REAE Current liabilities
FEATBR 5K Accounts payables 27 1,193,091 1,374,616
BEBK Advance from customers 27 652,744 721,827
st e REFFX Accrued payroll and welfare expenses 522,921 752,392
Hh fE T 5118 Other payables 27 715,449 976,912
aBHEE Contract liabilities 28 181,394 156,368
e Tax payables 1,370,183 1,396,756
JE 1~ A HSE 75 k1A Amounts due to related parties 23 185,664 155,662
RITIE K Bank borrowings 29A 1,774,946 1,641,115
H 5K Other borrowings 29A 1,894,405 1,952,623
HEBE Lease liabilities 30 95,334 101,842

8,586,131 9,230,113
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A MR R R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

72021128318 As at 31 December 2021

KaE 20214 20204
ARETR ARETTT
Notes 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
e (AE)BERE Net current (liabilities)/assets (1,031,973) 11,222,023
EEABERABEE Total assets less current liabilities 3,543,185 16,542,829
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RIEFHIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 31 162,210 201,058
RITIER Bank borrowings 29A 546,519 580,188
H & 5K Other borrowings 29A 1,889,462 3,195,350
R EE Convertible note 29B 756,912 840,372
HEAE Lease liabilities 30 198,077 232,210
3,553,180 5,049,178
(BfE)BEEE Net (liabilities)/assets (9,995) 11,493,651
e Equity
[N Share capital 32 116 116
B E Share premium 6,148,273 6,239,597
] Reserves (7,312,918) 4,024,462
RAREE AEEER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company (1,164,529) 10,264,175
PR i a Non-controlling interests 45 1,154,534 1,229,476
R Total equity (9,995) 11,493,651
FIRIBEEF122ENGAUEHREABEETSHR2022F 11 A21 B ETRERET > WHAN TEERERESE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 121 to 122 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 21 November 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

=5REES
Huang Canhao, DIRECTOR

S (FE) EEZRERAF

— %= —

—=

Ding

THEESE

Zuyu, DIRECTOR
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mERETRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

20215 20204
AR¥TR ARETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
RETHFMBRERE Cash flows from operating activities
Fial (E18) / FE (Loss)/profit before taxation (11,903,757) 691,593
AT ZIEFE Adjustments for:
BB ERH Amortisation of intangible assets 172,736 34,569
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 36,223 20,623
MEKHETE Depreciation of property and equipment 93,287 41,124
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 133,101 114,254
VARG HE 45 B B9 R A7 1< R B S2 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 14,309 59,932
ATRREEN AL EE RS Fair value gain on convertible note (109,730) (37,582)
AE KA Finance costs 538,800 481,913
i L) PG Gain on de-registration of subsidiaries (92) =
HERIEMBEERRERSK Impairment losses recognised in non-current
assets 858,534 -
FEWA Interest income (43,588) (67,193)
HERESAEERAN S REER Loss allowance on financial assets subject to
R R (R B ) ECL, net of reversal 8,963,718 172,548
RILERIE AR BE 2 WA AR Loss on derecognition of receivables at
2 WE B WK IB B B R FVTOCI 5,651 14,651
i‘i)‘iﬁ%/ Wi ) HEE Net exchange loss/(gain) 6,563 (31,058)
AR EBEEN G ABRD Net fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at
SRMEENLDABEBE () F8 FVTPL 324,663 (4,188)
HEREMFEN = FEE Net gain on disposal of investment properties (57) (545)
RILEREEEREEAEZ WaFHE Net gain on termination of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities (2,852) (317)
HEMERZEN (K), BEFE Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property and
equipment (3,833) 1,316
HEREE A R ER R B Net loss on disposal of interests in associates 79 29
el /NG Share of results of associates 33,039 (21,056)
EEESBHIINLCEHERE Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital (883,206) 1,470,613
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126 ZE(FE)ECEZRERAT

GERTRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

20214 2020
ARETR ARETIT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEUER R R FE R IR R Decrease in accounts receivables and bills
receivables 317,659 1,051,302
e & REFFSR D Decrease in accrued payroll and welfare
expenses (238,472) (238,856)
RE#F0R Decrease in advances from customers (69,415) (124,121)
JRE 5 A B 5 R IR A Decrease in amounts due from related parties 39,801 14,705
JE 1 B Bk 5 SR IBR Decrease in amounts due to related parties (96,535) (104,058)
Hib3EmEEEm D Decrease in other non-current assets 705,383 2,009
H b B 5 SR IR A Decrease in other payables (80,994) (514,352)
FEATBRZR G4 ),/ 3840 (Decrease)/increase in accounts payables (183,641) 108,996
BHEEEMN Increase in contract assets (215) (7,570)
SR BEEMN Increase in contract liabilities 25,026 18,223
H A fE U SR IEE AN Increase in other receivables (1,666,962) (686,361)
BAREBEFETFAEMBEE Increase in receivables at FVTOCI
Yo 5 ) JE M R IR 35 A (200,105) (171,540)
SR HI SR T &SRR IE N Increase in restricted bank balances (14,913) (13,643)
" (frH) /SR Cash (used in)/generated from operations (2,346,589) 805,347
B FTSHL Income tax paid (67,895) (45,834)
BIF B Interest received 43,588 67,193
BETEE (FTA) / FEREFHE Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities (2,370,896) 826,706

—E-—FER

==4
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20214 2020
ARETR ARETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
REZHFMBERERE Cash flows from investing activities
HENAREBEFEL T ABEN Proceeds arising from disposal of financial
TRIEEMSRIEA assets measured at FVTPL 987,401 1,610,318
R IR RITIF K Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 598,150 991,054
FEIE R E N A AR EE Proceeds arising from de-registration and
BIFT1S5KIR disposal of interests in associates 239,517 -
R (B REXEBRESH Withdrawal of/(prepayment for) proposed equity
EERkERE investment in a business management fund 100,000 (100,000)
HEREMEMSHRIE Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 33,443 8,778
BAEE RN Repayments from related parties 20,134 3,019
AR BEET ABEN Interest received on financial assets at FVTPL
CREENEKA A 15,783 18,186
ERWENBARKEEEN Net cash inflow/(outflow) on acquisition of
BERA/CRt) F58 assets through acquisition of subsidiaries 12,439 (1,332,813)
HEWE KR ERERIE Proceeds from disposal of property and
equipment 11,589 1,691
=B () HERE Withdrawal of/(payments for) rental deposits 4,030 (6,972)
B E AR R E Cash dividend of associates received - 1,864
BUHERBRBNEELS Return of deposits from an independent sales
NBIE 2B agent for acquisition of Tangchao Grand
Hotel - 250,000
FEERERFREWE e Return of deposits from shareholders of
ZEe (E&RMHE38) Shanghai Wanju for acquisition of Shanghai
Wanju (as defined in note 38) - 250,000
Uiz 121 2 48 85 B A 5T 2 A S (2] 78 Lk Proceeds arising from collection of Repurchase
THE M FTSRIE Receivables measured at amortised cost - 112,000
BEEFEE Purchase of intangible assets (647) (288)
m) B e 5 B3R Advances to related parties (1,158) (15,985)
m— g AREE Capital injection to an associate (1,475) i
WK EARMES (RL),/ Net cash (outflow)/inflow on acquisition of
MAEH subsidiaries (59,814) 1,919,282
BEUAABENELT AR Purchase of financial assets measured at FVTPL
HEmEE (152,669) (1,313,822)
B YR REREARIED % R Purchase of and deposits placed for acquisition
BENZE of property and equipment (369,185) (176,564)
ME=FREER Loan to third party (372,264) -
TFHEEFRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits (765,947) (634,738)
REZEMBHEEFE Net cash generated from investing activities 299,327 1,585,010
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GERTRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

20214 2020
ARETR ARBTFT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
RMETHMERERE Cash flows from financing activities
MESHRITER New bank borrowings raised 1,941,641 2,763,775
RIBLHEIE T UL B B 4% 1 i R LUK Collection of derecognised receivables under
factoring arrangement 1,000,000 1,264,258
MESR EA G New other borrowings raised 639,720 2,036,920
A EsE 7 2K Advances from related parties 26,583 17,467
FEERARF L E Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 2,600 3,230
TR IR TS 5 1R Proceeds from exercise of share options 1,353 2,848
B R SHA RN RIS Repurchase and cancellation of shares of the
Company - (23,672)
/NG e A== N e gl Issue of shares of the Company to Alibaba
Subsidiary - 713,159
BT BRRER Issue of convertible note - 888,672
2HREES Factoring commission paid (5,651) (14,651)
HEZTEBEZBENBITRAE Issue costs paid for senior notes issued (8,636) (30,090)
[BIREANE 5 E Repayments to related parties (63,281) (28,132)
=S s Dividends paid to shareholders (91,324) (214,456)
Eﬁafﬁf\ﬁﬁ Repayments of lease liabilities (119,561) (118,546)
AN T BT 8 2 R AR AR SR A0 AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries (123,741) (118,231)
EATHE Interest paid (445,692) (375,765)
RIBLHEIA MER B R LR EYGIE Repayment of derecognised receivables under
factoring arrangement (1,000,000) (1,300,000)
EERITER Repayments of bank borrowings (1,841,479) (2,390,472)
1838 H At {8 5K Repayments of other borrowings (1,971,390) (12,046)
METH (FTA) FMERSFE Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities (2,058,858) 3,064,268
e RBASEEY (RD) /BinFHE Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents (4,130,427) 5,475,984
FNRERASEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 7,515,836 2,294,435
ERSEHHR Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (70,668) (254,583)
FEREASRELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year 3,314,741 7,515,836
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HZE2021F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

GENERAL INFORMATION

E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands on 22 February 2010. The Company's shares
have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 20 July 2018. The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and the principal
place of business are PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and 11/F, Qiushi Building,
383 Guangyan Road, Jing'an District, Shanghai 200072, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries, and upon the acquisition of
Leju, its subsidiaries and consolidated variable interest entities
(the “Leju Group"”) completed on 4 November 2020 (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) offers a wide range of services to
the real estate industry, including real estate agency services in
the primary market, real estate data and consulting services, real
estate brokerage network services and digital marketing services
in the PRC.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately RMB12,264,659,000
and net cash outflow from operating activities of approximately
RMB2,370,896,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 and,
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities approximately RMB1,031,973,000 and approximately
RMB9,995,000, respectively. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The management of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group will actively improve working capital to meet its financial
liabilities as and when they fall due given that (i) the Group will
be able to raise fund to finance the working capital requirements
of the Group; (ii) the Group will continue to take active
measures to control administrative costs and maintain capital
expenditure; and (iii) the Group will continue to implement
measures to accelerate the collection of outstanding receivables.

Accordingly, the management of the Company are of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to the consolidated financial statements,
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB")
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 January 2021. IFRSs comprise International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting
Standards (“IAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised IFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not early applied any new or revised IFRSs
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period,
except for the amendment to IFRS16 “COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions”. Impact on the application of the amendment to
IFRS16 is summarised below.

Amendment to IFRS 16 “COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions”

Amendments to IFRS 16 only apply to lessee accounting and
have no effect on lessor accounting. The amendments provide
a practical expedient that allows a lessee to by-pass the need to
evaluate whether certain qualifying rent concessions occurring as
a direct consequence of the COVID-19 (“COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions”) are lease modification and, instead, account for
those rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

131



132

HE2021F12A31 B IEFE

e W BRRNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(BRI E3RE 2R ) 51655
{£5Ta [ EECOVID-19EBEH
HEEE|(H)

ZEBREEMNAAEZEERB N HE
COVID-19E6EHMHEESER - BNERA
TS 2R ER TER

a) MENRWNEHEFHBENE
BRERT - MEETHRERER
EZEFHRNHEREANBAER -
FOREREBHENEERE :

b) MENFNEAHNREZERT
7202146 830 H s 2 /i3 &
2R (Bl W—ERSESR
EH 2021456 A30H sk 28]
MM ERRE TR - BEEM
MEEMNFAIEHRE2021F6A
308 21 - BlItIEEER & LG
%) &

o MHEMEMERIRGHLEES

#eh

= °©

AEEEREBIRFERNZEBITAE
WHZEREENAAEREREN
BTASERMEEEKECOVID-19
ABRAMNAEESER -

HER BURBOHESEZSEREER
BREFANEAABANRBAE
1Bas [ H et | h iR - £72021 41
AVENBERERY ERE

7K 5 (B3R PR B2 2 75 18 0 R 0 R R 3R
S RA NI ST (BB s
#8)) - TEHAEBHEA NS TR
EEEAVE -

ZE(TE)CEZRERAT —T—FEHSE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendment to IFRS 16 “COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions” (Continued)

The practical expedient is only applicable to COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions and only if all of the following conditions are
met:

a) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same
as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021 (for example, a
rent concession would meet this condition if it results in
reduced lease payments on or before 30 June 2021 and
increased lease payments that extend beyond 30 June
2021); and

C) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments and
applies the practical expedient to all qualifying COVID-19-
Related Rent Concessions granted to the Group during the year.

Consequently, rent concessions received have been recognised in
“other income” in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers those payments occurred. There is no
impact on the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2021.

The application of the new or revised IFRS that have been issued
but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group will not have material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policy set out
below.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the Directors to
exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-controlling shareholders
and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for impairment
losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share
of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the
Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of
acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive
income, the amount that was recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised on the same basis as would be required if
the previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in
the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention
and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s
share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that associate and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant
activities are activities that significantly affect the returns of the
arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group considers
its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held
by other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its assets,
including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities,
including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenue
from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint
operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the output
by the joint operation; and its expenses, including its share
of any expenses incurred jointly, in accordance with the IFRSs
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the joint venture's
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group's share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results
in a loss of joint control represents the difference between
(i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that joint venture and (ii)
the Group’s share of the net assets of that joint venture plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate, the Group continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

()

(i)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements The shorter of the term of the relevant
lease or their estimated useful lives

Leasehold land and
buildings

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles

Over 22 — 30 years
Over 3 - 5 years
Over 5 years

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is
measured initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable
to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use
by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation
of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:
Properties leased for own use 2 — 20 years
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor
Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are
available for use. Amortisation for intangible assets, except for
brand name, with finite useful lives is provided on straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Software Over 0.5 — 10 years
Domain 5 years

Exclusive cooperative rights Over 3.5 — 6 years
Business relationship Over 5.75 — 10 years
Others 10 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives including brand
name are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. An internally generated
intangible asset arising from the Group’s development is

recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

- An asset is created that can be identified (such as software
and new processes);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits; and

- The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not
retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised
at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except
in the case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in consolidated profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost;

- Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income; and

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Debt investments are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling assets; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss.

The assets are treated as monetary items. A foreign
currency asset is treated as an asset measured at amortised
cost in the foreign currency. Exchange differences on the
amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss.

Other gains or losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the debt
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the debt investment revaluation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss.

The loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised
in other comprehensive income and does not reduce the
carrying amount of the assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised
cost and the conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income on
initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses
recognised in consolidated profit or loss are net of any
interest income and dividend income. Interest income and
dividend income are recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets (including accounts receivables, bills receivables,
amounts due from related parties, contract assets, receivables at
FVTOCI, other receivables, deposits paid to property developers,
deposits paid for acquisition of property and equipment, rental
deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances) and other items which are subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivables, amounts due from related parties of trade nature —
accounts receivables, bills receivables, receivables at FVTOCI and
contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i)
it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term, and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a de-registration
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
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The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
measurement of ECL on accounts receivables, amounts due
from related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables,
bills receivables, receivables at FVTOCI and contract assets
are assessed on an individual basis for customers with
good credit rating (strategic type customers) or with high
credit risk (normal risk type customers — credit-impaired,
high risk type customers or individually assessed customers)
or debtors with significant outstanding balances are
assessed for ECL individually, and the remaining (normal
risk type customers — not credit-impaired) is assessed
collectively using provision matrix. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on these assets using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
settlement pattern, past default experience of the debtor,
fair value of real estate properties obtained as collateral,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with IFRS 16.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivables, amounts
due from related parties of trade nature — accounts
receivables, bills receivables, receivables at FVTOCI and
contract assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for receivables at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amounts through a loss allowance account. For
receivables at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income without reducing the carrying
amount of these receivables. Such amount represents the
changes in relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of receivables at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserves is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk
of change in value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Convertible notes

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a
conversion option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the debt component of the convertible note is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
note are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating
to the derivative component are charged to profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs relating to the debt component
are included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible note using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. A performance obligation represents a service
(or a bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
services that are substantially the same. Control is transferred
over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation.

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the
most likely amount, depending on which method better predicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in
the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Variable consideration (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from real estate agency services in the primary market
and distribution business in the primary market (included in the
real estate brokerage network services) is recognised at a point
in time when the service is rendered and (a) the property buyer
has executed the sales and purchase agreement and made the
required downpayment or (b) the sales and purchase agreement
has been registered with the relevant government authorities
according to the terms and conditions stated in different agency
contracts, since only by that time the Group has a present
right to payment from the property developers for the services
performed.

For the real estate agency services in the primary market, the
Group’s commission rate receivable is variable based on a pre-
agreed sales target. Prior to the time that the Group’s sales met
the pre-agreed sales target, the Group will recognise revenue
based on a lower commission rate. until when the pre-agreed
sales target is met, the Group will recognise the incremental
revenue, representing the variable considerations, at the higher
commission rate on the performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods.

Revenue from real estate consultancy services is recognised at a
point in time when the service is rendered and the customer (i.e.
property developer) has received and endorsed the consultancy
report, since only by that time the Group has a present right to
payment for the services performed.

Revenue from real estate data services, a fee-based subscription
to the Group’s proprietary CRIC system, which are a series of
proprietary real estate database and analysis system developed
by the Group, is recognised over time (i.e. subscription period)
because the customer (i.e. property developer) simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the entity's
performance as the entity performed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

For the distribution business in the primary market, the Group’s
commission rate receivable is based on a pre-agreed commission
rate.

Revenue from other services in the real estate brokerage
network services is recognised at a point in time when the sales
are completed, since only by that time the Group has a present
right to payment from the small to medium-sized secondary real
estate brokerage stores for the services performed.

Revenue from E-commerce services is recognised at a point in
time when discount coupons are used by the customer (i.e.
individual property buyer), since only by that time the customer
can purchase specified properties from real estate developers at
discounts greater than the face value of the fees charged by the
Group.

Revenue from online advertising services is recognised over time
(i.e. advertising period) when the service is rendered and the
customer (i.e. property developer) simultaneously received and
consumed the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as
the entity performed.

Revenue from listing services in the network services is
recognised over time because the customers (i.e. real estate
brokers) simultaneously received and consumed the benefits
provided by the entity’s performance as the entity performed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other revenue

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Employee benefits

()

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit scheme cost charged in profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details
of which are given in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured
at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based
vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that
are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with
the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in consolidated
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s various
lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A);

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in consolidated profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in consolidated profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful completion of the debt
restructuring and certain measures as mentioned in note
2 to improve its operating results and cash flows. The
directors of the Company believe that the Group will have
sufficient funds to finance its current working capital
requirements in the next twelve months from the end
of the reporting date. Details are explained in note 2 to
consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

b)

Judgements in determining the performance
obligations

Note 4 describes the revenue recognition basis to each
of the Group’s revenue stream. The recognition of the
Group's revenue from the real estate agency services in the
primary market requires judgement by the management of
the Group in determining the performance obligations.

In making their judgement, the directors of the Company
consider the detailed criteria for recognition of revenue
set out in IFRS 15 with reference to the details terms of
transaction as stipulated in the contracts entered into with
its customers and counterparties.

For the real estate agency services in the primary market,
although such services includes certain promotional and
marketing activities (including formulating and executing
marketing and sales strategies) to facilitate the sales
transaction of first-hand property units for the property
developers, the respective service fee was either included
in the pre-determined commission rate of the transaction
price of each property unit sold or the respective cost of
services was repayable to the Group on reimbursement
basis. Therefore, the management of the Group assessed
that the promotional and marketing services were not
distinct and account for all the services performed as a
single performance obligation.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

)

Principal versus agent assessment in revenue
recognition of online advertising business

In respect of the online advertising services, the Group
mainly through Leju provides comprehensive advertisement
placement services to the advertisers (i.e., property
developers) through a packaged online cross-media and
cross-platform product portfolio, including those owned
by the Group and other independent publishers. The
management of Group considers that the Group acts
as a principal in this arrangement because the Group
is a contracting party to its advertisers and is primarily
responsible for delivering the specified service to the
advertisers. The Group controls the specified service before
that service is transferred to an advertiser because (i) the
Group has the discretion to decide which media publishers
to be used and what type of the advertisements to be
placed; (i) the Group is subject to certain risk of loss to the
extent that the cost paid to the media publishers which is
charged to the Group based on a number of methodology,
including viewship (CPM) or click (CPC) or others, cannot
be compensated by the total consideration obtained from
the advertisers; and (iii) the Group has the discretion to
determine the cost charged to the advertisers, which
affects the Group’s margin as the costs incurred to deliver
might vary. Therefore, the Group reports revenue earned
from the advertisers and costs paid to the media publishers
related to these transactions on a gross basis.

In addition, the management of the Group considers
the Group acts as an agent for those arrangements that
the Group only earns agreed rebates from certain media
publishers and recognises such rebates as revenue on a
net basis. Media publishers grant the Group rebates in the
form of prepayments for the media publishers’ services
or cash, mainly based on the gross spending of the
advertisers. In some circumstances, the Group will share
with its advertisers certain amount of the rebates earned
from the media publishers, of which is accounted for as a
reduction of the rebates, and the Group recognises such
net amount of rebates as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below:

a)

Loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivables,
bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties - accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) (“Trade
Related Balances”)

Trade Related Balances with good credit rating (strategic
type customers), high credit risk (normal risk type
customers — credit-impaired or high risk type customers) or
debtors with significant outstanding balances are assessed
for ECL individually, and the remaining (normal risk type
customers — not credit-impaired) is estimated collectively
using the provision matrix, based on historical settlement
pattern, past default experience of the debtor, fair value
of real estate properties obtained as collateral, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The assessment of the credit risk of the Trade Related
Balances involves high degree of estimation and
uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are more
than expected, a material reversal of loss allowance for ECL
may arise. However, when the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, a material impairment loss for ECL may
arise, the credit risk of the customer might be assessed as
credit-impaired, and it might further affect the revenue
recognition and/or measurement, resulting in a material
reduction to the amount of revenue.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

a)

Loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivables,
bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties - accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) (“Trade
Related Balances”) (Continued)

During the current year, the Group identified a significant
amount of Trade Related Balances due from certain
property developer customer had become overdue.
Based on the facts and circumstances currently available,
the credit risk of certain property developer customer
is assessed to be increased significantly at the end of
reporting period.

Although the credit risk of certain property developer
customer as at 31 December 2021 has been assessed as
increased significantly and a significant amount of ECL has
been recognised in the current year, in the near future,
if any one or more events arisen from certain property
developer customer that might have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the Trade Related
Balances will have occurred, its respective outstanding
Trade Related Balances might then result in a significant
amount of additional ECL to be recognised in profit or loss
at that time. In addition, if the Group continues providing
future services to certain property developer customer, a
material uncertainty might arise in assessing the Group's
probability to collect the consideration, it might also affect
the revenue recognition and/or measurement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

a)

Loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivables,
bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties - accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) (“Trade
Related Balances”) (Continued)

The Group, with the engagement of a firm of independent
professional valuers, performed ongoing assessment on
the ECL at the end of each reporting period or upon
a significant change in the circumstances affecting
the credit quality of its customers. As at 31 December
2021, based on the valuation result prepared by the
firm of independent professional valuers, the fair value
of the Group’s receivables at FVTOCI amounted to
RMB2,251,496,000, which included with ECL amounting
to RMB5,658,187,000 (2020: RMB6,965,579,000,which
included with ECL amounting to RMB986,208,000) as
disclosed in note 24 and the carrying amount of the
Group’s accounts receivables, bill receivables and amounts
due from related parties — accounts receivables carried
at amortised cost amounted to RMB233,132,000, net of
loss allowance for ECL amounted to RMB669,387,000
(2020: RMB1,326,276,000, net of loss allowance for
ECL amounted to RMB16,462,000), as disclosed in notes
22 and 23, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

b)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end
of the reporting period was RMBnil after an impairment
loss of RMB549,223,000 was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2021. Details of the impairment
loss calculation are provided in note 19 to consolidated
financial statements.

The policy for impairment of intangible assets of the Group
is based on an evaluation of their recoverable amount
with reference to expected future cash flows based on
management’s estimation. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in estimating the expected future
cash flows from the Group’s intangible assets. If the
recoverable amounts are less or more than expected than
the carrying amounts of the intangible assets, or changes
in facts and circumstances which may result in revisions of
the estimated future cash flows, impairment or reversal of
impairment loss may be required.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

)

d)

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward
and deductible temporary differences are recognised and
measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the relevant assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of each reporting date. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a number of
assumptions related to the operating environment of the
Group and require a significant level of judgement on the
part of the directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgement would affect the carrying amounts of deferred
tax assets to be recognised and hence the net profit in
future years.

Fair value measurement and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management
of the Group is responsible for determining the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. When
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group uses valuation
techniques that include inputs that are not based on
observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments. Note 35(c) provides detailed
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
various types of financial instruments.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

e)

Fair value of convertible notes

The Group has issued Convertible Note to Alibaba
Noteholder (as defined in note 29B) during 2020 as set out
in note 29B.

Derivative component of conversion right was recorded
as financial liabilities at FVTPL for which no quoted prices
in an active market exist. The fair value of the financial
instruments is established by using Black-Scholes option
pricing model involving various parameters and inputs.
Valuation techniques are certified by an independent
qualified professional valuer before being implemented
for valuation and are calibrated to ensure that outputs
reflect market conditions. However, it should be noted
that some inputs, such as the volatility of the stock price
of the ordinary shares of the Company and discount rate,
require management estimates. Management estimates
and assumptions are reviewed periodically and are
adjusted if necessary. Should any of the estimates and
assumptions changed, it may lead to a change in the fair
value of the financial liabilities at FVTPL. The fair value of
the derivative component of the Convertible Note of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 is RMB13,773,000 (2020:
RMB124,786,000).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

f)

Fair value determination of the identifiable assets
and liabilities assumed through acquisition

As disclosed in note 39, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of Shanghai Tianji Network Service Co., Ltd (“Tianji
Network”) which have been completed on 30 May 2021.
As disclosed in note 38, the Group acquired 70.23%
equity interest of TM Home on 24 November 2021. The
directors of the Company are required to measure the
fair value of identifiable assets acquired, including any
identifiable intangible assets, and liabilities assumed at
the date of the acquisition. Such fair value determination
requires significant judgements and estimates adopted in
the purchase price allocation exercised by the independent
valuer and the management of the Group. Details of
acquisition of Tianji Network and TM Home by the Group
during the year are set out in note 39 and note 38.



A 6. REVENUE

AEEMNKARBE(N) —FERER The Group derives its revenue from (1) real estate agency services
% QRMESENFHRRSE - B)E in the primary market, (2) real estate data and consulting
I E SRS IRTS - R(A)EFEE R services, (3) real estate brokerage network services and (4)
& o EEARE (BB B ISR R ) 5 digital marketing services. This is consistent with the revenue
SHMBEE R 2RO I EAWA information that is disclosed for each operating and reportable
B —5 segment under IFRS 8:

20214 20204

AR®T ARKET T

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

R —BE2ERN—FE  Real estate agency services in the primary market,

I AR 7S recognised at a point in time 1,989,121 3,203,543
[ 3 B 2R 2 A R AR TS Real estate data and consulting services
— ER R H - consulting services, recognised at
BR 75 a point in time 704,561 789,839
— EX—ERERNEIE - data services, recognised over time (note a)
BR7#% (Hizta) 212,121 197,183
916,682 987,022
[ Hh EE AR A0 AR AR AR TS Real estate brokerage network services
— AR BE#ERHN—F - distribution business in the primary market,
iE e recognised at a point in time 2,465,704 2,707,310
— AR BN EM - other services, recognised at a point in time
BR 75 51,329 24,957
2,517,033 2,732,267
7 & IR Digital marketing services
— EX-KHERNE — E-commerce, recognised at a point in
7% (Hztb) time (note b) 2,649,367 782,051
— IR EEE R 2 - Online advertising services, recognised
R R A LB RS over time on a gross basis 785,967 343,870
— BB EEEER 2 - Online advertising services, recognised
RN L E SRS over time on a net basis 4,587 1,746
— ERE—BZRERMEE - Listing services, recognised over time
AR5 3,230 1,010
3,443,151 1,128,677
8,865,987 8,051,509
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. REVENUE (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2021, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations in relation to the consulting
fee income and fee-based subscription fee income that were
unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied amounted to RMB152,400,000
(2020: RMB126,323,000) and were accounted for as contract
liabilities as set out in note 28.

As at 31 December 2021, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations in relation to the E-commerce
service income that were unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
amounted to RMB28,994,000 (2020: RMB30,045,000) and were
accounted for as contract liabilities as set out in note 28.

The management of the Group expects the transaction price
allocated to the abovementioned unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied contracts will be recognised in full as revenue within
the coming twelve months period.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to Chief Executive Officer, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM") of the Group, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:
(i)  Real estate agency services in the primary market

The Group provides real estate agency services in the
primary market that primarily include formulating and
executing marketing and sales strategies for real estate
projects developed by real estate developers, promoting
the projects to prospective purchasers, and facilitating sales
transactions.

(i) Real estate data and consulting services
The Group mainly provides the following services:

o providing customers with a wide range of data
services, leveraging the powerful CRIC systems;

o offering real estate rating and ranking services; and

o providing real estate consulting services that are
tailored to meet the needs of property developer
clients throughout the design, development and sales
stages and address specific issues encountered by
them.

The Group receives consulting services fee income and
subscription-based fee income in relation to its proprietary
CRIC system, which is a series of proprietary real estate
database and analysis system developed by the Group,
for a fixed amount upon entering into the subscription
contract, normally for a one year subscription period
contract.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(iii)

Real estate brokerage network services

The Group provides real estate brokerage network
services under the Fangyou brand of integrating small and
medium-sized secondary real estate brokerage stores in the
PRC, and empowering them with rich resources in their
business operations. In addition, the Group can help their
property developer customers expand their sales channels
by sourcing buyers of new properties through Fangyou-
branded stores and other real estate brokerage firms that
the Group cooperates with.

Digital Marketing services

Leju is primarily engaged in the business of E-commerce,
online advertising services and listing services (collectively
referred to as “Digital Marketing”). Leju operates and
manages its business as a single Digital Marketing segment.
The Digital Marketing mainly provides the following
services:

a) E-commerce services

The Group offers individual property buyers discount
coupons that enable them to purchase specified
properties from property developers at discounts
greater than the face value of the fees charged by
the Group. Discount coupons are collected initially
upfront from the property buyers and are refundable
at any time before they are used to purchase the
specified properties.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(iv)

Digital Marketing services (Continued)

b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Online advertising services

Revenue from online advertising services is principally
from online advertising services, and also rebates
from certain media publishers from the rendering of
advertising placement services of its advertisers (i.e.
property developers). Online advertising services allow
customers to place advertisements on particular areas
of the online media and platforms (including those
owned by the Leju Group and other independent
publishers) in particular formats and over a specified
period of time.

Listing services
Listing services entitle real estate brokers to post
and make changes to information for properties in

a particular area on Leju’'s website for a specified
period of time, in exchange for a fixed fee.
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7. DEER (&) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
DEBUM AR EE Segment revenue and results

UTIREBLEREMRD I T AL B The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

NESE by operating and reportable segment:
BHFE20215F12A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2021
-3 EHEHE EHELE
RERHE REARSE BERE AFEHEY Fif b
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Real estate
agency  Realestate  Real estate
services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing
market services services services  Elimination Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WA REVENUE
NPEES External sales 1,989,121 916,682 2,517,033 3,443,151 - 8,865,987
AEREER Inter-segment sales 68,209 35,689 145,541 16,292 (265,731) -
& Total 2,057,330 952,371 2,662,574 3,459,443 (265,731) 8,865,987
28 (F8)/ 58 SEGMENT (LOSS)/PROFIT (6,371,180)  (1,955,196) (635,021)  (2,057,922) 3219 (11,016,100)
FAREZ Unallocated expenses (125,729)
AP RE R T Unallocated net exchange gain 4,516
WRABEETFA Unallocated net fair value loss
BRNSBAEN on financial assets at FVTPL
APEAABERREE (332,433)
TREEENAL BEYS Fair value gain on convertible note 109,730
EUEBENFIEE Share of results of associates (33,039)
FATFIBHA Bank interest income 42,407
RERA Finance costs (538,800)
NREEEMRONFER Equity-settled share-based
payment expenses (14,309)
HAEE Loss before taxation (11,903,757)
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7. 7EER (F) 7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

DEUMAREE () Segment revenue and results (Continued)
B FE2020F 1231 HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020
- RBHERE  RBHEER
KBRS &A% wakn  BFeRkE B3 &5t
ARETT  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETT ARETR
Real estate
agency Real estate Real estate
services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing
market services services services Elimination Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WA REVENUE
SHPHER External sales 3,003,543 987,022 2,732,671 1,128,677 - 8,051,509
PEREEE Inter-segment sales 58,615 46,514 159,161 9,434 (273,724) -
@it Total 3,262,158 1,033,536 2,891,428 1,138,111 (273,724) 8,051,509
AH7E SEGMENT PROFIT 842,340 68,365 126,880 123,191 - 1,160,776
FARF Unallocated expenses (74,005)
AARER e FE Unallocated net exchange gain 36,327
WA BEEEEA Unallocated net fair value loss on
ERNEBEEN financial assets at FVTPL
AARALBEERFE (15,491)
TAREEN AL BENG Fair value gain on convertible note 37,582
i NS Share of results of associates 21,056
RRSHA Bank interest income 67,193
BERA Finance costs (481,913)
IREE MRS Equity-settled share-based payment
expenses (59,932)
BRIAE Profit before taxation 691,593
BE DM S BR B 4R AN The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
B2 EERAER - 53 (EE),FIH as the Group's accounting policies described in note 4. Segment
7%%%1 RATELEBEERMERE - (loss)/profit represents the loss incurred and profit earned by

WARDEEARD B - K7 ECE XK
ﬁ?’t;‘%’r%ﬁi* ARAEEFELF ABE
MEREENRADEARBEBER
- T%ﬁ%%‘%%}é’]’&ﬁf‘;@%é%@
BHERRIRE - FIBWA - BEK
ARIABRREEE IR TR - it
Ty 5 BB IR R AT AR B &
Al X ERERREERHTEBIRLE

DB TR E B B T 5 (B AR UGB o

each segment without allocation of unallocated expenses,
unallocated net exchange gain, unallocated net fair value loss
on financial assets at FVTPL, fair value gain on convertible note,
share of results of associates, interest income, finance costs
and equity-settled share-based payment expenses. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. DEBEH (&) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

THEERERE Segment assets and liabilities

FTELERREBIBES D IBHKLE The CODM makes decisions according to operating results
BEERR BARETELERREL of each segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment
mMERE RO ERRTEHOENTE liability is presented as the CODM does not regularly review
BRSO NEERDBAEE - WA E such information for the purposes of resources allocation and
2HZEERND ﬁ At EE7 performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and
DEBA R DB A segment results are presented.
HippEpER Other segment information
BHFE20215F12H31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2021

-FF  REHEHE @ RBHESK

RERE  REARE BARE  HFEHERE AR a3t
ARBTRT  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Real estate

agency  Realestate  Real estate
services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing

market services services services  Unallocated Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

STAHES BERNEE : Amounts included in the
measure of segment loss:

nEREH Depreciation and amortisation 50,710 37,638 6,667 212,766 127,566 435,347
ERRAERREERAN Net loss allowance on financial
SHAERRRRSE assets subject to
ECL recognised 5,869,688 1,969,806 402,939 721,285 - 8,963,718
BRERDEENRERR Impairment losses recognised on
non-current assets - 46,915 - 811,619 - 858,534
HEME R i)/ Net (gain)loss on disposal of
BEFE property and equipment (2,969) 2 14 (898) - (3,833)
MEREMEREE (i) F8 Net loss/(gain) on disposal of
investment properties 1,763 - - (1,820) - (57)
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NS

7 EER (&) 7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

BE#oIpER (8F) Other segment information (Continued)
B FE2020F 1231 HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020
—FF RBHEEE  FHELR
REMR RS Bkt arekkB AAR &
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Real estate
agency Real estate Real estate
services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing
market services services services Unallocated Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR PRENEE Amounts included in the
measure of segment profit:
nEREH Depreciation and amortisation 49,527 56,042 12,080 34,285 58,636 210,570
ERRAERAEERAN Net loss allowance on financial
SHAERRRRAE assets subject to ECL recognised 27,495 52,948 74,692 17,413 - 172,548
HEME R EN (hg)/ Net (gain)/loss on disposal of
BEYE property and equipment (349) (47) 13 1,000 699 1316
HERENESE /(W) 8 Net loss/(gain) on disposal of
investment properties (660) - - 115 - (545)

i & & F

HE2021F12A318ILEE A&
EREBMRFRE (BFERB) (2020
F:RE(BESES) RER) c BER
EEREIFPREF W EE R TR K
B 27 c BEASEEREDE
EMERTREBEERNMIBEMNE 27 o

Geographical information

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's operations
are located in the PRC (including Hong Kong) (2020: PRC
(including Hong Kong) and Vietnam). Information about the
Group's revenue from external customers is presented based on
the location of the operations. Information about the Group's
non-current assets is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets.
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. DEEFR (F) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

190 ZBE(FE)CEZRERAT

HmEER (&) Geographical information (Continued)
R EINBE P RIA FEmBEE E (MisE)
Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (note)
20215 20204 20214 20204
AR®T T ARET T ARET T ARET T
2021 2020 2021 2020
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
HE (BEEE) The PRC (including
Hong Kong) 8,865,987 8,050,244 4,134,969 4,022,554
fidEa] Vietnam - 1,265 - =
8,865,987 8,051,509 4,134,969 4,022,554
FEEE - Note:

R EETBIEEW BN 5 ZIE « EER Non-current assets excluded amounts due from related parties, deferred
BHEERDEASRTEMNETHEMIERS tax assets, and certain other non-current assets classified as financial
BE - instruments.
FEEERNER Information about major customers
FAKE FE 4 S (5 7 £ [ 4B g A AB3B 10 % Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
MR EEFEAEMKRADNT over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:
2021%F 20204
AR®T T ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB‘000 RMB'000
EFEA Customer A (Ki&zE) (note) 1,332,221
MoeE : Note:

AEBEZEFRER20214F12A3181E
FEETRS  ERSGEHEREAEE B
AHI10% °

—E-—fF

Xat
B
Iff

The Group carried out transactions with this customer for the year
ended 31 December 2021 but the amount of the transaction was less
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.



9A.

H At I A 8. OTHER INCOME
20214 20204
AR®T ARKET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
RIT R E AT B U A Bank and other interest income 43,588 67,193
BT+ B (A at) Government grants (note) 116,366 63,187
Al A Rental income 27,420 =
HAh Others 11,022 9,819
198,396 140,199
BEE Note:
DemARMEBRESS  HRAKRSE The amount represents government grants received from various PRC
ﬁi’”ﬁlé;ﬁfﬁET\@‘?BZH;E‘BFEM;ZHX;\]BZ government authorities in connection with the enterprise development
R 'pﬁl%ﬁq]@E&F%ﬁ?ﬂjﬁﬂiﬁ@m&ﬁﬂ% support, fiscal subsidy and various tax incentives, which had no
fE o ’ conditions imposed by the respective PRC government authorities.
EmBEHESEBANE 9A.LOSS ALLOWANCE ON FINANCIAL

)EEH‘EEH%(? 0 BR

et
100

ASSETS SUBJECT TO ECL, NET OF
REVERSAL

20214 20204
ARETT ARKET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR B IBH) BB e (Provision)/reversal of loss allowance on:
(%f5) #M@ -
BREE Contract assets 90 (528)
BARBEFENFA Receivables at FVTOCI
H At 2 a9 FE W R IA (4,671,979) (119,196)
FEUBR R & R = 5% Accounts receivables and bills receivables (511,330) (16,867)
FENSEREE 5 B 5 1t E FIA Amounts due from related parties of
trade nature (145,495) (651)
JE U BB 5 3EE 5 1M E K18 Amounts due from related parties of
non-trade nature (449) (10)
HibEUWGRIE R EMIEREEE  Other receivables and
other non-current assets (3,634,555) (35,296)
(8,963,718) (172,548)
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

9B. Hftb itz K &5 48 9B. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
20214 20204
AR¥T T AREF T
2021 2020
RMB'000 RMB’'000

HEWERLERNRZ (EE) Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property and

R equipment 3,833 (1,316)
HERE M E W58 Net gain on disposal of investment properties 57 545
& (&518), Was F5 Net exchange (loss)/gain (6,563) 31,058

AR EEFETFABZN Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial

SRIBENAAEBEGEE),  assets at FVTPL

W FHR (324,663) 4,188
AR EEN AR EE RS Fair value gain on convertible note 109,730 37,582
M A R R e Gain on de-registration of subsidiaries 92 -
HERB L QRS EIEFEE  Net loss on disposal of interests in associates (79) (29)
RIEEREEEREEAEZ Net gain on termination of right-of-use

W ss 558 assets and lease liabilities 2,852 317

(214,741) 72,345

ICHEAIEREBEENBE  9C.IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED ON

= NON-CURRENT ASSETS
202145 20204
ARBTR ARBTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
B ERAREERR Impairment losses recognised on goodwill (549,223) =
TR E MR RERK Impairment losses recognised on property and
equipment (37,451) -
HRCAEEENRERNLX Impairment losses recognised on right-of-use
assets (50,825) -
HREFEERREERLR Impairment losses recognised on intangible
assets (221,035) -
(858,534) -
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Bl & R A 10. FINANCE COSTS

20215 20204
ARBTT AR¥ETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITIERFE Interest on bank borrowings 115,435 94,639
E b g s A B Interest on other borrowings 341,421 366,577
HEBEFE Interest on lease liabilities 15,736 10,025
AR EENERF SR Effective interest expense on convertible note 66,208 10,672
538,800 481,913
A
FREHBE X 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
20215 20204
AR®T T ARETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
B ERTET PRC Enterprise Income Tax
BIEATR IR Current tax 94,572 261,133
SCRIF SRR s Overprovision in prior years (21,942) (14,189)
72,630 246,944
KERMBE Withholding tax of Leju (31,815) 9,478
RIEFIIBER ST/ (H, ) (Hf3£31) Deferred tax expense/(credit) (note 31) 320,087 (4,051)
360,902 252,371
B Hong Kong
4= A B 7 SR 26 N 4 B R 2 R ST IR No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made in
Bl B N £ B A R 4B N S 4 e iR consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
TR B R E B ER o assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for both

years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. FrBHHAx (#)

&

BRIXFEENZETBEWERF
Oh o RIECREAREFBE S EESH
EYR(RE AR MBS EREHE
FH 0 ([CRERBRIEY]) - FiE
H R BB B A B A M A EY A E Bt
RE25% °

RIBCRERERE) RARER © &
EEWHFEKERFL R B
MREBRAR ([FEHB) FeEa
LR BEZIR15%ME
ERR - EEEH2018F7 S E2021
FIAR=F  WHEFZH2021
EEO3FEAH=FHNEEREAS
;@o

RIBECEEMERE) REBER @ &
EENPENBAR LEEERESFR
ERMDAERAB[FESHERMEESR
%o EEEZI5%HNEERE BX
HAER 2017911 A=2020% 11 A &5
=F  WHBEZXH2020FF£2022F
AHP=FNESBHIEFS -

RIRCRERERE) RARER » &
EETFEMNBRARZELE (FE) &
BEERAR ([FRBE]) FEEiFR
MOEER  EEZZ15%NEEM
R EEHH2018F 11 AE20214F
1MABB=F -

RIBCRERERE) RARER © &
EENTEHBRAR EESFHREE R
ERIFEERARFASHEIMEEE
1 BHER2018F 11 AZE2021F11
AEZI5%MERHRE  WIHBEZZ
H2021F 22023 F AH=FNEER
T o

AEBRFREN B AR LERMRE
BERMARAR[FESHMTMEESR
B BEZXISHHNER[REK  EXR
B 2020411 A=20234 11 A &H
=F -

* R B TREHRES
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

PRC

Save as those PRC subsidiaries disclosed below, pursuant to
the EIT Law and Implementation Regulations of the Law of the
PRC (the "EIT Law”), the statutory tax rate of all other PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Beijing CREA Technology Services Ltd.* (1t 5 AT 1 5 i AR 75
BRAT]) (“Zhongfangyanxie”), a PRC subsidiary of the Group,
was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise and was
approved to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period
of three years from July 2018 to July 2021 and continue to
enjoy the preferential tax treatment for a period of three years
from 2021 to 2023 in accordance with the EIT Law and relevant
regulations.

Shanghai Zhuxiang Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (LE/&
SEE BRI AR AR, a PRC subsidiary of the Group,
was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise and was
approved to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period
of three years from November 2017 to November 2020 and
continue to enjoy the preferential tax treatment for a period of
three years from 2020 to 2022 in accordance with the EIT Law
and relevant regulations.

E-House Enterprise (China) Group Co., Ltd.* (BELE(FE)E
EAPR A7) (“China E-House"”), a PRC subsidiary of the Group,
was qualified as High Technology Enterprise and was approved
to enjoy preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of three years
from November 2018 to November 2021 in accordance with the
EIT Law and relevant regulations.

Shanghai SINA Leju Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (L&
FREFEE SR ARAT]), a PRC subsidiary of the Group
was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise and was
entitled to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% from November
2018 to November 2021 and continue to enjoy the preferential
tax treatment for a period of three years from 2021 to 2023 in
accordance with the EIT Law and relevant regulations.

Shanghai CRIC Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (/&7 MiH{E
BHEAMTAMR AR, a PRC subsidiary of the Group was qualified as
High and New Technology Enterprise and was entitled to enjoy
a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of three years from
November 2020 to November 2023.

* English name is for the identification purpose only



1. FrBHHAx (#)

FE (&)

R 4% o B PR B i I 1 2 E A AR R
HoOAEERETRBRNBRAREES
EREEMEARAFZEX15%NEE
TR BEHH2014F108 18
2030F 12 A31HAHB+ NFZ =1
A > REIE2020%F 2021412 A31
BIEFE @ AEEHRTREMRS E
P EpHb R BB A R & B AR &
ZX15% BRI X -

FENAEHAXERSESEREM
2EKERNOBA (EBR),/FEYER

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

PRC (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to enterprises
situated in the western regions of the PRC, Chongqging E-House
Investment Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (EESEREBHAER
‘~A]), a wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the Group, enjoys
a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of sixteen years
and three months from 1 October 2014 to 31 December
2030. Certain subsidiaries of the Group also situated in the
western regions of the PRC which are approved by the relevant
regulations to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% in the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2021.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
(loss)/profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of

e

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2021%F 20204

ARBTT ARKETFTT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fipn (EE),/ FIE (Loss)/profit before taxation (11,903,757) 691,593
BB E25% T EFIE Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25%

(20204 : 25%) (2020: 25%) (2,975,939) 172,898
JEREE AR BN IR E Tax effect at share of results of associates 8,260 (5,264)
NAMHNH R 2 MR 1B =2 28 Tax effect of expenses not deductible for

tax purposes 491,380 130,233
AR A T IB R E Tax effect of income not taxable for

tax purpose (30,022) (8,811)
SRS R Overprovision in respect of prior years (21,942) (14,189)
RERBIEE BN IB 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 556,115 7,749
R SRR RN IBEE Utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised (686) (14,178)
ARFERR AT AR R R Tax effect of deductible temporary

HETE differences not recognised 2,277,548 2,704
E) F S5 B R FERR 89 AT HUR Utilisation of deductible temporary

TR ERE differences previously not recognised (15,004) (232)
BT HERENRIESE Tax effect of tax concession granted 103,007 (28,151)
HRABET AEREIIRLT Decrease in opening deferred tax assets

HIEEERD resulting from an decrease in applicable

tax rate - 134
LEFENTIE Withholding tax of Leju (31,815) 9,478
FTisBifA Income tax expense 360,902 252,371
EX AT E R @ English name is for the identification purpose only
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

12.ER2E (%) Wzt 12.TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/

48 28 INCOME FOR THE YEAR
FNEE (FAX), /W858 Ty 0B A Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year has been
TEIBERFESE : arrived at after charging:
20214%F 20204
ARBT T ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEE Directors’ remuneration: 10,208 29,317
HAth 8 TR Other staff costs:
—¥® AR EMERL — Salaries, bonus and other allowances 2,801,794 2,489,270
— RIREFIFT SR — Retirement benefit scheme contributions 422,776 180,126
— R EZEE R DR — Equity-settled share-based payment
expenses 8,443 35,550
3,233,013 2,704,946
8 TR 4% Total staff costs 3,243,221 2,734,263
MERZBITE Depreciation of property and equipment 93,287 41,124
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 133,101 114,254
BEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 36,223 20,623
A R Amortisation of intangible assets 172,736 34,569
EREEERE Total depreciation and amortisation 435,347 210,570
A G Auditor’s remuneration 9,380 7,880
FTATIIZERERAFRZH Research costs recognised as an expense and
TFEERAR included in:
— BIRA — Staff costs 87,325 66,046
— T R — Depreciation and amortisation expenses 2,286 6,733
— Efb g As — Other operating costs 33,850 26,121
123,461 98,900

Xat
B
Iff

196 ZE(FE)LEZRERAT —T-_—F



12.

13A.

FREH (X)) WEH 12.TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/
#EE (') INCOME FOR THE YEAR (Continued)
HZE2020E12 831 HILEE @ iREH During the year ended 31 December 2020, pursuant to the
HAEMBESHEBMNBMERR K notice released by the relevant PRC authority, certain domestic
ERETHEANE AT CEREEPE subsidiaries of the Group have been fully or partially waived to
BARRAEZTEHSRE (BEEE undertake a number of social securities including endowment
R - RERR - TEREBS) - 8% insurance, unemployment insurance and employment injury
ABAR®141,696,0007T ° insurance, totaling RMB141,696,000.
EERBESITHRASM 13A. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
€ EMOLUMENTS
BEERCEMRAY REE DT IEH Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the entities
i BRAKRAERNERBNERND N comprising the Group to the directors and chief executive of
HEMNRATRESTREFSITHAER the Company (including emoluments for services as employee/
B FE (BREXKAERRFES directors of the group entities prior to becoming the directors
REARNEEERES EFTREN of the Company) for their services during the year, disclosed
<) a0F - pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, are as follows:
ZEBRAT ek HENSY  BRBAE  REEEN
EZHAS ik Hrzg WA % REAEEX it
ARETR  AR¥TR  ARETn  ARMTr  ARETR  ARETR

Date of Equity-settled

appointment as Salaries,  Performance  Retirement  share-based

a director of the and other related benefit scheme payment

Company Fees  allowances bonuses  contributions expenses Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

HZ1E Year ended
12318 LER 31 Decerber 2021
HIES: Executive directors;
i Zhou Xin 201052A228

22 February 2010 - - - - 2,307 2,307
R Huang Canhao 201711 A9

9 November 2017 - - - - 1,492 1,492
BIR Cheng Li-Lan 201853 A16H

16 March 2018 - - - - 522 522
THE (M) Ding Zuyu (note J) 2018%3 7168

16 March 2018 - 1827 960 121 1,545 4,453
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

BANEERBSITHAE 13A. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
< (88) EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

ZERAAT HER  BEYSS RGBT IREESN

EEfE ne Hfr2i WA 3 ROAREX et
ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR

Date of Equity-settled

appointment as Salaries,  Performance  Retirement  share-based

a director of the and other related benefit scheme payment

Company Fees  allowances honuses  contributions expenses Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

F7Es: Non-Executive directors:
S8 (Hrtiin) Li Silong (note ii) 2020587310
31 August 2020 139 - - - - 139
Bl (Hetii) Huang Haojun (note i) 20208 A31R
31 August 2020 139 - - - - 139
il Xie Mei 2018118308
30 November 2018 - - - - - -
58 (i) Zhang Hai (note v) 2020587310
31 August 2020 209 - - - - 209
A& (Hztiv) Tang Xing (notes iv) 201%9A2A
2 September 2021 - - - - - -
B (i) Lv Peimei (note iv) 201%9A2A
2 September 2021 10 - - - - 170
155 (fitv) Yang Yong (note vi) 20054518
1 Aprl 2022 - - - - - -
BUFHiES: Independent Non-Executive directors:
i Zhang Bang 201857 A10H
10 July 2018 250 - - - - 250
R Zhu Hongchao 2018E7A108
10 July 2018 209 - - - - 209
I Wang Liqun 201878108
10 July 2018 209 - - - - 209
55 LiJin 2018574108
10 July 2018 209 - - - - 209
1,434 1827 960 121 5,866 10,208
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EERBESITHAES 13A. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
e (8) EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
ZERAAT GeREM  mENEGN  RARMGE  ARESED
ESHAH ik 2 ftd 3 RANFRER @
ARETTE  ARETT  ARETR  ARETn  ARETRT  ARETR
Date of Equity-settled
appointment as Salaries,  Performance Retirement  share-based
a director of the and other related  benefit scheme payment
Company Fees allowances bonuses  contributions expenses Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HZ220005 Year ended 31 December
12A3181L5R 2020
YES ! Executive directors:
i Zhou Xin 2010524028
22 February 2010 - - - - 10,031 10,031
B Huang Canhao 2017411 A9H
9 November 2017 - - - - 6,659 6,659
B Cheng Li-Lan 201853 A16H
16 March 2018 - - - - 1,048 1,048
THE (W) Ding Zuyu (note j 2018537168
16 March 2018 = 2,055 960 90 6,644 9,749
FUTES ! Non-Executive directors:
S5 (Wati) Mo Bin (note i 2018537168
16 March 2018 149 - - - - 149
g (Witii) Zhu Jiusheng (note i) 2018435168
16 March 2018 149 - - - - 149
i Xie Mei 20185117308
30 November 2018 223 - - - - 223
IR (Biatii) He Miaoling (note i 2019%4 8158
15 April 2019 149 - - - - 149
& Zhang Hai 2020584318
31 August 2020 74 - - - - 74
ZEE Li Silong 200058318
31 August 2020 74 - - - - 74
BVl d Huang Haojun 202058 A31H
31 August 2020 74 - - - - 74
BUFiTES: Independent Non-Executive directors:
R Zhang Bang 201857A10H
10 July 2018 269 - - - - 269
Rk Zhu Hongchao 2018878108
10 July 2018 223 - - - - 223
Ih# Wang Liqun 201878108
10 July 2018 23 = = = = 223
55 LiJin 2018574108
10 July 2018 23 - - - - 23
1,830 2,055 960 90 24,382 29,317
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BAEERERSITHRAE

M (48
MEeE

i) THENRARARSTHRAR » L
R REENEBEEERARRITR
ABRERBHHNE -

i) B8 - B R AP B ETIARQRIE
HITEE 0 H2020568 A31BAEM °

i) ZBEREEEHIAQRENTE
£ H2021F9 A2 HHEEM ©

iv) EERZEEZTARQRIERT
BE H2021F9A2BBAE -

V) REBREARARRERITES - B
2022F 41 BBAR -

vi) BEEZAAARARERTES B
2022F 41 BBAR -

EXFRIBTEEHE HIRRSTERE
ZIN/N T&ZIS%@?WFMEL\E’JEW%FE
XAt e

EXFRIIERITEETME IR EIE
RARRREWMBLRR (WER)ESE
B RIS TS A

EXFRINVESIFMITE ST S TR
FERARRIEZNIRBEAASAT

REZE2020F % 2021F12 83181k
FE - WEEMAES - EAEH0E
/\@ R ER A AMHEME
CEERHEMR S o A LR E
i&%%ﬁﬂiéﬁﬁétﬁﬁmirgmgﬁﬁ%
M AR ESWEEEIEERAE
RAFMEI VAR RRIEF B CEE
R5 - REPIEHNFPHEBERNER

BN - REREAREZE20204F 2021
F12A3MBEFEREMER - &
MRAKREZERESEHEE - R
FRFNREZE2020F K 2021F12 A
318 IEFEARNTAERE - REERES
FESRIEHERHERE =75 K
ZLRIHEE o
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13A. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

i) Ding Zuyu is also the chief executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered
by him as the chief executive.

ii) Mo Bin, Zhu Jiusheng, and He Miaoling had resigned as non-
executive directors of the Company, with effect from 31 August
2020.

iii)  Li Silong and Huang Haojun had been resigned as non-executive
directors of the Company, with effect from 2 September 2021.

iv)  Lv Peimei and Tang Xing had been appointed as non-executive
directors of the Company, with effect from 2 September 2021.

V) Zhang Hai had resigned as non-executive directors of the
Company, with effect from 1 April 2022.

vi)  Yang Yong had been appointed as non-executive directors of the
Company, with effect from 1 April 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
paid for their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’” emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, there
are no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
the directors, their controlled bodies corporate and connected
entities. Also, there are no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of both reporting periods or at any time during both
years.

In addition, no director’'s termination benefit subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2021. There are also no consideration
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available
Director's services subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021.



138 EREaHES

HZE2021F12A318BILEE » A&
EramasEBEREARAMA
(2020%F : =) EBF @ BEZHMF
BEHN EXHE13A - HE2021412
A31HIEFE  H#A =% (2020F -
ME)BEIEARRA R ESINIEEZITHA
BEaHREZHHFBOT -

138. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group include two
(2020: three) directors of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021, details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 13A above. Details of the remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2021 of the remaining three (2020: two) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

202145 20204

ARETT ARETIT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’'000

o REAMERL Salaries and other allowances 4,427 3,019
ERAE N S R TEAT Performance related bonuses 2,434 2,085
RIREFFT B K Retirement benefit scheme contributions 290 181
LA B HE 45 B O RR 19 15 30 P 2 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 996 3,322
8,147 8,607

FHNFTIEEZEARTAERTLZ
RRHFESHAZMT

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

EEHAE
Number of employees
20214F 20204
2021 2020
3,000,001 C%3,500,000/87Cc HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 2 -
3,500,001 %7C%4,000,000/87c HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 -
4,500,00187C£5,000,000/8C HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - 2

REE2020F & 2021F 1283181k
FE  AEBEVERNEEEEEK
REE R E &S H BE B A E A B
© 1EA I A SR A0 A 2N £ B B /) 22 B
BB EE o  ZMEFEARNRRRIH
EMEBABRAEB AR &S HE
SNELAE -

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the management of
the Group or the five highest paid employees of the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the management of the
Group and five highest paid employees of the Group has waived
any emoluments during the both years.
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14. R E

HZE2020%12 A31HIEFER R
BEEREBBRARKES 22H0EEIRK
K FARRABEBA - RAFESIR
MR BB A ARK 91,324,000
T o

ARARWEREZNS KRB E2021F12
A31HIEFERRE -

14. DIVIDENDS

A final dividend of RMB5.22 cents per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2020 was declared and paid
to the owners of the Company. The aggregate amount of
the final dividend declared in the current year amounted to
RMB91,324,000.

No dividend was proposed nor declared by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

15. 8% (B8]) BF 15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
RKABEE ANELHERERNNEE (5 The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
18),/ B IBEATESIEE attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:
2021%F 20204
ARBTR ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
(E518),/ &Fl : (Loss)/earnings:
HERER (BER) BT (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to
mE ' NAEHAE AR owners of the Company for the purpose
FW (E18),/ FE of basic (loss)/earnings per share (11,642,687) 304,413
BB TRRNOTE Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
444 I B AR e I X2 PR 11 AR 1) Share options and restricted shares of Leju - (673)
RBREROFE - AREE Aggregate amount of interest, fair value
BE) R E N ARARE change and exchange realignment on
convertible note - (45,587)
- (46,260)
EREE (BE) BFME ©  (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners
RABIEB NERFEA of the Company for the purpose of diluted
(&18),/ FiE (loss)/earnings per share (11,642,687) 258,153
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SR (EE) BN - 15.(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
3= (= :
BEXRKEE (8) (Continued)
20214 20204
TR T
2021 2020
‘000 ‘000
RMHEA : Number of shares:
HERER (BER)&F Weighted average number of ordinary
mE ARG shares for the purpose of basic
FHEHE (loss)/earnings per share 1,749,060 1,442,071
BB TRROTE Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
AN ) B AR e IR Il AR 1 Share options and restricted shares
of the Company - 70
GIE:di et Convertible note - 16,630
- 16,700
TEREE (B18), BFME © Weighted average number of ordinary share
TElrmnEFEHEE for the purpose of diluted (loss)/earnings
per share 1,749,060 1,458,771

HZE2020512A31HIEFE © B&Mm N
HEFEHYEEMB AR RFHE N EFR
DEBFESE -

fEETEHZE2020F12 A31 B IEFEH
REBGRESRTE  HEHKE
B ARITIE IR AR AE I 2 BRI AR 1 (BBl A B
FE33FTRFM) MBEREMAEZE - 5]
VEBERBRRE  ARFR20204F
1MA4BEMMEEEZEREF AET
AREEE (EERLME298) - #E
2020F 12 A31BIEFE - BZ BT
ASREERFNEF -

HE2021F12A31HILFE » :tE8H
PS8 B Es 1B W R A A B TR
BEMAREEEREERZ -

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the weighted average
number of shares have been arrived at after eliminating the
treasury shares held by the Company.

For calculation of diluted earnings per share of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020, the potential impact of
the outstanding share options and restricted shares of Leju
as detailed in note 33 are taken into consideration in the
calculation. Subsequent to the entering of the note subscription
agreement, the Company issued the Convertible Note to Alibaba
Noteholder (as defined in note 29B) on 4 November 2020. It is
taken into consideration in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share since that date for the year ended 31 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the potential ordinary
shares were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per
share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

16. I E KRR 16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
RA £E
el REDHRET & i @t
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT EETR AREFT
Leasehold Furniture, ARETTL
Leasehold land and fixtures and Motor Construction
improvements buildings equipment vehicles in progress Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A CosT
R202051 A1 At 1 January 2020 59,551 70,728 64,241 20,002 - 214522
RE Additions 5,438 2,230 10,100 1417 67,508 86,693
L Transfer 148,144 - - - (148,144) -
BENENBAANESER  Acquired on acquisition of
5 (Wit38) assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries (note 38) 94,978 570,466 15 - 148,144 813,603
WENEARIMME (A£39)  Acquired on acquisition of
subsidiaries (note 39) 19,731 65,779 25,083 1,759 - 112,352
hE Disposals (1,983) 2,83) (2,003) 2,700) - (8,929)
R2020512A318 At 31 December 2020 325,859 706,960 97,436 20,478 67,508 1,218,241
hE Additions 20,637 67,879 33,559 1,014 39,505 162,594
Bz Transfer 107,013 - - - (107,013) -
WEMBARMES (A339)  Acquired on acquisition of
subsidiaries (note 39) - - 8,473 - - 8,473
e Disposals (212) (8,262) (7,056) 2,171) - (17,701)
R2021£12A318 At 31 December 2021 453,297 766,577 132,412 19,321 - 1,371,607
HERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
R202051 A18 At 1 January 2020 (39,675) (5,530) (50,231) (10,483) - (105,919)
ERNAE Provided for the year (23,998) (8,707) (6,042) (2,377) - (41,124)
R EREH Eliminated on disposals 1,973 238 1,454 2,257 - 5,922
20205124318 At 31 December 2020 (61,700) (13,999) (54,819) (10,603) - (141,121)
ERNEE Provided for the year (45,130) (29,579) (16,040) (2,538) - (93,287)
Rt ER Eliminated on disposals 205 1,779 6,639 1323 - 9,946
ENRRNRERK Impairment loss recognised
in the year (6,547) (22,612) (7,719) (573) - (37,451)
R2021£12A318 At 31 December 2021 (113,172) (64,411) (71,939) (12,391) - (261,913)
REE CARRYING VALUES
R2021%512A318 At 31 December 2021 340,125 702,166 60,473 6,930 - 1,109,694
20205124318 At 31 December 2020 264,159 692,961 42,617 9,875 67,508 1,077,120
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16. M=K & s (R

R2021F 128318 » AEEEREES
AR #539,825,0007T (20204F : AR
#564,338,000 ) M#HE THE LK

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group's leasehold land
and buildings with carrying amount of RMB539,825,000 (2020:
RMB564,338,000) were pledged as securities for the Group's

BFERAREBRITERMERR (B

i B sE47) °

17.ERAREEE

bank borrowings as summarised in note 47.

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

HEMZE
ARKETTT
Leased
properties
RMB’000
20216124318 At 31 December 2021
BREE Carrying amount 350,755
2020412 A31H At 31 December 2020
BREE Carrying amount 542,331
HE2021F12A31HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2021
MEMS Depreciation charge (133,101)
HZE2020F12A31 B LFE For the year ended 31 December 2020
TEMS Depreciation charge (114,254)
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

17.FREEE (&) 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
20214 20204
AR¥T T AREF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEREE AR Expenses relating to short-term leases 79,035 24,299

HEKEEEEMEAMNAY ©  Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets,

TEREEEEEMNEIELY excluding short-term of low value assets 5,238 9,329
MER SR AR Total cash outflow for leases 69,808 159,146
FRAEEERE Additions to right-of-use assets 70,007 75,385
FRERAREERR Impairment loss recognised in the year (50,825) =
FEFREEE Modification of right-of-use assets (77,657) =
BRWENBARMEEE Acquisition of assets through acquisition of

(Ka£38) subsidiaries (note 38) - 99,285
U BBt BB A J) (KfaE39) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) - 354,030
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17. EFAEEE (%)

HZE2021F12A31HILLFE - XEH
HERAZEEMANES - HEAH
LA2ZE 204 (20204 : 22105 ) ME
TEHABR RT 32 o T E G FRTYE 8 Bl E 7
LR RESERIGR AR
REERSR R ETTHLE BB K
ER  AEBEAAGANERLERT
B #I A58 HEATTRIHAR] ©

o NREBBEREZRET - AEE
REREYEE (BEAEERE L)
MEBLHEAA - FHEL —RIEMNK
N BZEMFE S - EEMFKEER
EokE  ZEEAMENHELI
B EBZ27 -

REERBH ARG ET L EHA
& o 2020F K& 2021128318 -
EHHERES GG Ea RAMEE
Wk HBENEHAER NS IR
EHEEM -

HE R NEH

AN - 2021412 A31 BB @R
& E AR 401,581,000 CRIER
A ARMS50,825,0007T) (20204 = A
R#542,331,00070) ERAEEREA
R#293,411,0007T (20204 : AR
334,052,0007T) - BT AFTIEE A
EEEMRPEDSIN  BEHETE
AR5 - HEEETEAERR
07

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group leases office
premises for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 2 to 20 (2020: 2 to 10) years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several buildings. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
premises. As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB293,411,000 (2020:
RMB334,052,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of RMB401,581,000 (before impairment of RMB50,825,000)
(2020: RMB542,331,000) as at 31 December 2021. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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18. REWHE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ARETTT
RMB’'000
%N COST
7202041 A18 At 1 January 2020 38,332
NE (HtaF22 5 24) Additions (notes 22 and 24) 28,774
FHRWEMNEARYIEEE Acquisition of assets through acquisition of
(Kt7£38) subsidiaries (note 38) 663,528
W BEBT B A = (M 7£39) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) 2,339
s Disposals (8,728)
7R202012A31H At 31 December 2020 724,245
NE (K122 %24) Additions (notes 22 and 24) 17,605
HE Disposals (38,184)
M2021F12A31H At 31 December 2021 703,666
TERRE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
720201 A1 H At 1 January 2020 (3,121)
FREE Provided for the year (20,623)
S IR ¥ 8 Eliminated on disposals 495
72020512 A31H At 31 December 2020 (23,249)
FREE Provided for the year (36,223)
T S IR 8 Eliminated on disposals 4,798
R2021%12H31H At 31 December 2021 (54,674)
IREE CARRYING VALUES
MR2021F12A31H At 31 December 2021 648,992
M2020%12 A31H At 31 December 2020 700,996

RZMEFEAN  REBRNREYE
BIAERREREERORFE °

R2021F12 8318 - REERNKREY
XA REEAARET709,405,0007T
(20204 : AR¥995,626,0007T) °
HETHAEEREEE R B HEE MG
1B R 22 B8 4A (7)1t B M A& 1 B K8 L) 2
MM TEEE  TEBETMAZR

REFVERAEBER WENHNES
REERRMRSERBEBANMR o
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The Group’s investment properties are held for both capital
appreciation and rental purpose during the both years.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2021 was RMB709,405,000 (2020: RMB995,626,000).
The valuation was determined by the management of the Group
and independent professional valuers by reference to recent
market prices for similar properties in the same locations and
conditions, and to consider if any adjustment factor necessary.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.



18. IREWZ (&) 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

R ERRANEENIEEMESER Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
DABEEBRERWNT : about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

R20215

7"20214% 12A31BH
12A318H E=R
AREE NREE
AR¥®TR ARBTT
Carrying Fair value at

amount as at Level 3 as at
31 December 31 December

2021 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

7 7 R B 7] 26 b 2 BE L Commercial property units located in Changsha 836 1,060
A7 7 R 2R B 7] 2 b E BE L Commercial property units located in Tianjin 3,558 3,613
A7 PR ) | B P S 2 & i Commercial property units located in Yinchuan 369 543
7 7 BN B P S 2 B i Commercial property units located in Guangzhou 8,834 15,708
AR R R S E B Commercial property units located in Wuhan 8,846 14,026
A== 1= 0SS =NV Commercial property units located in Qingdao 3,091 6,718
P/ B A P S E B AL Commercial property units located in Hainan 325 325
A RS L A P EE BE L Commercial property units located in Tangshan 366 366
R LA S EE AL Commercial property units located in Anhui 6,068 10,967
S2 PR i A 7 S EE BE AL Commercial property units located in Henan 1,385 1,669
(LA 5 B P S EE B L Commercial property units located in Shenyang 1,480 1,480
RLRE & R P S E B L Commercial property units located in Yantai 700 700
P TE 2RI P SEME B L Commercial property units located in Nanchang 230 230
R EBRI R St Commercial property units located in Shanghai 612,904 652,000
648,992 709,405
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18. REMZE (&) 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

720204

720204 12A318HK

12A3188 F=W

BRmE(E ARfBE

ARBTT ARETT

Carrying Fair value at

amount as at Level 3 as at

31 December 31 December

2020 2020

RMB'000 RMB’000

IR H B S BB AL Commercial property units located in Changsha 868 1,050
7 7 R 2R B 7] 26 b E BE L Commercial property units located in Tianjin 1,775 2,571
A PR | B P S 2 & i Commercial property units located in Yinchuan 1,104 1,970
37 7 B M B 78] 2 b E BE L Commercial property units located in Guangzhou 24,586 32,647
AR R R R S E B Commercial property units located in Wuhan 9,495 12,787
U E SR EMEERA Commercial property units located in Qingdao 3,204 7,004
LSRR E XM E B Commercial property units located in Hainan 2,545 5,044
(VAN EL:EEE 321 -3-=kva Commercial property units located in Dalian 1,363 2,411
L 7 & TR 7 S b E BE L Commercial property units located in Anhui 6,274 7,780
S 5] 7 A 7 S L EE BE AL Commercial property units located in Henan 1,431 1,667
PRV 5 1 P S EE BE L Commercial property units located in Shenyang 1,025 1,025
(NS =R v Commercial property units located in Kunming 148 148
LPAFE 2 R S HE B Commercial property units located in Nanchang 230 230
R /BRI St E B Commercial property units located in Shanghai 646,948 919,292
700,996 995,626
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18. REMZ% (&)

19.

A EREMEL T RE G RIREE
REMGHEAFANKERENEN
™

BF 304

AEBERmEASAREKG612,904,0007T
(20204 : AR#646,948,0007T) Y
REMEERAEEMN2021F12 A31
HIRTTIE A IR G (BEt B FT5E47) -

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The above investment properties are depreciated, taking into
account their estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 30 years

The investment properties of the Group with carrying amount
of RMB612,904,000 (2020: RMB646,948,000) were pledged as
securities for the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 December
2021 as summarised in note 47.

kS 19. GOODWILL
AREFTT
RMB’000
AR ERHE B COST AND CARRYING VALUE
720201 A1 H At 1 January 2020 5,109
Wi %L = (H1a£39(B)) Acquisition of Leju (note 39(B)) 544,114
72020512 A31H At 31 December 2020 549,223
FRERREERR Impairment loss recognised in the year (549,223)

R2021F12831H

At 31 December 2021 -

REBWEFRYITERRERMER
RAEINMEEMELANEE - BELE
RERI B BRI 40 3 FF o

* R B TEEHRHR

The Group's goodwill arises from the acquisition of Shenzhen
Fangyou Software Technology Co., Ltd.* (RIITIE R EHEERA
Al) and Leju. Particulars regarding impairment testing related to
Leju are disclosed in note 40.

* English name is for the identification purpose only
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20. BEEE 20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Lyt 8% BRAfEER E i Aft Eh
ARETT ARETT  ARETn  ARETE  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR
(fira) (P3tb) (Mikc)
Exclusive
cooperative Business
Software Domain rights ~ relationship ~ Brand name Others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
B cost
202061718 At 1 January 2020 42,385 1,559 29,855 - - 1,425 15,224
AE Additions 237 - - - - 51 288
WEHB AR (H:39) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) 5,507 - 318,883 210,868 179,849 - 715,107
ExHZE Exchange adjustment - - (5,356) = = = (5,356)
R2020812A318 At 31 December 2020 48,129 1,559 343,382 210,868 179,849 1,476 785,263
AE Additions 615 - - - - - 615
WEHBLR (Hz39) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) 334,219 - = = = = 334,219
FENEHBARREEE  Acquisition of assets through
(r38) acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 38) - - 1,210,796 - - - 1,270,796
Exgu Exchange adjustment - - (5,250) - - - (5,250)
R201E128318 At 31 December 2021 382,963 1,559 1,608,928 210,868 179,849 1,476 2,385,643
BERAE AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
#200081518 At 1 January 2020 (18,550) (1,476) (29,855) - - (1,425 (51,306)
Emdk Provided for the year (3,386) (58) (15,763) (15,356) - 6) (34,569)
Ex% Exchange adjustment - - 86 - - - 86
20208128318 At 31 December 2020 (21,936) (1,534) (45,532) (15,356) - (1,431) (85,789)
Endk Provided for the year (31,700) (25) (112,985) (28,024) - ?) (172,736)
EZRE Exchange adjustment - - 1,500 - - - 1,500
ENEDRERR Impairment loss recognised in the
year (1,792) - (86,031) (83,028) (50,184) - (221,035)
R2021%12A318 At 31 December 2021 (55,428) (1,559) (243,048) (126,408) (50,184) (1,433) (478,060)
BEE CARRYING VALUES
120215124318 At 31 December 2021 327,535 - 1,365,880 84,460 129,665 43 1,907,583
20206124318 At 31 December 2020 26,193 25 297,850 195,512 179,849 45 699,474

SE (PE) EEERARDA

—F - FEWRE
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SEMEHEREE ESRISHRER o fyLs
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WHERAEREE  MNKEBE -
BARTRFT N 80 B 5 IR W R AT AT 1
ENAREEAARK318,883,000
TL ° BRA (EHEF R E TR FT M A 1
2 TR EAMR NS o

R2021411 8248 - "REBEZRK
BETM Home (FFIBEEAME3S) + &
ATM HomelR#t542027 & Al LA R 3H
MIEENY RIEE — (AR E R E = i
REHERIREFENBRELHRE -
BB AR A iR BB EE
AR#1,270,796,0007C ° BRAE
ERBEARREMNEEE (FE)H
BEMAR QAR EE 52021
F9R1 BRI RIZAIERF RS
FANEEH o

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Intangible assets resulting from the acquired business
relationship are amortised based on the timing of the revenue
expected to be derived from the respective customer.

Notes:

(a)

Included in the exclusive cooperative rights were advertising
agency agreement and license agreements with SINA Corporation
("SINA") recognised as a result from the Group’s acquisition
of Leju (as detailed in note 39(B)) completed on 4 November
2020, which provide Leju Group with exclusive rights to operate
SINA's real estate and home furnishing related channels and
the exclusive right to render advertising services relating to real
estate, home furnishing and construction materials on these
channels as well as SINA’s other websites through 2024. If Leju
Group renders advertising services on SINA’s websites other than
the above channels, it will pay SINA fees of approximately 15%
of the revenues generated from these sales. The acquisition cost
was recognised as an intangible asset, while the fair value of the
advertising agency agreement and license agreements with SINA
as at the date of acquisition was RMB318,883,000. The exclusive
cooperative rights are amortised over the remaining period of the
agreements with SINA.

On 24 November 2021, the Group completed the acquisition
of TM Home (as detailed in note 38), which provide TM Home
with exclusive operation right to build and operate an online
real estate marketing and marketing transaction service platform
under the Tmall brand through 2027. The acquisition cost was
recognised as an intangible asset as at the date of acquisition with
RMB1,270,796,000. The exclusive operation rights are amortised
over the useful life of six years, according to the agreement dated
1 September 2021 between the Company and Alibaba (China)
Network Technology Co., Ltd.
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/S == 0
20 B EE (8 20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Mizt @ (&) Notes: (Continued)

(b) #HZE2020F12A31HILEFE @ #2Y) (b)  Business relationship in connection with property developers and
ERBUPMMUBBERBETRAOELREZE the education institutions which were recognised as a result from
TREAEBWREEER EEEHER the Group's acquisition of Leju and Shanghai Fangjiao Information
BiraR AR ([ EEEH%]) (GH5H Technology Co., Ltd.* (L8FEHESRMARARF) (“Shanghai
RHT3E39) MR - NIk R E - Fangjiao”) during the year ended 31 December 2020 as detailed
LER ESEHREENEFBENAR in note 39. The fair value of business relationship arising
SEES B AARK150,668,0007T from Leju and Shanghai Fangjiao at the acquisition date was
& AR¥60,200,0007T © #ZE2021 RMB 150,668,000 and RMB60,200,000, respectively. The intangible
F12A31BILtEE » kKB LEEH asset of business relationship arising from Shanghai Fangjiao was
MERAREREEDRERE - fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2021.

(0 ZENREBARLEEERBERR (¢)  Brand name of Leju represents the potential economic benefits
A] 75 T A R 2E A A BRSO N % to be generated from reputation and recognition on Leju Group.
WiIEAKWBEEEENAABEA It was recognised as an intangible asset at its fair value of
R#179,849,000 THER AER & E RMB179,849,000 resulting from the acquisition to Leju as detailed
(FEBENIE39(B)) © in note 39(B).

LEHLEIET R EER SR AFE There is no foreseeable limit to the period which the brand name
#Y ER R A AT T8 R AR AR A ER R o of Leju is expected to generate net cash inflow.
Hit - AEEERERSZmEELRE As a result, the brand name is considered by the management of
FRFAFE o mAEEE A (A FHH the Group as having an indefinite useful life. The brand name will
BEEAERZAITTE#E Ak & not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
WEEREA D HIRREN RS E Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever
ITRERIE o RER S FIBRM EE there is an indication that it may be impaired. Particulars of the
4O EE - impairment testing are disclosed in note 40.
AR\ = S
21. R E QAR 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
20215 20204
AR¥TR AR¥ETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEXAR - RKET Cost of investments, unlisted 64,130 259,140
IR RE EE Share of post-acquisition results 7,505 41,554
71,635 300,694
& R HBERER * English name is for the identification purpose only
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s interests in major associates as at 31

December 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

AEEFRAERERLE  AREMERFELE

RAAR Az gEHE feaman MM2A31H M2A318 IEEY
Paidup  Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Country of  Place of Registered  interest held by the Group  rights held by the Group
Name of Company registration  operation capital As at 31 December As at 31 December  Principal activity
T WF  00F  021F  200F
000 2021 2020 2021 2020
%8 LR FEENEES ([HR-%]) i e N RERNERERH
667,800
Juan Haishang Mingzhu No. 2 Private Equity Fund.* the PRC the PRC RMB667,800 - 2995% - 29.95% Investment and property
(ERE LA RZBAEES) ("Mingzhu No. 2") developing services
HETH AR ERRABRAA i kel AR® BHETEAARA R
5,0007C
Wuhan Zhongcheng E-House Sales and Marketing the PRC the PRC RMB5,000  45.00%  45.00%  40.00%  40.00% Consulting and brokerage
Co, Ltd* (RERHFE EHREBRAR) service in real estate
industry
RANEERAERARAT 48 48 I RAEE
30,0007t
Shenzhen Dahai Zhidi Investment Management the PRC the PRC RMB30,000 20.00% 20.00% 20.00% 20.00%  Investment management
Co, Ltd* (RUKEEBREERARAA)
EABEERARAR ([EF ) (Hit) AERNHS HERLES 11,0087 BEER E5RAREN
Up Capital Asset Management Limited the BV the BVI HK$11,206  34.99%  34.99%  34.99%  3499% Asset management, dealing
(EFEEERARAT) ("Up Capital”) (note) and advising in securities
FEEREMRESRIARAT i GilET AR® SEBIERRIH RS
5,6007T
Shanghai Chunyu Information Technology Co., Ltd.* the PRC the PRC RMB5,600  40.00%  40.00%  40.00%  40.00% Computer information
(HEZERRERRITERAR) technology consulting
service
BNEESNBERRAA i ket AR® [ERZREMIRE
11,8007C
Guangzhou Xlink 10T Technology Ltd.,* the PRC the PRC RMB11,800  17.60% - 17.60% - Information system
(RNEEZEEERAR) integration services
& E L TEE BRI @ English name is for the identification purpose only
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21. Rt E N R ()

Fff &

20196128 + REBEFTZREEER
% R ASEEBFUREEEAEESN30.01%
HIPEHE » $1{B /537,955,000 7T (HEERA
R#34,000,0007T) ° 20204 % 20214
12A318 ' BAFECHASE S - I
FTABMNFE22H93EREN TN KIE - RER
TRERBEEDFINIE - HEXSRE
BISIRATIZE B HR - EEE HE A ITE IR o

ERABERATNUBERBE

BRI S B E R E S5 40
T TXHMBERBERZB E R A
FgmE (REBE(ERMBHRSER)
MmEL) FIRE R

AR RN ZEESUBRRALS
AN

AR S EEENEBEREAAR
BEAENEMEERNRE + 12020
F12A31HAARK781,302,0007T °

LAt B E R R RR S M RRA
FER N AR — SR R AR m E AV B BR -

HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note:

In December 2019, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
pursuant to which the Group will acquire additional 30.01% equity
interest of Up Capital at a consideration of HK$37,955,000 (equivalent
to RMB34,000,000). As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, such
amount had been paid by the Group and was included as non-current
prepayments in note 22. The completion of the acquisition is subjected
to regulatory approval. Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated
financial statements, the regulatory approval is still in progress.

Summarised financial information of material
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of Mingzhu No. 2
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

Mingzhu No. 2 is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

Mingzhu No. 2's asset solely represented by financial asset
measured at FVTPL amounted to RMB781,302,000 as at 31
December 2020.

Reconciliation at the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in Mingzhu No. 2 recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

20204

ARKETTT

2020

RMB'000

AR SR EEFE Net assets of Mingzhu No. 2 781,302
NES B R BATR Z SR B4z B 51 Proportion of the Group’s interest in Mingzhu No. 2 29.95%
ANEBPPIR S AEZSIREME  Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Mingzhu No. 2 234,000

AREBREE2020F IEFEHHHPLK
Z5R29.95% Mg - Wi ZERS AR
FIVER B & A RIBVIEE © 20214 -
BAER SRR RIEESH ©

Iff

The Group held a 29.95% interest in Mingzhu No.2 and
accounted for the investment as an associate in the year ended
2020. In 2021, Mingzhu No.2 was early deregistered.



22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES,
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT

BILLS

=hig ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2021E 20204
AR®ET ARETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
RRERASENENRR RENEE Accounts receivables and bills receivables
measured at amortised cost 746,880 1,082,096
B RBHERA ERNEURERI R EKZE  Less: Loss allowance for accounts receivables
MEBERE and bills receivables measured at amortised cost (523,241) (15,811)
REER A ENERRZ R ERZESE  Total accounts receivables and bills receivables
measured at amortised cost 223,639 1,066,285
ENEHERERNES (Hifa) Deposits paid to property developers (note a)
- R ~ current 1,991,098 2,050,317
—¥nE - non-current 10,999 327,247
A Prepayments
—nE - current 1,436,282 171,275
— 378 (H:2b) - non-current (note b) 34,000 134,000
HETSE Rental deposits
i - current 27,203 30,636
— JEnE — non-current 27,392 27,989
BN Loan arrangement
L)) — current 40,880 =
- RE ~ non-current 318,869 =
WEnERLENEN RS GERE) Deposits paid for acquisition of property and
equipment (non-current) 307,402 100,809
RAETERZ (ERE) Long-term deferred expenses (non-current) 4,908 5,366
Hit R - £t (7E)) Other receivables - others (current) 80,682 47,552
METHH Advance to staff 4,045 34,999
HERY A Lease receivables 68,272 =
A EINFIE — REBEFARREN Other receivables - receivables from redemption of
FEUCHRIE (i Eh) a convertible note (current) 25,589 25,589
4,377,621 2,955,779
W B R A BN A EREER Less: Loss allowance for other receivables and
HipERe e ENEBRE other non-current assets measured at amortised cost (3,672,977) (38,422)
704,644 2/010/,857
JEURER T EEN  HiIEREEER  Total accounts receivables, bills receivables,
Hit AR other non-current assets and other receivables 928,283 3,983,642
BAMBRARNFBRELMIERHEE  Other non-current assets and other receivables disclosed
REMEURIE : in the consolidated statement of financial position as:
i — current 621,624 2,322,991
— EnE — non-current 83,020 594,366
704,644 2,917,357
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES,

BILLS

RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

a)

Amount mainly represents earnest deposits paid by the Group to
its property developers enabling the Group to carry out the real
estate agency services in the primary market projects, which will
be released to the Group at the earlier of (i) period agreed in the
respective agreements or (ii) upon completion of the respective
agreements. At 31 December 2021, earnest deposits paid to
property developers amounting to RMB10,999,000 (31 December
2020: RMB327,247,000) are expected to be released twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the amount included a
prepayment of RMB34,000,000 paid to an independent third
party in respect of the Group's proposed acquisition of an
additional 30.01% equity interest of an associate of the Group. In
addition, on 31 November 2020, the Group entered into another
cooperative agreement with an independent third party, pursuant
to which the Group agreed to establish a business management
fund with the independent third party. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group paid RMB100,000,000 as the earnest deposit to the
business management fund. In 2021, the business management
fund did not incorporate and the earnest deposit was returned to
the Group.

The Group allows all of its customers a credit period of 90 days
(2020: 90 days) upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions of
the relevant agreements and relevant invoices have been issued.
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES,

BILLS
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivables, net
of loss allowance, presented based on the dates of rendering
the services for the digital marketing service at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates:

20214 20204

AR¥TR AREETTT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FE AR Within 1 year 146,317 282,083
—EMF 1 -2 years 37,429 25,114
A E Over 2 years 39,655 32,624
223,401 339,821

R2021F12A831H ' KEBEEWK
EREHBEREAEAARY
219,782,0007C (20204 : AR
185,401,0007T) WER - ER®WE
HEE@E - BAaBEsT AR
#187,989,0007T (20204 : AR¥E
136,320,0007T) E#HEI90 A LA £ -
RAEBERERAERAEDN  BE
FELHEERN  TEBHRAEERE
SEREELR 2T EZERE0
BEBSANEFE&ERERS - A&
EEREERAMZSERFIBRRE
B2F - BHRRESRSADEY -

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s accounts
receivables balance were debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB219,782,000 (2020: RMB185,401,000) which
were past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, RMB187,989,000 (2020: RMB136,320,000) had
been past due over 90 days, which was not considered as in
default because the management of the Group, according
to the historical settlement pattern, industry practice and the
Group’s historical actual loss experience, had assessed that
the probability of settlement from their customers was high
in respect of those debtors which had been past due over 90
days. The management of the Group considered that the risk
of default became high and defaulted when those debtors had
been aged over 2 years.
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES,

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BILLS
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Upon maturity of the accounts receivables, certain of the
Group’s customers would issue commercial bills to the Group
to settle its accounts receivables. The Group’s bills receivables
represent bills receivables on hand which are not yet due at
the end of the reporting period. During the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2021, the Group did not endorse any of
the bills received to any counterparties nor discount any of the
bills to any banks and/or financial institutions.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group has
recognised ECL allowance of above 50% on the outstanding
balance of accounts receivables (except for those with real
estate properties obtained as collateral) arising from (i) normal
risk type customers of which were aged over 2 years since the
revenue recognition date and (ii) higher risk type customers,
because they were assessed by the management of the Group
generally not recoverable based on their historical experience
and settlement patterns.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group's accounts
receivables, an aggregate carrying amount of RMB50,045,000
(2020: RMB59,822,000) of which the Group obtained collateral
of real estate properties over these balances.
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

When the Group’s customer uses real estate property as
collateral to settle the outstanding accounts receivables in partial
or in full, the Group will assess the fair value of real estate
property based on the recent market prices and as agreed with
the Group’s customer. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group received real estate properties with fair value
of RMB13,656,000 (2020: RMB16,848,000) and recognised
these real estate properties as investment properties, with the
corresponding amount credited to accounts receivables.

The following is a maturity analysis of bills receivables, net of
loss allowance, presented based on the remaining dates to
maturity of bills receivables at the end of the reporting period.

20215 20204

ARETT ARETT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

180 H AR Within 180 days 238 482,636
181%365H 181 — 365 days - 243,828
238 726,464

MR2021F12A31H - HAREEEK
ZEMIREEAZ L (202012 A31
B : AR#¥725,831,00070) WEE A
RNEE T HITHRESRE

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s bills
receivables with carrying amounts of nil (31 December 2020:
RMB725,831,000) are commercial bills issued by the Group's
related parties.
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Z2E - 22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS
)53

22. B
Eﬂ"}, ,\ﬂ"_?, RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
FEUWEIE (48) ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
TEWRRAR R EWEERERN Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
2HEHICEEE LS T for accounts receivables and bills receivables
FEERE EERE et
AR®T AR®T AR® Tt
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M2020%F1 A1H At 1 January 2020 420,507 374,513 795,020
JEWRIBEH DLEKREZE  Transfer to FVTOCI reserves upon
BAARBESEL A Reclassification of Receivables
Hth 2w (420,507) (374,513) (795,020)
@ AFERE Transfer to credit-impaired (7,297) 7,297 =
ERRER R FHE Net impairment loss recognised
(KizE9A) (note 9A) 16,867 - 16,867
T Write off - (1,056) (1,056)
7)2020%12 A31H At 31 December 2020 9,570 6,241 15,811
@A ZERE Transfer to credit-impairment (7,839) 7,839 =
ERBEEKFE Net impairment loss recognised
(KTaE9A) (note 9A) 798 510,532 511,330
T35 Write off - (3,900) (3,900)
MR2021F12A31H At 31 December 2021 2,529 520,712 523,241
BARERFBEREEESERAR Due to the transfer to FVTOCI reserves upon Reclassification of
BEMELT AREMEEHKEFERE Receivable, the amounts at 31 December 2020 and 2021 only
M2020F K2021F12A31 B S5 represent those of Leju Group.

ERREEEBNDE -
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Movement in ECL that has been recognised for other
receivables and other non-current assets

RS 2 HEH

128 B 89 FERK - FERK -
RHEERX BEERE EERE -y
AR®T T AR®ETF T AR® T ARBT T

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

12m not credit- credit-

ECL impaired impaired Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

#202041 818 At 1 January 2020 3,126 — = 3,126
HERB AR R FHE Net impairment losses

(Kt739A) recognised (note 9A) 30,016 5,280 - 35,296

12020512 A31H At 31 December 2020 33,142 5,280 - 38,422
BERBERKFE Net impairment losses

(KfaE9A) recognised (note 9A) 52,541 - 3,582,014 3,634,555

#AEERE Transfer to credit-impaired = (5,280) 5,280 =

M2021F12H31H At 31 December 2021 85,683 = 3,587,294 3,672,977
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23. Bt (FEAS) BB SR 23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED
I/

PARTIES
BIEWRE22 R sE 24T - KEH The Group’s amounts due from/(to) related parties comprised
FEW (FEf) BEES H RIB R IEREN of amounts due from/(to) related parties but excluded bills
(FERH) BB 08 - BETEiEE receivables from a related party as disclosed in notes 22 and 24,
— RS EE - BEFBEYINT - details of which are set out below.
20214 20204
AR%T AREFTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
BE Assets
JE LT Ak 75 RO Amounts due from related parties,
DITET analysed as:
— B 5 MHE & — Trade nature balance 155,639 261,768
B TR Less: Loss allowance (146,146) (651)
9,493 261,117
— JEE 51 E e — Non-trade nature balance 25,048 44,023
W BERE Less: Loss allowance (509) (60)
24,539 43,963
34,032 305,080
REETBARRAERERS Disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position as:
— mEBEE — Current assets 33,540 293,945
—ERBEE - Non-current assets 492 11,135
34,032 305,080
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18 (48)

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED
PARTIES (Continued)

ANEE @A YT Below details the list of related parties of the Group:
BaR
Relationship
FREXNEEBRARAHE QG China Evergrande Group Co., Ltd.’s affiliates HitaEi
(FREAEEHRAD BB A A) Note i
BRI ERA AR A FRHEB A China Vanke Co., Ltd.'s affiliates Kt
(BRERMBRD BB A A) Note i
EHERZERAR A A B QT Country Garden Holdings Co. Ltd.’s affiliates
([BER]) (“Country Garden")** HiaEi
(BHEEZERERARNEEAR) Note i
Pl B F5 O SR B iR B PR A R A Bt /8 A &) Alibaba Group Holding Limited’s affiliates HitaEi
(f] 2B B EEIER A R A B R B A7) Note i
G (M) TR E R A B BV EE A 7 Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holding
Limited’s affiliates Kt
(EFEH(ERMIERBR A RBHERR) Note i
BN BB R RARA A Suzhou Weidian Business Information
Consulting Co., Ltd.* HitaEi
(RN R REAERAR) Note i
ZE(FRH) CEEESEBRAF E-House (China) Enterprise Management Group
([ZEEE]) Ltd.* (“E-House Management”) HitaEi
(GEFBR)GESBEEELRAF) Note i
IERSHEELEEEZNEBR AT Beijing Yijieyou Enterprise Management
([t SEE]) Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing EJU") HitaEi
ERSGGEELXEEEZAEGRAR) Note i
EBREEERERAH Shanghai Ted Culture Communication Co., Ltd.* HitaEi
(EBAREULBEEERAR) Note i
FREEERFEEER China Real Estate Information Corporation* i
(FEEEESER) Note i
IR RS R (28) BRAH Yike Network Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* Hitati
(AT R (B8 AR A E]) Note i

* R B TREHRHS

**  BHI021F9A2B# BEETHEA
NEEREH T -

* English name is for identification purpose only

**  Since 2 September 2021, Country Garden ceased to be the related
of the Group.
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23. fEUR (FEAY) BRI 5 K

5 (&)

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

PARTIES (Continued)

BR
Relationship
R RmE R ERE S AR AT CRIC Commercial Information Co. Ltd.* Kt
(RRmEEERESARATF) Note i
S EFRBIZERBRAR] E-House (China) Holdings Co. Ltd.* Kt
(BEFEERBRATE) Note i
EBEREBEERRAERA A Shanghai Weimi Business Information Consulting KaEi
Co., Ltd.* (/@M R BE SFEABR QA Note i
EEBRRESREER AR Shanghai Yiju Information Technology Co., Ltd.* KaEi
(EBBRESREBERAR) Note i
SEREER (L8)BRAA Yiyou Health Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* KaEi
(ZHBREEER(L8)BRAR) Note i
LR YRGS BRI AR A Beijing Zhongwu Yanxie Information Technology KaEi
Co., Ltd.* Gb R W EERHRBRAR) Note i
EEBEEEERMAER AR Shanghai Baoku Information Technology Co., Ltd.* KaEi
(EBEEEERMBRAR) Note i
EEREREEERAFRAR Shanghai Xiangyangyuan Enterprise Management KaEi
Co., Ltd.* (E/BMEREEEEFRAF) Note i
EEZEERHRMAER AR Shanghai Yifang Software Technology Co., Ltd.* KaEi
(BB EEHRMBERARE) Note i
TN ME RS ERHRER A A Hangzhou Yinghui Information Technology Kt
Co., Ltd.* (TN MBS ERHRBR QA Note i
BZEFW S EITHRE AR AR Wuhan Zhongcheng Yiju Marketing Planning it i
Co., Ltd.* (RNEFRH BEITHREIBRAR]) Note ii

B & -

()  EARAREEHOER  KHAR
AKBEALEN °

(i) ZER/AEENBZERF -

* R B TREHRES

**  H20214F9A2B#E  BEEETHA
REEHRRE T o
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Notes:

(i) Entities controlled by shareholders of the Company which exercises

significant influence over the Company.

(i)~ The entity is an associate of the Group.

* English name is for identification purpose only

**  Since 2 September 2021, Country Garden ceased to be the related

of the Group.



23. fEUR (FEAY) BRI 5 K
5 (&)

(a) FEWRERERTSFKIE

FE U A RS 77 & 5 1 IR R B

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

PARTIES (Continued)

(@) Amounts due from related parties

Particulars of the amounts due from related parties of

BT trade nature are disclosed as follows:
20214 20204
AR®T T AREET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
HitaEi Note i 9,493 261,117
20214 20204
AR®T T AREET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEAR AR S B 5 Amounts due from related parties of trade
RIE ¢ nature:
— FEUAR IR — Accounts receivables 6,425 259,991
— AR — Prepayments 3,068 1,126
9,493 261,117

R 52 B B B 155 5 B0 16 3k R 16 1
% LESEREDEIEER
SRTELE AT EH90H
(20204 : 90H ) MEEH - M
ARRREMBARAGFESE
ERREESE 5 =A 308 (20204 : 30
H)RWEES-

Leju Group allows all of its related parties a credit period
of 90 days (2020: 90 days) while the Company and other
subsidiaries allows all of its related parties a credit period
of 30 days (2020: 30 days) in respect of all trade nature
transactions, upon the completion of the terms and

conditions of the relevant agreements.
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23. fEUR (FEAY) BRI 5 K
5 (&)

(a) FEUCEBERTS A ()

AT A REMRERE 77 B 5 1 E R
B — YR (R EEEE
RBHREMREHERSE B AR
FrRAen—FERERBKHE
BEEK B H CREER & B ARE
REH) 25)) MARE DT -

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED
PARTIES (Continued)

(@) Amounts due from related parties (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of amounts due from
related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables,
net of loss allowance, presented based on the dates of
rendering the services and the date when the sales target
for higher commission was achieved for the real estate
agency service in the primary market at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the respective

revenue recognition dates:

202145 20204

AR¥TR ARETT

2021 2020

RMB‘000 RMB’000

—F A Within 1 year 6,425 259,991

REXBERTTONERTRS
Al - AKBEFEEERE O
EEERUHRE@B TNEER
E-BEINEERERRTH
BT HEERX EHERN -

228 SZE(TE)LEZRERAT —T-—FERS

Before accepting any new transaction with related parties,
the Group assesses the potential related party's credit
quality and defines credit limits by related party. Credit
limits attributed to related parties and credit term granted

to related parties are reviewed regularly.



23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

23. U (FEAT) BAEE 5 =K
= PARTIES (Continued)

18 (#8)
(a) PEURERN: S 2F ()

EREKEELEZEERE

(@) Amounts due from related parties (Continued)

Movement in ECL that has been recognised for

BANEHRECERBLETH amounts due from related parties of trade nature
FEERE EERE et
AR®ET T ARBTT ARBTT
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
RMB’000 RMB‘000 RMB’000
M2020F1 818 At 1 January 2020 71,993 - 71,993
JEWFRIEEF D MEEEZE  Transfer to FVTOCI reserves
RARrBERELEA upon Reclassification of
HoAth 2T s Receivables (71,993) - (71,993)
R ERRFE Net impairment loss
(KizE9A) recognised (note 9A) 651 = 651
72020512 A31H At 31 December 2020 651 - 651
#AGEERE Transfer to credit-impaired (70) 70 -
HRAEBRFE Net impairment loss
(KtaE9A) recognised (note 9A) 129 145,366 145,495
2021612 A31H At 31 December 2021 710 145,436 146,146

FE Y BB 77 3E B 5 1 SRR FF

Particulars of the amounts due from related parties of non-

BRBLT - trade nature are disclosed as follows:
®12A318 Mm1A1H
As at 31 December As at 1 January
20214 20204 20204
AR¥T AREETTT AR¥ETIT
2021 2020 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
HifaEi Note i 24,539 43,963 213,744
RirE Mgk R &R Disclosed in the
BEA consolidated statement
of financial position as:
—mBEE — Current assets 24,047 32,828 13,744
—FERBEE — Non-current assets 492 11,135 200,000
24,539 43,963 213,744
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23.@%{(&51#)55%75%& 23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

g (88) PARTIES (Continued)

(a) FEWNEAEE 5 708 () (a) Amounts due from related parties (Continued)
EMEKREESIEZHEER Movement in ECL that has been recognised for
HREANEHREERLEF amounts due from related parties of non-trade

nature
20214 20204F
ARBTR ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
F1) At beginning of the year 60 50
(B[R mERAFERL Net impairment loss recognised
JFEE (HfaE9A) (note 9A) 449 10
FR At end of the year 509 60
WA B LR EER N IE For amounts due from related parties of non-trade
B5HEREmMS © REAKRIYK nature with common directorship, the maximum amounts
BIE&mKBEAT : outstanding during the year are as follows:
2021%F 20204
ARETR AREBETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
fftati Note i 61,720 244,754
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BB ZESHEES
WEELWT :

23. U (FEAT) BAEE 5 =K
15 (#8)

(b) FESEAMETT FIR
SR B

PARTIES (Continued)

(b) Amounts due to related parties

nature are disclosed as follows:

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

Particulars of the amounts due to related parties of trade

20214 20204
ARBT T ARKETTT
BotE Trade nature 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ffati Note i 41,831 41,556
it aii Note i - 66
41,831 41,622
RERE B & Disclosed in the consolidated
WEA statement of financial position as:
—RBEE — Current liabilities 41,831 41,622
FEfTRARS T E S EFKIE ©  Trade nature amounts due to related parties:
— FETBR R — Accounts payables 15,170 24,459
— BT 2R — Advance from related parties 26,661 17,163
41,831 41,622
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23. fEUR (FEAY) BRI 5 K
5 (&)

(b) FEfTEBEREF A (&)

KT RENBEET E S MEE K
B - ENRR(ZEEENAE
B —F BRI AR R 7 O RE R
ER RUERE—REEHA
AIRBRER) MREDHT © A
TARNEREHRIRENEE T
ERGE2I0EMNEE T E ST
B30R — B RRSKAORRER DT

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED
PARTIES (Continued)

(b) Amounts due to related parties (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of amounts due to
related parties of trade nature — accounts payables mainly
represent consulting fee payables to related parties of the
Group's real estate agency services in the primary market
whereby no general credit terms are granted and repayable
on demand. The following is an aged analysis of amounts
due to related parties of trade nature — accounts payables
presented based on the receipts of services by the Group
at the end of each reporting period:

20214 20204

ARBT T ARKETTT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FEA Within 1 year 15,170 24,459

FERARE DT JEE B I E FURMFF

Particulars of the amounts due to related parties of non-

BREBLT : trade nature are disclosed as follows:
20214 20204
AR®T ARBET T
FEE S Non-trade nature 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
Kifazi Note i 143,833 114,040

PR BB ARNNRIEEE A - Disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position as:

—RBEE — Current liabilities 143,833 114,040

ZEFERFBESLE - BEE
e REABRERERER -

ZE(TE)CEZRERAT —T—FEHSE

These amounts are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.



BEAAREESEXE A 24. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI
>< =k
H 2 EH RS ERR
b |
202145 20204
AR¥T AREF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
BRAREBEFELAT AL Receivables at FVTOC| comprise:
ZHEREHERGKIERTE
— FEUBR K — Accounts receivables 1,903,452 3,266,798
— IR (ff3E) — Bills receivables (note) 81,738 1,546,388
— FEMR BEES 5 5RIE — Amounts due from related parties
— FEURBRFX — accounts receivables 266,306 2,152,393
2,251,496 6,965,579
et : Note:
20215612 A318 - MAREEERERE As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group's bills receivables with
HNAREBEAZIT (2020128318 : A fair value of nil (31 December 2020: RMB1,383,122,000) are commercial
[R#51,383,122,0007T) B =% 74 BE B 75 2% bills issued by related parties.
THREERE -
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2. RARBEFELTTA 24
H i 2 [ W 55 A9 FE WK
15 (#])

R2021F12A318 @ BEUWERFR - EIK
=98 K e U B B 5 B0 — RUR XA
BAHBRED R B AR 4,547,260,000
7T~ AR#1,391,356,000 T M AR
#1,971,067,0007T (2020412 A
31H : AR®4,121,568,0007T °
AR#1,550,511,000 7Tk A R#E
2,279,708,0007L) - AR {EEHA
BHBRBIZEANEBTESANTE
HEBEBANTE - IR - &
WEEREKRBEHRE - BK
R AEHEERIANAAEE
DRlABANR#2,643,808,0007T ¢
AR#1,309,618,000T K AR#E
1,704,761,0007C (20205 12 A 31
H: AR#854,770,0007T + AR#
4,123,000t & AR® 127,315,000
TL) °

REEEBHEOGERREEITEHEA
FARER  AEBRTFEMEAERF
ZH30H (20204 : 30H) W=EH -

UNTAREERAABEFELA
Htt 2P anBUREZAAEBE
(BERYBYFE =7 KB H RIE)
(RERSMREHRREOBHARES
Ben—FERIERBHE B REKX
BH (% BB B W A HERR B BAAE )
275) BfRER DT

RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the gross contractual amount of
the account receivables, bills receivables and amounts due
from related parties — accounts receivables amounted to
RMB4,547,260,000, RMB1,391,356,000 and RMB1,971,067,000
(31 December 2020: RMB4,121,568,000, RMB1,550,511,000
and RMB2,279,708,000), respectively. The difference between
the fair value and the gross contractual amount mainly arose
from the ECL impact. Included in the fair values of the account
receivables, bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties — accounts receivables were with ECL amounted to
RMB2,643,808,000, RMB1,309,618,000 and RMB1,704,761,000
(31 December 2020: RMB854,770,000, RMB4,123,000 and
RMB127,315,000), respectively.

The Group allows all of its customers a credit period of 30
(2020: 30) days upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions of
the relevant agreements and relevant invoices have been issued.

The following is an aged analysis of the fair value of the Group’s
accounts receivables at FVTOCI (including both amounts due
from independent third parties and related parties), presented
based on the dates of rendering the services and the dates when
the sales target for higher commission was achieved for the real
estate agency service in the primary market at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates:

20215 20204

AR®T T ARKETTT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

—EHURA Within 1 year 1,151,571 3,879,474
—EWF 1 - 2 years 922,201 1,372,090
M LA = Over 2 years 95,986 167,627
2,169,758 5,419,191
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J& WK
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M2021%F12831H » AEEKA
AEEFETFAEMEZERESN

., Olb

Bk
=

Bl

{8
ik

’

S5

it

& 4o B 3R ( BREEEBIE=TTK
BT RR) RREABASARK

1,925,950,00075(2020&12)%31
H: AR#¥3,434,343,0007T) KI1&
% HEHRGERHEaH B8
Hi#t e » AR¥1,531,395,000
L (20205 12A318 : AR
2,410,847,0007T) B HEI90 H A | -
HRASBEEEEARAKERELN B
BRELEEEN  TEENREAEE
FEEEREBELR Bl fEzEeH
HEBEBANBEFE&EHRERRS - K
SETEERAMNZE EWFIERER
BHE2F BHRBESESAEEE
# o

EEMEAFEER - AEEETGE
BERFHNEEER  HMEERF
WEERE TEFNEERERER
MiEEHeTHETERZ AEEE
T SR 5L FE W AR X (1B B 3K 45 @ T 213 /9
B E Y B UR R ERIN) KRS &
ﬁﬁﬁﬂm%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ'%
EREEHREEEB()ERRARER
ﬁ HR B R AERE HEEBA
ME: RiR=RABRERER  A%E
EREETHZERFE  ERNBAK
BhEEEN  EEREBERAEBEER
WEAIUYE -

MR2021F 128318 ' ZEBZE AR
BEFT = W T A H fth 2 [ I & 79 FE UL
Alﬁiﬂﬂﬁ EEABARY20,027,000
7L (2020F 12 H31H : AR
11,933,00073)  REEERZREERS
EEEHEMFERR -

24. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group's accounts
receivables at FVTOCI (including both amounts due from
independent third parties and related parties) were debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,925,950,000
(31 December 2020: RMB3,434,343,000) which were past
due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
RMB1,531,395,000(31 December 2020: RMB2,410,847,000)
had been past due over 90 days, which was not considered as
in default because the management of the Group, according
to the historical settlement pattern, industry practice and the
Group’s historical actual loss experience, had assessed that
the probability of settlement from their customers was high
in respect of those debtors which had been past due over 90
days. The management of the Group considered that the risk
of default became high and defaulted when those debtors had
been aged over 2 years.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group has
recognised ECL allowance of 100% on the outstanding balance
of accounts receivables (except for those with real estate
properties obtained as collateral) arising from (i) normal risk type
customers of which were aged over 2 years since the revenue
recognition date and (ii) higher risk type customers, because they
were assessed by the management of the Group generally not
recoverable based on their historical experience and settlement
patterns.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s receivables
at FVTOCI with aggregate fair value of RMB20,027,000 (31
December 2020: RMB11,933,000) of which the Group obtained
collateral of real estate properties over these balances.
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24. A REEBLE A
H 4t 2 [ Ut 55 O 7B LK
15 (#8)

WASEBNEEEARHMENEESR
IR @A D S BEA B R T HIZ
AR EEFEIWE At 2K
FEUWGRIE - AEE KRR E Al B ¥
FEHEYEN A 2 EEET (I 6
AEBRFPENRK —HER - #£2021
F12A31MBIEFE - AEBESAA
B{EAAR3,949,0007T (2020412
A318 : AR#11,926,0007T) HE
HMEWMHE UHZEEHEDERER
RIREYE - BHEEREGTAKRAR
BEFT = W51 A H th 2 [ I & 79 FE UL
FIE o

UNTRAEERZAABEFELFA
HtzHEanBRERZ A AAEBE
(BREBIE=7 REKT) (RR#®E
HREREZEORGIHEHAZ7)) 69
FEIE ST o

For the year ended 31 December 2021

24. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI (Continued)

When the Group's customer uses real estate property as
collateral to settle the outstanding receivables at FVTOCI in
partial or in full, the Group will assess the fair value of real
estate property based on the recent market prices and as agreed
with the Group's customer. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group received real estate properties with fair value
of RMB3,949,000 (31 December 2020: RMB11,926,000) and
recognised these real estate properties as investment properties,
with the corresponding amount credited to receivables at
FVTOCI.

The following is a maturity analysis of the fair value of the
Group's bills receivables at FVTOCI (including both independent
third parties and related parties), presented based on the
remaining dates to maturity of bills receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

20214 20204

AR®T T AREF T

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

180 H AR Within 180 days 81,738 1,054,697
181%365H 181-365 days - 491,691
81,738 1,546,388
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LARMEESEILF A 25. INANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
EXxNEmEE
20214 20204
ARBT T ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERIETER (Mata) Structured deposits (note a) - 508,000
3FJ:FDT,\7I&&HX%&§ (KtaEb)  Unlisted debt and equity investment (note b) - 311,509
B RR BT _ETH B AR AN FE 5 Equity securities listed in the Stock Exchange
(KiaEc) (note ¢) 138,758 416,485
FEWES (Kfatd) Bond receivables (note d) - 40,455
TLERREIRE (Hfate) Investment in private equity funds (note e) 74,090 111,578
212,848 1,388,027

B E -

M2020%128318 -
SRATUREE -
R o

BT RE
AL \“ET B (2 3R 3

HZE2019F12A318EEE K
EERBYE=H([FLHEBR
BEREER DI ZEE RS B
HWASEE()VKBIELETER16%K
B R(i)MZIELETEERBIEL SR
AR#244,000,0007T - AHARKE
300,000,0007T ° #1F FIELEMEER
B A R#244,000,000 LA =F 3
H o REFES%METHESE -
I TEE R RS A A B RS
HA%  BAEEBRNIHHE -
MoERRBEE °

MR2020F12830H  "&EBEL
BEEWE Bt AEBASKEL
MEENI16%BRAEZ R AR
244,000,000 TTHY £ 5 M%@Etm
BEEERAREBEFEENELE &
HEAARK312,200,0007T - HE
2021F12A31ALLEE  ZRHE
TR - HEARY312,200,0007CE
EEEY -

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2020, the structured deposits were purchased
from banks of which the return of these structured deposits was
not guaranteed.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party
(“Vendor of Unlisted Debt and Equity Investment”), pursuant to
which the Group (i) acquired 16% equity interests of an unlisted
entity, and (ii) made advance of RMB244,000,000 to such
unlisted entity at an aggregate totalling RMB300,000,000. The
RMB244,000,000 advanced to the unlisted entity will mature in
three years with interest bearing at a fixed interest rate of 5%
per annum. This debt and equity investment was held by the
Group for speculative purpose and the Group intended to sell out
in the near future, and was therefore classified as current asset
accordingly.

On 30 December 2020, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group will transfer
both the 16% equity interest of the unlisted entity and the
RMB244,000,000 advancement to an entity owned by the
Vendor of Unlisted Debt and Equity Investment at an aggregate
consideration of RMB312,200,000. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the transaction is completed and the
consideration of RMB312,200,000 is fully settled.
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25. L}{Qﬁ,{giﬁ:ﬁ Wi A 25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued)
EXxEemEE (8)
MieE : (&) Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(e)

238 ZE(FE)LEERERAT

MR2020F K% 2021128318 » A%
EFZE LM ARNBRETNEZS
AEIEETRDAS5% « MAEEL

BHZERABEREATEN -

HZE2021F12831BLEE  &F
EHRAREEMERS - AEEERE
EBfs  MEETHZE2021F12 A
31EMARBENELE - RIEE ATA
BHEERBR  ZE2REEND
REEETATT

HMRZEFLTESAFEREERER
% AREEREREEEREAA
EBEFELFHABRNEREE -

R2021F 12831 BHNEHREEIR
AEEBMAEREESKRE - &#ZE
202012 A31AILEE @ AEEE
BN E=FEINARE B RS - UK
UREBRERES  ULEBREES
BEREEAFMHIEA15,150,0003%
JL (FHER AR 107,254,0007T) °
LEREESNABEEENAE—H
BAZFT ET AT - EE20214F128
31BIEFE - ANEEH 9,050,482
DREREESL  BREAARK
35,902,0007T ° 2021412 A31
A AEE@EBIKESS, 785,000
TT (FHERARKA3,974,0007T) ¥
BA—SES -

X B EMRHER

B —FERE

(@

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the Group's shareholding in
these listed companies are less than 5% of their issued shares and
the Group does not exercise significant influence over them.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain listed company
suspended in the market. The management of the Group
estimated that there was no basis to determine the fair value
as at 31 December 2021. Based on the facts and circumstances
currently available, the fair value of such financial assets are
determined to be nil.

The management of the Group designated these unlisted bonds as
financial assets at FVTPL as they are held for trading purpose.

The balance as at 31 December 2021 mainly represented the
Group's investment in private equity funds. During the year ended
31 December 2020, the Group entered into a limited partnership
agreement with an independent third party to establish to a
private equity fund by investing US$15,150,000 (equivalent to
RMB107,254,000) as a limited partner of such private equity
fund. The underlying investment of the private equity fund is
equity shares of a company listed on the Stock Exchange. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group sold 9,050,482
shares of the private equity fund at an aggregate consideration
of RMB35,902,000. As at 31 December 2021, the Group newly
purchased a fund by investing HK$53,785,000 (equivalent to
RMB43,974,000).

* English name is for identification purpose only
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JEBTRAE © WA IR FISRITARALR o
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26. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES, PLEDGED

BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits

The Group's pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged
to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. The
entire deposits have been pledged to secure short-term bank
loans and are therefore classified as current assets. The Group’s
pledged bank deposits carried fixed interest rate of 0.70%
(2020: 1.61%) per annum.

Restricted bank balances

As at 31 December 2021, the restricted bank balances mainly
represented (i) the receipts of bank balances from property
buyers in respect of the real estate brokerage network services
segment which had not yet been transferred to property sellers.
A corresponding liability is recorded as receipts on behalf of
property sellers in other payables, (i) RMB19,533,000 (2020:
RMB12,906,000), which is the full dispute amount and maximum
damages of certain law suits, was frozen by the courts for law
suits related and accounted for as restricted bank balances.

The restricted bank balances carried fixed interest rate at 0.30%
(2020: 0.30%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances carried interest at prevailing market interest rates
ranged from 0.01 — 1.50% (2020: 0.30%) per annum.

The majority of the Group's restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

20215 20204

ARET T AN T

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

AZETT ([Ex]) 5E Denominated in US Dollar (“US$") 1,048,118 2,884,449
LAY TTEHE Denominated in HK$ 380,990 1,615,201
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27. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

27. FE 1S BR 7K % HL 1 B A 5K
A ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS

BHREFBM

20214 20204
ARBT T ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
FERTERR Accounts payables 1,193,091 1,374,616
BFEBE BN (Hata) Advances from E-commerce customers
(note a) 498,521 590,604
Ef R P ER Advances from other customers 154,223 131,223
652,744 721,827
EFIE Interest payable 46,522 90,485
FEf B ER Value added tax payables 272,379 362,906
H e~ 18 Other tax payables 72,355 74,686
REZRWBGKR (FFzEb) Receipts on behalf of property sellers (note b) 100,916 263,141
B B ELLE PSR & Deposits received from real estate brokerage
(KiaEc) stores (note ¢) 50,944 58,868
W2 B ) 2 T 58S B PE A5 SR IR Payables for acquisition of property and
equipment 43,926 5,486
G Expenses reimbursement 21,692 33,759
R ZEFREEYK (HfaEd) Receipts on behalf of a property developer
(note d) 728 6,161
HAl Others 105,987 81,420
715,449 976,912
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27. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES
AND ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Advance from E-commerce customers represent receipts from
individual customers who buy the Group’s discount coupons
through independent third party payment platform. The advances
from E-commerce customers will be recognised as revenue
when the customer (individual property buyer) uses the discount
coupons. If the customer requests for refund, the Group will
return the amount received to the customer.

Receipts on behalf of property sellers represent the receipts of
bank balances from property buyers in respect of the real estate
brokerage network services segment which had not yet been
transferred to property sellers. Such bank balances received are
classified as restricted bank balances in note 26.

Refundable deposits received from real estate brokerage stores
represent earnest deposits paid to the Group enabling the
cooperation with each other. The earnest deposits will be released
to the real estate brokerage stores upon termination of the
cooperation arrangement.

Receipts on behalf of a property developer represent the receipts
of bank balances from property buyers in respect of the Digital
Marketing services segment which had not yet been transferred to
the property developer. Such bank balances received are classified
as restricted bank balances.
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27. B BRAR I EL B
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27. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES
AND ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

Accounts payables mainly represent consultancy fee payables
to suppliers of the Group’s real estate agency services in the
primary market whereby no general credit terms are granted. For
real estate brokerage network services, account payables mainly
represent brokerage network intermediary fees. The balance as
at 31 December 2020 and 2021 also included those outstanding
payables for advertising fee, E-commerce service fee, and
cultural media related expenses. The Group is obliged to settle
the amounts due upon the completion of or pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the relevant agreements. The following
is an aged analysis of accounts payables presented based on
the date of receipts of services by the Group at the end of each
reporting period:

20214 20204

AR®T T AREF T

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

—EHURA Within 1 year 1,140,331 1,340,224
=21 1 - 2 years 52,760 34,392
1,193,091 1,374,616

NHREEER ZEEBAIINE
W AHE 2 AN 5 1B BR R R HL fth < BR R
UAREERREIIWT

The Group’s account and other payables and advance from
customers that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out

below:
20214 20204
ARET T AREET T
2021 2020
RMB’'000 RMB'000
LAZETEHE Denominated in US$ 6,255 12,998

R FERE



28. 6B E

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

202145 20204
ARETT ARETIT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BLAT B IEFE WA IR Amount received in advance in respect of

— EHEEUR RS UA — real estate data service income

(Ftate6(a)) 152,400 126,323
— BEFEBARFEA — E-commerce service income

(Ktaxe6(b)) 28,994 30,045
181,394 156,368

TEHRASEESEERBEENEG
HNEEDEARDABE - R2020%F 1
A18  BHEHERBRANEGOE
f&H AR 95,842,000 °

REE2020F & 2021F12 83181k
FE BT —FmEEHENRERE
Sh - BIEE RN ER LFEEKK
BRARFHIWA - REE2021F12 A
BMRLEFE - —FhiEEmENRER
BHERBHLFEERNBOERN
Al E ARH57,637,0007T (2020
F: AR#¥67,315,0007L) - &=
202112 A31BIESE » RS
AFPEHEBEEHNBEACEAA
K #156,368,0007T (20204F : AR
95,842,0007T) °

Contract liabilities that were expected to be settled within
the Group’s normal operating cycle are classified as current
liabilities. As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities for real estate
data service income amounted to RMB95,842,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, except for
the real estate agency services in the primary market, there were
no revenue recognised that related to performance obligations
that were satisfied in prior year. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the real estate agency services in the primary
market recognised variable consideration of RMB57,637,000
(2020: RMB67,315,000) that related to performance obligations
that were satisfied in prior year. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the amount of revenue recognised that was
included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the
year amounted to RMB156,368,000 (2020: RMB95,842,000).
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2A. SR1T R EL A 1E X

29A. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

202145 20204
ARETT ARETIT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

RITIEK Bank borrowings
BB ER () Secured and guaranteed (note i) 260,000 360,000
BIRPEER (i) Secured and unguaranteed (note ii) 1,286,465 865,063
AR AR (M aiii) Unsecured and guaranteed (note iii) 760,000 996,240
AR IR A AR Unsecured and unguaranteed 15,000 =
2,321,465 2,221,303
BARE - BEAEER Senior notes, unsecured and guaranteed 3,783,867 5,147,973
6,105,332 7,369,276
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A SRITREMER (&) 2. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)
2021%F 20204F
ARBTT ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
JE(EE FatfE R R EE The carrying amounts of the above
borrowings are repayable*:
—F AR Within one year 3,669,351 3,593,738
HaiE—FENBBME Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 1,950,031 1,960,600
R38R B N A L Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years 361,247 1,550,938
AFLE Within a period of more than five years 124,703 264,000
6,105,332 7,369,276
B RRE B AR Less: Amounts due within one year shown
—EREEFRIE under current liabilities
— RITIEK - Bank borrowings 1,774,946 1,641,115
— HAbfER — Other borrowings 1,894,405 1,952,623
3,669,351 3,593,738
RIETMEN A EFIRHFIE Amounts shown under non-current liabilities
— SRITHER ~ Bank borrowings 546,519 580,188
— HMER — Other borrowings 1,889,462 3,195,350
2,435,981 3,775,538
* ZEBIRIE D ERERIBHEPRTE * The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out
BETEIRR B - in the loan agreements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s bank
borrowings are as follows:

20214
2021

20204
2020

EHIE

Effective interest rate

1.1%-5.5% 1.1% -5.16%

B & -

(i)

(iii)

AR#260,000,000 7T $R1TE K
(20204 : AR%¥360,000,0007T)
B EEEIEEEAR A RREHER -
WHEBSEFREHERESERA
AR AR -

ZERITERBEER Ed(a)A
R#275,188,0007T (20204 : A
K #290,063,0007T) HEFAEE
Rk EBBBREXERRAD RN EIPE
= EE IR - (b) AR¥ 305,000,000
70 (20204 : AR™320,000,000
L) B EBEEMEEERE  (OA
R #696,859,0007C (20204 :
AR®255,000,0007T)H ARK
755,136,00070 (20204 : AR¥E
282,267,0007T) KB HIRRITFERK
TEIEH & (d) AR #9,418,000 70 A 7Z
e ES (S i

ZERITERREET - BARF K
RAT M E A BB IELR o

HMERHFEWT

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

Bank borrowing of RMB260,000,000 (2020: RMB360,000,000) is
secured by Shanghai Juanpeng Enterprise Co., Ltd. and guaranteed
by Shanghai E-House Xiangyue Real Marketing Estate Sales Co.,
Ltd.

These bank borrowings are unguaranteed and of which (a)
RMB275,188,000 (2020: RMB290,063,000) is secured by
Tangchao Grand Hotel and the entire interest of Shanghai
Juanpeng Enterprise Co., Ltd., (b) RMB305,000,000 (2020:
RMB320,000,000) is secured by Shanghai Wanju Property, (c)
RMB696,859,000 (2020: RMB255,000,000) is secured by pledged
bank deposits of RMB755,136,000 (2020: RMB282,267,000) and
(d) RMB9,418,000 is secured by the properties.

These bank borrowings are unsecured and guaranteed by the
Company or subsidiary of the Company.

Details of the other borrowings are as follows:

20214 20204

AR¥T AREET T

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

BREEI(KaF) Senior Note | (note i) - 1,952,623
BEZERI (K aEii) Senior Note Il (note ii) 1,894,405 1,918,288
BERZEE (K atiii) Senior Note Ill (note iii) 1,889,462 1,277,062
3,783,867 5,147,973
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A BITREMER (EF)

MR2019F2H21H » AARMR
B E=HETRBERATET
2202142 A28 3 HH
200 B BETL (HERARE
1,374,940,0007T) 27.75% &
EEE(RBEE]) - 12019
F5A9R  ARAE—FNA
BN E = HETIRB AT E
T 2202162 A28 HEIHK
100EBET (HERARK
687,470,0007T) BRI ([5
SNERR]) c REAHME » BITH
HREBETERBRIN  BINEEE
ER2019F2 A21 BEITHER
EZBRAHIHERBE—RT -
AHt892021E300F &=t (48
ERREZBERBINEBRARKE
2,062,410,0007T) 2 Bk
VEmMEFRETIS% - REE
BREINEENERFEFES R
£9.4% 9.3% » BEEEIER
20204 12 A 31 B B 32 BT AT 3R
BEABEEHNARBEAARE
1,958,449,0007T (E—H AR E
BER) - BEERIEN20214F
2 A28 AEISRR BB -

2. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Senior notes

(i)

On 21 February 2019, the Company issued US$200 million
(equivalent to RMB1,374,940,000) 7.75% senior notes
(“Original Notes") which were listed on the Stock Exchange
to independent third parties due on 28 February 2021. On
9 May 2019, the Company further issued US$100 million
(equivalent to RMB687,470,000) senior notes (“Additional
Notes”) which were also listed on the Stock Exchange
to independent third parties due on 28 February 2021.
In all respects, except for the issue date and issue price,
the Additional Notes were consolidated and formed a
single series with the Original Notes issued on 21 February
2019. The consolidated 2021 US$300 million (the Original
Notes and Additional Notes which are equivalent to
RMB2,062,410,000) senior notes beared coupon at 7.75%
per annum. The effective interest rates on the Original
Notes and Additional Notes are 9.4% and 9.3% per
annum, respectively. The fair value of Senior Note | are
determined based on the quoted bid price in the Stock
Exchange as at 31 December 2020 is RMB1,958,449,000
(Level 1 fair value hierarchy). The Senior Note | was fully
settled on 28 February 2021 upon its maturity.
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BERRE (&)

(i)

248 ZE(FE)EEZRERAT

BR2019F10H 188 + KA A
MBI E=FETRE R L
M2ZR2022F4 18 HEIHH
200BBETL(HERARE
1,395,106,0007L) 27.625%
BEZR(IREZEEIN]) - R
20208 A 148 » AR A#E —
HHBYE = BETRE R
EmzmR2022%4 18 HE|H
HI100BEBET (HERAR
#694,400,0007T) Z B R EHE
(MEHNZEN]) - REFE - B
THEREITERERIN - BBHNE
BT ER20194F10 A 18 B 3
THREZEIA AR AE
—ZR%| - AHFH92022%F 3008
SEXT (HERRERBEERIIKE
INEEIIARE2,089,506,000
T ZEBAZEBENEEFNER
7.625% - RBEZEEIIREIINE
BINERFMNESHRI.2%
R7.9% - BrEEBEEN2021
F12A31BRERAAHRE
ANEEENAREERARE
1,484,079,0007T (20204 : A
R#1,973,130,0007T) (55—
DREEER) °

B —FERE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Senior notes (Continued)

(i)

On 18 October 2019, the Company issued US$200 million
(equivalent to RMB1,395,106,000) 7.625% senior notes
(“Original Notes II") which were listed on the Stock
Exchange to independent third parties due on 18 April
2022. On 14 August 2020, the Company further issued
US$100 million (equivalent to RMB694,400,000) senior
notes (“Additional Notes II”) which were also listed on the
Stock Exchange to independent third parties due on 18
April 2022. In all respects, except for the issue date and
issue price, the Additional Notes Il were consolidated and
formed a single series with the Original Notes Il issued
on 18 October 2019. The consolidated 2022 US$300
million (the Original Notes Il and Additional Notes Il which
are equivalent to RMB2,089,506,000) senior notes bear
coupon at 7.625% per annum. The effective interest
rates on the Original Note Il and Additional Note Il are
9.2% and 7.9% per annum, respectively. The fair value
of Senior Note Il are determined based on the quoted bid
price in the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2021 is
RMB1,484,079,000 (2020: RMB1,973,130,000) (Level 1
fair value hierarchy).



A BITREMER (EF)

BERRE (&)

(ily 720205128108 ' XA A
MBI E=FETRE R L
m2iM2023F6 108 % H
2008 8BET (HERAR
#1,342,520,0007T) 2 7.60%
BEZEE([REZRI]) - R
202156 8108 » NRQA# —
HEBYE = BETRE AT
Mz 2023F6 108 E| £
HI100BBET (HERAR
#639,720,0007T) Z B R EE
([T - REFHE + B
THERBEITERRIN - BINE
EINEER2020F12 510 B 3
THRBZENA L AR AE
—ZR%| - AHtH920234F 3008
EXT (HERREBEERIIKEE
INEEINARE1,982,240,000
) ZBAEZEBRNERSFH X
B7.6% ° REZRIIREIINE
BINERERNES558.6%
K8.3% o BAEEEIIENR2021
F12A31BEREBRAMKE
ANEEENAREERARE
1,101,677,0007T (20204 : A
R#1,269,354,0007T) (55—
DREEER) °

2. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Senior notes (Continued)

(iii)

On 10 December 2020, the Company issued US$200
million (equivalent to RMB1,342,520,000) 7.60% senior
notes (“Original Note IlI”) which were listed on the Stock
Exchange to independent third parties due on 10 June
2023. On 10 June 2021, the Company further issued
US$100 million (equivalent to RMB639,720,000) senior
notes (“Additional Note IlI”) which were also listed on the
Stock Exchange to independent third parties due on 10
June 2023. In all respects, except for the issue date and
issue price, the Additional Notes Ill were consolidated and
formed a single series with the Original Notes Il issued
on 10 December 2020. The consolidated 2023 US$300
million (the Original Notes Ill and Additional Notes IlI
which are equivalent to RMB1,982,240,000) senior notes
bear coupon at 7.6% per annum. The effective interest
rates on the Original Note Il and Additional Notes Il are
8.6% and 8.3% per annum, respectively. The fair value
of Senior Note Il are determined based on the quoted bid
price in the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2021 is
RMB1,101,677,000 (2020: RMB1,269,354,000) (Level 1
fair value hierarchy).

DB ER TR I BB I E The Group’s bank borrowings and other borrowings that are
et v REBRITER L HEME K denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
R - the relevant group entities are set out below:
20214 20204
AR%T ARET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
LABRTETHE Denominated in EUR - 46,240
LAZETTEHE Denominated in US$ 3,881,726 5,147,973
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298. AT AR EE 298. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

R2020F 11 A48 « KA A MEFE
EEEEERAA ([MEEERER
BA)EITALEA1,031,900,000
BLTHABRBRERE (BERARK
888,672,0007T) ([ AJ#AAR TR ]) © fin
AR =R RN 2023F 12 B31HAEEH
BART M AR ER - Al REER
B o ATMREERFENELR2% @ WiE
FESZA—IK -

AIBRKREBEEFRSINERFENER
9.09% BEHH AL EEARE
RRRRAELERER ZEHR2021
F12A31BNFHREREE - AIA
K #404,717,0007C (2020412 A 31
H: AR#732,948,00070) (£ =4
NAEBEER) -

HMERBETERD 2 ERAEE
I EBEN B E XM EMTABRT
HETRARBETS  HAGHEE
ERTHARUSRTAMGEIEN
AT HREER o

250 SE(hE)LEZRRARAT —T-—EERE

On 4 November 2020, the Company issued a convertible note
to Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited (“Alibaba Noteholder”)
in the principal amount of HK$1,031,900,000 (equivalent to
RMB888,672,000) (“Convertible Note”). If the Convertible Note
has not been converted or redeemed before the settlement
date on 31 December 2023, it will be redeemed at par. The
Convertible Note carries interest of 2% per annum and will be
paid quarterly.

The effective interest rate of the debt component of the
Convertible Note is 9.09% per annum and the fair value of
the debt component is determined based on the average
yield of the Company’s and comparable entities’ bonds as at
31 December 2021 is RMB404,717,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB732,948,000) (Level 2 fair value hierarchy).

The derivative component of the Convertible Note was measured
at fair value with reference to a valuation carried out by a
firm of independent professional valuers not connected with
the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and recent
experience in the valuation of similar financial instrument.



298. JRIRER (F)

298. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued)

=L FTERD @t

Debt component Derivative component Total
TET ARBTR TET AR®TR TExr AR%Tn
HKD'000 RMB'000 HKD'000 RMB'000 HKD’000 RMB’000

202011 A48  Convertible Note issued

BTMAAREE  on 4 November 2020 841,540 724,734 190,360 163,938 1,031,900 888,672
[E =% Exchange adjustment - (17,107) - (1,570) - (18,677)
MEEH Interest charge 11,951 10,672 - = 11,951 10,672
EZRMAFHE Transfer to interest payable (3,223) (2,713) = = (3,223) (2,713)
AREEZHWE  Gain on changes in fair value = = (42,088) (37,582) (42,088) (37,582)
720204128318  As at 31 December 2020 850,268 715,586 148,272 124,786 998,540 840,372
fE &% Exchange adjustment - (21,424) - (1,283) = (22,707)
MEER Interest charge 79,299 66,208 = - 79,299 66,208
EEEMNFE Transfer to interest payable (20,638) (17,231) = = (20,638) (17,231)
DNABEZEHKE  Gain on changes in fair value - - (131,426) (109,730) (131,426) (109,730)
720214128318  As at 31 December 2021 908,929 743,139 16,846 13,773 925,775 756,912

BEMB AR ETERBD RABER

T2 ABIER

BB 2 BKIE35(0) °

The detailed key inputs the valuer uses to calculate the fair value
of the derivative component refer to note 35(c).
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HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

30.fHE&EE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

20214 20204
ARBT T ARKETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERfzHEAE: Lease liabilities payable:
—FUR Within one year 95,334 101,842
FaiE —FENBBME Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 33,488 42,408
BB E TR A F Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years 37,773 44,257
AFLE Within a period of more than five years 126,816 145,545
293,411 334,052
B RIRE A EYIREY Less: Amounts due for settlement within
128 A WA E R HiFE 12 months shown under current
liabilities (95,334) (101,842)
RIERBEEINTHI12EA%R Amounts due for settlement after 12 months
EHEEHAFRIE shown under non-current liabilities 198,077 232,210

HE2021%12831BILEE - #AEA
EREAZ MEFEEEREFEE

5.29% (20204 : 4.40%) °

UHREEER ZHEREBUINNE

BtEZHERBHIOT

ended 31 December 2021.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to
lease liabilities is 5.29% (2020: 4.40%) per annum for the year

Lease obligations that are denominated in currency other than

the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set

out below:
202145 20204
AR¥T ARETF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
A TTEHE Denominated in HK$ 4,875 10,308

ZE(HE)CXERERAT —T—_—F

Xt

Iff



1. EEFIBEEE BF 31. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

MG BRARNESNmMS - 5T For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
BRERBEEELRBEDLHE - T%x financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
B HREMeE ) EERBMEYN been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
DT balance for the financial reporting purposes:
20215 20204
ARBTT AR¥ETT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
BERIAR B Deferred tax assets 402,987 845,467
EERBARE Deferred tax liabilities (162,210) (201,058)
240,777 644,409
NTAFERNEEZRERIALE) The following are the major deferred tax movements thereon

during the year:

EitER  EHRE ERAHH
BARAE BABRE OAEESEER  HEBR it a5t
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR AR®TR AR®TT ARETR

Fair value
Accrued staff adjustments on
welfare and ECL business Tax
commission  provision combination losses Others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
20201 A1H At 1 January 2020 167,115 198,747 = 158,914 9,827 534,603
WERRIB AR (Ff2£39)  Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) 48,992 26,255 (235,902) 257,465 8,945 105,755
(MBRA)/stABH (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (61,346) 31,550 34,845 6,761 (7,625) 4,185
hxgaze Effect of change in tax rate - (134) = = - (134)
12020512 A31H & At 31 December 2020 and
2021%1H1H 1 January 2021 154,761 256,418 (201,057) 423,140 11,147 644,409
WEER B AR (Hf3#39)  Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) - - (83,545) - - (83,545)
(ks B)/FARE (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (46,051)  (226,340) 122,377 (175,156) 5083 (320,087)
2021612 A318 At 31 December 2021 108,710 30,078 (162,225) 247,984 16,230 240,777
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31.EZEBIIEEE BfE 31.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(48) (Continued)

M2021F128318 » XEBE AR At 31 December 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of
#53 794,641,0007T (20204 : AR RMB3,794,641,000 (2020: RMB2,070,192,000) available to
#2,070,192,0007T) KRB R TEE offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been
8B AtAREIHAREER - B2 5 recognised in respect of tax losses of RMB1,350,060,000 (2020:
AR 1,350,060,0007T (20204 : RMB1,683,044,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
ANE®1,683,044,0007T) BB E B for the remaining tax losses of RMB2,444,580,000 (2020:
MRIIERITAEE o |7 & K% F 2k RMB387,148,000), due to the unpredictability of future profit
TRER CATER - BT KRB EA TR IHE B streams. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following
AR®2,444,580,0007T (20204 = A years:

K #387,148,0007T) iERIELERTHE
E- ABRTEBBEBRATFEEE

H
20215 20204F
AR¥T T AREET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
20214 2021 - 121,918
20224 2022 148,837 75,590
20234 2023 182,265 59,312
20244 2024 283,052 36,904
20254 2025 336,913 23,218
20264 2026 1,413,575 19,204
20274 2027 3,418 3,418
20284 2028 1,551 1,551
20294 2029 15,220 15,220
20304 2030 30,813 30,813
20314 2031 28,936 =
2,444,580 387,148

254 ZE(FE)LCEZRERAT —T-_—F
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NEERERE AE

(#&)

MN2021%F12A31H  AEBEAR
A AR#6,931,981,0007T (2020
F: AR¥1,715,056,0007T) Y Al
MRERE=Z8E  FTBEELEEETE
ERMEESARBEHEEERKE
- TREREBEHNARKER - BEAR
#569,764,0007T (20204 : AR¥E
1,670,552,000 7T ) &y A] $1 5 & B 1t
ERBERELERBEE - ARAREKT
AN EE A A HR E B = FE A A AR
SHPERTLR A - B R B AR T AT H00R
=5 ARK6,562,217,0007C
(20204 : AR%44,504,0007T) R
RIETRIHEE o

BE(PFBRMEMSRIE) 0 82008
F1R1ERE  BRPBEMEQASKA
FRAEEANEE RSBk TE
Fio M2020F12 8318 ' HREYE
MR ARFARE2,991,782,000 7T H]
RRRHEA A EAG & BB A Al sk
A EREERD KA BRGNS
TR ERETIREERIERE  BA
7N £5 B A £ 120 ) 43 (0] T BE M 2 RE A B
M o I B E B = FE R Al RS SRR A]
e &M - FA2021F12 8318 » #
ERENB ARSI EESEERD
Km | ERBR ARG HER A °

REBREMR  TELAMEMEAR
HERERIEER -

31. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had deductible temporary
differences, mainly arising from accrued staff welfare and
commission and ECL provision, totaling RMB6,931,981,000
(2020: RMB1,715,056,000) available to offset against future
profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of deductible temporary differences of RMB569,764,000
(2020: RMB1,670,552,000). No deferred tax assets have been
recognised in relation to the remaining deductible temporary
differences of RMB6,562,217,000 (2020: RMB44,504,000) as it
is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries or VIEs from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31
December 2020, deferred taxation has not been provided for
in these consolidated financial statements in respect of all
temporary differences attributable to undistributed profits of the
PRC subsidiaries or VIEs attributable to owners of the Company
amounting to RMB2,991,782,000 as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2021, no undistributed
profits of the PRC subsidiaries or VIEs was attributable to owners
of the Company.

There were no other significant unrecognised temporary
differences at the end of each reporting period.
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32. B& 32. SHARE CAPITAL
RARE
&2 B [N ERI1:0) @
FEx ARETT
Share capital
Number of Share presented
shares capital in RMB
Us$'000 RMB’000
&H%0.00001ETT 2 Ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each
=il
ETE Authorised
M2020F1 /18 - As at 1 January 2020,
2020F12 A31H K 31 December 2020 and
2021412 A31H 31 December 2021 5,000,000,000 50 350
ERTRHR Issued and fully paid
R2020F1 A1H As at 1 January 2020 1,389,955,100 13 93
LT (Ko azEii) Issuance of shares (note ii) 363,895,230 4 24
1T AR Exercise of share options 287,600 —x —*
BB E & E k8 (MfzEi) Repurchased and cancelled (note i) (5,078,400) —* (1)
7R20204F [ 20214 As at 31 December 2020 and 2021
12H31H 1,749,059,530 17 116

256 BE(FE)LEZRERAT —T-_—F
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32. BRA& (48)

B

M2020F12A31H » 5,078,4000%
BRI M EEN -  NFERERGE
| - 742021412 A31 B EEFR

,(/\ @

M2020F7A318 * AARIERAE
REZERER AT ([FMEEEHBA
A1) AT B RE R ([RDRE
Wl Bt MEEEMEBARA
BHRERE  MARRBEERE
AR R 77,008 TR BB B R
2 R 2174 3£118,300,000 A A% (5
43RS EE 5828,100,00038 7T (FE
NAR®713,159,0007T) ° [Af &
EEMRBRRZETROER20204F
11 4B %K °

R202057 A31 8 » AN A Uk i 44
Bl REEERZE (EERFER
MIEE39) - ZWHEE R 2020611 A
A=A AABERAFRA (E&
RBiFE39B) 27778,676,790 X B
Bfp - mEKH (F& R HiE398)
Z%17166,918,440 R B D © K
KA E - KR EREITE .22
B (HERARKG6.747T) 31T
245,595,230 R ¥H{E R °

BEARRMNBARNNMFEANEE
HE B R AR BER LTRSS

SR 1,0005THARK 1,000
7T

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

As at 31 December 2020, 5,078,400 of the shares repurchased
were cancelled. There were no share repurchase during the
current year and no treasury shares as at 31 December 2021.

On 31 July 2020, the Company entered into a share subscription
agreement (the “Share Subscription Agreement”) with Taobao
China Holding Limited (“Alibaba Subsidiary”), pursuant to
which Alibaba Subsidiary has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue, a total of 118,300,000 shares at the subscription price of
HK$7.00 per subscription share for a total subscription amount of
HK$828,100,000 (equivalent to RMB713,159,000). The issuance
of shares to the Alibaba Subsidiary was completed on 4 November
2020.

On 31 July 2020, the Company entered into Equity Transfer
Agreements (as defined and detailed in note 39) in respect
of the acquisition of Leju. Such acquisition was completed
on 4 November 2020 and the Company issued 78,676,790
consideration shares to the SINA Parties (as defined in note 39B)
and 166,918,440 consideration shares to the Zhou Parties (as
defined in note 39B), totalling 245,595,230 consideration shares
at the issue price of HK$9.22 (equivalent to RMB6.74) share on
date of completion.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during both

years.

*

amount less than US$1,000 or RMB1,000
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HE2021F12A31 B IEFE

33.%&5&@%%5‘%5’91#%‘\?&

AT R AD SR BT &
ERDBAREN BRI

R2018F4H20H @+ KRR ERR
A E A AEEERIBERETS ([B
IRAFREERBRETE])  EEF
EHBAERES EHEEBERES
W 157202844 520 B EIHA -

RIBEEH R AR E#ERET SR G
BB AR AR H A iR 108 & %

B AR o

BRARBEAQRNERAFREENE
B EMRENERENAREBD R

For the year ended 31 December 2021

N

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Share Incentive Plan of The Company

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 20 April 2018, the Company approved the Company’s pre-
IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”)
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to eligible
directors, management and employees, and will expire on 20
April 2028.

Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must

be taken up within 10 business days of the date of grant.

Details of specific categories of options granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company are as follows:

HIBMT
ERILE Az B
R B BRA REHE HEHH TEH THE NOREE
Number of Fair value
share options Vesting Exercise Exercise  at grant
Date of grant  Grantee granted period period price date
2018F4 8210 EENRERE 23,784,000 2018F4F[21HZE 2019F4H22HZ 103787 54887
20194218 2028F4H20H
21 April 2018 Directors and management 23,784,000 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2019 to ~ HK$10.37  HK$5.48
21 April 2019 20 April 2028
2018F4 8218 EZREERE 23,784,000 2018F4A[21HZ 2020F4H22HZ 10.3787L 5.4887T
20204 F21H 2028F4H20H
21 April 2018 Directors and management 23,784,000 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2020 to ~ HK$10.37  HK$5.48
21 April 2020 20 April 2028
2018F4H21H =ZREHE 23,784,000 2018F4H21BE 2021F4H22HZ 103787 5.48%87T
202148218 20284208
21 April 2018 Directors and management 23,784,000 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2021 to  HK$10.37  HK$5.48
21 April 2021 20 April 2028
2018F4 /8218 (€S 6,737,200 2018F4A[218ZE 2019F4[228ZF 103787 4.9287T
20194 H21H 20284 H20H
21 April 2018 Employees 6,737,200 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2019 to ~ HK$10.37  HK$4.92
21 April 2019 20 April 2028
2018F4 8218 (€8 6,737,200 2018F4A218Z 2020F4H228Z 103787  4.9287C
20204 F21H 2028F4H20H
21 April 2018 Employees 6,737,200 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2020 to ~ HK$10.37  HK$4.92
21 April 2020 20 April 2028
2018F4H218 (€& 6,737,200 2018F4H21BE 2021F4H228ZE 103787 49287
202148218 2028F4H20H
21 April 2018 Employees 6,737,200 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2021 to HK$10.37 HK$4.92
21 April 2021 20 April 2028
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33.URGOAEERNMNETR 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
2 (18) (Continued)
RATWRDEEETE (F) Share Incentive Plan of The Company (Continued)
BRABERENBRESTE (&) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
TERBEERFANARAEERENRESIE The following table discloses movements of the number of share
BEa A A ARABENBERESZSEES options held by employees and directors of the Group under the
AR S B ED) - Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year.
R2021% R2021%
1818 12A31H
HATHE  FARE FRTE FRENW  FRIH i RATHE
T T T T T T

Outstanding Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1January during the during the during the during the at 31 December

2021 year year year year 2021

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

EERESE Number of share options 87,575 - - (6,047) - 81,528
FRATEE Exercisable at the end of the year 81,528
IEFATRE Weighted average exercise price HK$10.37 - - HK$10.37 - HK$10.37
120204 7220204

1A1H 12A31H

HATE  EARE  ERAR FRRKR FREE HATTHE

T T T T T Fik

Outstanding Granted Exercised Forfeited Expired Outstanding

at 1 January  during the  during the  during the  during the at 31 December

2020 year year year year 2020

'000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

EREE Number of share options 88,876 = (288) (1,013) = 87,575
FRATE Exercisable at the end of the year 58,282
EFHTEE Weighted average exercise price HK$10.37 - HK$10.37  HK$10.37 = HK$10.37
20205 %2021E12 31814 No share options were granted during the years ended 31

FE AR 4 4 (T (] BE S AE o December 2020 and 2021.
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N

33.URGOAEERNMNETR 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
2 (18) (Continued)

AAFBRDEBE (&)
BERAMBERBRESS

1K2018F7 A48 @ ARAHLERRF]
WERAARZEEEBRETS (TR
ARBEESEERESS])  FEZBE
HEEERES EEBEEREE I
15120287 AAB R E - BIEE XA
REERERESE  AAAESZE
AR&EEREES (BEARRRENES
REES)REBERENREARAGTR
7o ko RRBAITRREEARAR
AIERHENE R REMAIINDE=
T3 #% I B AR A o

BRIBEBERARABERERETE
Al BE IR I A 2 S R AR 0 IR 1D B BT
SRBRONRBRMAKES B EAR
ANEIDRETRMDNI10% » MEFTARQ
AIREMEEIE - FREM—FR
BT RiGR T EAEA KRN
BBITRE FETNRMDER T5i8
BN B ] B ] B B BT RR D A
1% @ MEFARQRIIREHELAE -
BRYEBRERBIUIENTEZNE
AR E LR B AN A RIAR ANV 0.1 % k4B (&
BEHBSASB T - BIZBKLARBIRE
EhRAbAE o

REERAAEERBRETERL
M RE B A BN A AR R 2018 &
XEREM - TEERARARESE
E B TEERRTRSE - (VALQH
B B EE T E - (i) RO R
SRR B HATR S 82 % A - FHH
Mg RiANRABRMDEE

MR2020F % 2021F12 8318 » #i&E
BREREE I AHEERERES
B -
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Share Incentive Plan of The Company (Continued)
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 4 July 2018, the Company approved the Company’s post-IPO
share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to eligible directors,
management and employees, and will expire on 4 July 2028.
Under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the board of directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares in the Company. Additionally, the Company
may, from time to time, grant share options to outside third
parties for settlement in respect of goods or services provided to
the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue on the date of the shares commence trading on the
Stock Exchange, without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-
executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share
capital or with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme must
be taken up within 20 business days of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of
the Company's shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's share.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, there were no share options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.



33. LR 6 BEB A ER

N

2 (#&)
= IR 5 S8 B3 B

LENRONBOELEI S LT -
LERRD REFTEIRE 2013412 A
1HBBNRERERM  EERNES
REEREEBREZEURND AER
RSB (BIEE R R R &D) -
I #H 2023411 530 B BIHA »

BIELERRMDEETE - AIE1TA
BEaRHEEBAEESEMAH
i ARITERR D A 8% (REE K
BEEEEESNE)  WHEELERND
HENGTEIERBEMNE= - EARE
NAEBE B IR E B R 1T AR (D 42k
FI5% (IR B i R AREE A H)
BENEHN - W20165FE 12818 @ &F
AR D BRI BE TR B D B &
#hN7,553,422 % Li@A% - 20194
12818 - &F518138 T8 2B (D
EhIEHN7,833,224 X E3@AR -

B

R2013F12 A1 KRR AEE 20204
1MA4BZERRBLER - AEBET
EENAERERBTIASE (FE) T
BRAERAR (ERERERE BB A
MERGNR)ER  WERELERK
DB B R BB - R20204F1
A1BREERBLEASR  BFEAE
(8 K EE 402,000 17 BE AL HE i &
170 »

33.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Leju

Leju’s shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Leju’s
Share Incentive Plan was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 1 December 2013 for the purpose of providing a
variety of share-based incentives, including share options and
restricted shares to directors and eligible employees, and will
expire on 30 November 2023.

Under the Leju’s Share Incentive Plan, the maximum number of
shares that may be issued shall be 8% of the total outstanding
shares on an as-converted and fully diluted basis as of the
effective date of the plan, and shall be increased automatically
by 5% of the then total outstanding shares on an as-converted
fully diluted basis on each of the third, sixth and ninth
anniversaries of the effective date of the Leju’s Share Incentive
Plan. On 1 December 2016, the award pool under Leju’s Share
Incentive Plan was automatically increased by 7,553,422 ordinary
shares. On 1 December 2019, the award pool under Leju plan
was automatically increased by 7,833,224 ordinary shares.

Share Options

On 1 December 2013 and prior to the completion of the Group’s
acquisition of Leju on 4 November 2020, certain directors and
eligible employees of the Group employed by E-House (China)
Holdings Limited, which was the parent company of Leju as at
the date of option grant, were granted share option under the
Share Incentive Plan of Leju. As at 1 January 2020 and up to the
date of the acquisition of Leju, 402,000 share options granted
to employees and directors of the Group were outstanding.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

261



262

mEe MW RNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

/|

3. AEREMSFKRK  33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Z (#)
KENRGRBE (F)

$ AR ()

MR AT 3T+ IR VR

REFERTAEBEE RS ERE
B EERIBRENFIBRMT ¢

(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)

Share Options (Continued)

Details of specific categories of options granted to directors and
eligible employees of the Group under the Share Incentive Plan

of Leju prior to the acquisition of Leju was completed are as
follows:

R B EE

HH A 58 B & 1T B &6 E INFEFEITEE EFHRAEE

Weighted average

Weighted average fair value at

Date of grant Range of vesting period Range of exercise period exercise price grant date

2013%12A1R 2013F12A1HZE 2014F12 A1 4.60% 7T 2.15%7T
2016512 A1H 2023411 A30H

1 December 2013 1 December 2013 - 1 December 2014 - USs$4.60 Us$2.15

1 December 2016

30 November 2023

RKELEB S @ RIBEFENRG 2
BEtd EEEETESEREER
EERRITHERER®E1,462,00015
WARER A AREB G BERBN
o R B - AREBRMDERE
BTLEEBESRAERESNS
EHERERENFBOT

SE(PE)EXRERARRIA —T-—FERE

At the date of acquisition of Leju, there are 11,462,000
outstanding share options of Leju granted to directors and
eligible employees of Leju Group under the Share Incentive Plan
of Leju, which are not exchanged by the Group for its share-
based payment. Details of specific categories of options granted
to directors and eligible employees of Leju Group under the
Share Incentive Plan as at the date of acquisition are as follows:



33. U ix

BEBRPMNITR 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
= —d
5 (48) (Continued)
HEWNRMGERTE (8) Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
R AR AE (48) Share Options (Continued)
R A ERR
gzl HBHMEE T{E AR EE EFHITEE MmEFHAREE
Weighted average
Weighted average fair value at
Date of grant Range of vesting period Range of exercise period exercise price grant date
201312718 2013128182 2014124182 4.60%70 2.15%7C
2016512 A1H 2023411 A30H
1 December 2013 1 December 2013 - 1 December 2014 — US$4.60 US$2.15
1 December 2016 30 November 2023
20154 A28H 2015F4 F28H=E 2016F4 H28H=E 9.68% 7T 3.42%7T
20184 A28H 20254 A27H
28 April 2015 28 April 2015 - 28 April 2016 — US$9.68 US$3.42
28 April 2018 27 April 2025
201548 A7H 20158 A7H=ZE 2016F8A7HZE 7.00% 7T 3.42%7C
20188 A7H 202548 A6H
7 August 2015 7 August 2015 - 7 August 2016 - Us$7.00 US$3.42
7 August 2018 6 August 2025
2015412 A14H 2015128148 % 2016512 B 1482 5.54%% 7T 3.08%T
2018412 A14H 202512 A13H
14 December 2015 14 December 2015 - 14 December 2016 — US$5.54 US$3.08
14 December 2018 13 December 2025
201743 A30H 201793 A30HZ 20183 A30HZ 3.24% 7T 1.75%7T
202093 A30H 20273 H29H
30 March 2017 30 March 2017 - 30 March 2018 - Us$3.24 Us$1.75
30 March 2020 29 March 2027
201843 H21H 201843 A21HZ 20186 A13HZE 1.55% 7T 0.83%T
202193 H21H 202843 H20H
21 March 2018 21 March 2018 - 13 June 2018 — US$1.55 Us$0.83
21 March 2021 20 March 2028
20186 H27H 2018F6 H27H=E 20196 A27H=E 1.41%7T Oli7EE==P
202166 H27H 20286 A26H
27 June 2018 27 June 2018 - 27 June 2019 - US$1.41 US$0.73

27 June 2021

26 June 2028
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33. LR 6 BEB A ER

N

2 (&)
24 1 AR 1D S8 B 5T B (F)
IERRRE (48)

R2020%F 11 A48 @ IBRELENK
DEEE  AEBEMREERTES
NEBREBNSEERITHEREREL
511,864,000 ([ £ /E R1TFEK
#]) BERWERHAmEERTE
FERTE ©

ZER2020F 11 B4BNARBETY
FR-ZHEABNE - ZEXME A
Bl :

HZE2021F12HA31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2021

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
Share Options (Continued)

As at 4 November 2020, the total 11,864,000 outstanding share
options of Leju granted to directors and eligible employees
of the Group and Leju under the Share Incentive Plan of Leju
("Outstanding Share Options of Leju”) are measured at their
market-based measure at the acquisition date.

These fair values on 4 November 2020 were calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

ENFTEE BB EFERFBELD
Remeasurement of  Remeasurement of
vested portion unvested portion

1T{EE Exercise price 1.41%LE9.68%7T 1.41E T2 1.55% 7T
US$1.41 — US$9.68 US$1.41 — US$1.55

TE AR HY Expected life 0.02E7.384F 0.38E7.654
0.02 — 7.38 years 0.38-7.65 years

LN Expected volatility 73.70% — 144.12% 73.70% - 101.93%
73.70% — 144.12% 73.70% — 101.93%

RE= Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%
0.00% 0.00%

4 3 [ 7| =R Risk-free interest rate 0.08% - 0.67% 0.09% — 0.69%
0.08% — 0.67% 0.09% — 0.69%

202011 A4BHH Total fair value on 4 November 2020 AR#64,743,00070 AR 14,134,0007T

BAREE

RMB64,743,000 RMB 14,134,000

TBHAR IR o AR 202011 B4 B &)
HESBATREFLEBETE - &
ApEAZERFHEREAARE
ER&EMT AU EREE - 176
R RITAEZMERNFE T IAH
o JHHIRE BT T EREEK
[ESE LB mIED ©

—EARIE ARG ERENA R
BE AEBREAAEERMANE
BNBRENESNHEMF - LA
B H R (ERD 7 B HETT
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Expected volatility was determined by using the annualised
historical stock price volatilities of Leju Group as at 4 November
2020. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on the directors of the Company's best estimate, for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations. The estimations on expected
dividend yield are based on the historical experience of Leju.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’
best estimate as assisted by an independent professional valuer.



.UM AERANMSTRR

\

% (&)
SENRGER B (8
B ()

R2020%11 84H EREBHXOHA

FE?‘%AE‘@%M 743,0007T &t
)\ﬁ“iE;tH BERZ 2D - BWH
ERTEHAFED %%*Bﬁ/\&
#11,343,000 L E R B TR
B ARBHRER ﬁ%%ﬁ(uf%
HRE) 2L G 5H szm;H
KD FEARBDIONEHRAR
ﬁ%z,791,oooﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ%{ﬁé\@‘ﬂéﬁ&ﬁ%a‘q
FBAR AR o

MR2021F48238 @ RELENKRG
REE  LERTAEBRESERE
Bi%E BRI ARITEERER4,267,000
B WARBBAREB ARG HER
RIfF 3R o BIBRR R BRI FASE
EEERAGEREENFEENBR
BERFERENT ¢

& B 57 8 Bl #6 2

Date of grant

Range of vesting period

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
Share Options (Continued)

As at 4 November 2020, the fair value of vested portion
amounting to RMB64,743,000 are included as part of the non-
controlling interest in Leju. The market-based measure of the
unvested portion of RMB11,343,000 is allocated to the non-
controlling interest in Leju based on the ratio of the portion of
the vesting period completed to the greater of the total vesting
period or the original vesting period of those share options. The
balance of RMB2,791,000 in respect of the unvested portion
will be recognised as remuneration cost for post-combination
service.

On 23 April 2021, there are 4,267,000 outstanding share
options of Leju granted to directors and eligible employees of
the Group under the Share Incentive Plan of Leju, which are not
exchanged by the Group for its share-based payment. Details of
specific categories of options granted to directors and eligible
employees of the Group under the Share Incentive Plan are as
follows:

R B E

IEFIITEE EFHRAEE
Weighted average ~ Weighted average fair
exercise price value at grant date

Tl AR E

Range of exercise period

202154 H23H 2021F4H23B %
202553 A31H
23 April 2021 23 April 2021 -

31 March 2025

2022F4H23A%F 0.87%7T 1,743 7T
203154 A22H

23 April 2022 - US$0.87 Us$1.74
22 April 2031

ZEN2021F4 23BN AR EBET
FR-EAEXGE - ZIEXHBHA
(ERRNE

These fair values on 23 April 2021 were calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

BFFTEEHBIHS
Remeasurement of
vested portion

1B Exercise price 1.66X(TE2.05% T
US$1.66 — US$2.05

TE AR HY Expected life 104
10 years

TEER R 18 Expected volatility 72.06%
Hﬁ |3 Dividend yield 0.00%
[ Bt 1) = Risk-free interest rate 1.56%

73@2021@4)? 23BN AR EE Fair value on 23 April 2021 AE#47,397,0007C

RMB47,397,000
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3B.UKRGBGAERANNAITR 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
2 (48) (Continued)
HENRGORBEE (&) Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
B (8D Share Options (Continued)
TEFRBEERASBEREEREENF The following tables disclose movements of the number of Leju’s
NPT FEEEIE R RB AR 2L B M E Bh =15 - share options held by employees and directors of the Group,
during the year:
R2021F  RKERSH R2o1E
1818 BEATE 128318
BRI BRE FaRY FAGR FRRK FRIE BRI
Th T Th T Th T Th
Outstanding

Outstanding options of ~ Granted Exercised  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1January  Lejuondate during the during the during the during the at 31 December

2021 of acquisition year year year year 2021

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

HENBRE Leju's share option 11,803 - 4,267 (147) (195) - 15,728
ERA{TE Exercisable at the end of the year 11,479
MELHTEE Weight average exercise price 3.39%7 - 087ERn  1MER  3NER - LN2ET
US$3.39 - US$0.87  US$1.42  US$3.72 - Us$2.72

266 ZE(FE)GCEZRERAT —T-—FERE
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& (1)

KENRORBE (&)

/|

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)

R AR AE (48) Share Options (Continued)
12020  RWEREN #2020
1AE ®EAGE 12A31R
HATE BRE ERRL ERAR ERRK ERIE HALTE
T T T T T T T

Outstanding
Outstanding options of Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1January  Lejuondate duringthe during the duringthe  during the  at 31 December
2020 of acquisition year year year year 2020
‘000 ‘000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
KENBRE Leju’s share option 402 11,462 - (22) (39) - 11,803
EXRAMRE Exercisable at the end of the year 10,273
MEFHHEE Weight average exercise price 339%T 339%TT - 1MET 381FER - 339%TL
US$3.39 US$3.39 - US$1.41  US$3.81 - US$3.39
ZR iR 15 Restricted shares

RIZEB I E TR E R REHIR - £
BEBSROOFEARKNDER B
ZR TSR E S UERRLS

BTRREERALREROLE A
TR AR ([ RERTEERH
Bf5 1) @8 05967,0008 + &SR
R R AR E LR BER O
R - LR IR R AT
HEREHE -

202011 H4B - ZFAAEET
SRERENKBRHANKBRESE -

Leju’s restricted shares are restricted from voting or receiving
dividends until the shares are vested based on the stipulated
service periods as set out in the award agreements.

There are total 967,000 outstanding restricted shares of Leju
("Outstanding Restricted Shares of Leju”) granted to directors
and eligible employees of Leju, which are not exchanged by
the Group for its share-based payment transactions, which are
measured at their market-based measure at the acquisition date.

These fair values on 4 November 2020 were calculated with
reference to the closing stock price of Leju at the acquisition
date.
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/|

33.LUIRI B EMW{TE3  33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

2 (18) (Continued)
SENRGORBGE (&) Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
B (&) Share Options (Continued)

R2020F 11 4B RERBIHL DA
nEBEEREEARE15,749,0007T °
EMSERTESAFENKRFESD
S AR#3,072,0007T I ER B K 5
BHEZRHBHARBEHRRRFE
%(LAEE%?%&)ZFEJE%WU Eai
LERIEERERS c BEAR

Y 45 %AE%12,677,00073H16€
BB RS FTENA A o

T%&Eﬁ%%ﬁ"i?ﬂxﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁxfﬁ%ﬁ B

The total amount of fair value of unvested portion on 4
November 2020 is RMB15,749,000. The market-based measure
of the unvested portion of RMB3,072,000 is allocated to the
non-controlling interest in Leju based on the ratio of the portion
of the vesting period completed to the greater of the total
vesting period or the original vesting period of those restricted
shares. The balance of RMB12,677,000 in respect of the
unvested portion will be recognised as remuneration cost for
post-combination service.

The following tables disclose movements of the number of Leju’s
restricted share during the year:

BM2021E  RKEAEH R2021%
1818 YEATE 128318
HRTE ERARG  EARE  FABE FRRE FrIE e R AT
T T i Th i Th T
Outstanding
restricted

Outstanding shares of  Granted Vested  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1January  Lejuondate during the during the during the during the at 31 December

2021 of acquisition year year year year 2021
'000 ‘000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
XRHRHEE Number of restricted share 967 - - (350) - - 617
PAREBSEMIE  Weighted average grant-date 1.65%7 - - 154%7% - - 1.11E7
FaRhEE fair value US$1.65 - - US$1.54 - - uss1.71
R2020%F  UEERE R20205
1THBE  $EAGE 124318
WA XRERG  BARE  HARE ARk BRIE HALTE
T T T T T T T

Outstanding

restricted
Outstanding shares of Granted Vested  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1 January  Lejuondate duringthe duringthe duringthe during the  at 31 December
2020 of acquisition period period period period 2020
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
X HRAEE Number of restricted share = 97 = - - - 967
REEEHMIE  Weighted average grant-date - 1.65% T - - - - 1,655 T
FHRRER fair value - US$1.65 - - - - US$1.65

268 SE(TE)LEZRERAT —T-—FEHS
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33. IR AERNNRR
5 (1)

Omnigold #9 B 13 2 B 51 &I

20154 + 4E/E 19T E 22 Bl Omnigold
Holdings Limited ([Omnigold]) £
M —IERR 7 2B st &l ([Omnigold &t
2 ) - EIRZ(EZ=OmnigoldESFE
HEfE MR Omnigoldst 8149 B 5 -
OmnigoldR#E Omnigoldzt &I T~ FTE
HBEPEETORNRSEE VLK
#%5,000,000% + K (ii)Omnigold&tZ|
BHRERBEMNE= - EARENE
AFBRZEROmMNigoldE B #E1TR
BARITERDBEHS% (REEIRK
BHECEEESTE ) BEIEN - BARE
BREBHETEER  WHE=F
HEA  RELASRNESEAF K
LE PR -

AEBAEKRBLEDR G TS E R
Omnigold&t BIE)RITEREIE - &
SRR RS B ™ R
B E -

ZEN2020F 11 A4BRNARBETY
FR-_EANBRGE - ZEXNNEA
BEF :

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold

In 2015, Leju’'s subsidiary, Omnigold Holdings Limited
("“Omnigold”), adopted a share incentive plan (“Omnigold
Plan”), which proposed that (i) the maximum number of shares
of Omnigold available for issuance pursuant to all awards under
the Omnigold Plan shall initially be 5,000,000 as of the date
of the Omnigold Plan was approved and adopted by the Board
of Omnigold, and (ii) the Omnigold Plan shall be increased
automatically by 5% of the then total issued and outstanding
shares of Omnigold on an as-converted fully diluted basis on
each of the third, sixth and ninth anniversary of the Effective
Date. The options expire ten years from the date of grant and
vest ratably at each grant date anniversary over a period of three
years.

The outstanding share options of Omnigold Plan are not
exchanged by the Group during the acquisition of Leju and are
measured at their market-based measure at the acquisition date.

These fair values on 4 November 2020 were calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

BT EE BB
Remeasurement of
vested portion

1TEE
T
T8 H R R
LSS
5 [ B ) =

MN2020FE 11 B4BAA A BE

Exercise price 1.50% 7T
US$1.50

Expected life 4.78%
4.78 years

Expected volatility 60.56%
60.56%

Dividend yield 0.00%
0.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.36%
0.36%

AR%4,978,0007T
RMB4,978,000

Total fair value on 4 November 2020
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33.

\

IR 4D % Bl BV 3 ;R
& (1)

Omnigold /B 1 3¢ B 5t &
(#&)

TEER R R JafFE AR 202011 A4 H
BT A RE TR TR 8 T8 E
TE o EAFTFE R Z EHFHBERER
NAIEEMHEM T &R
M ITERGIRTAEEEKNE
ZTLAE BHBRERNMEHE
HOmnigold HYE £ A& B i 1 ©

“HEARDE ARG BRENR R
BE AEBREAAEERMANE
BRBRENEFTNREMRF @ X H
B H L ERN 7 BT o

R2020F 11 B4AHEREBIX SRR
BEAANRNA,978,0007T @ Wit AL
BT R 2 — 3D

270 ZE(TE)LEZRERAT —T-—FERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold (Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the average of
industry annualised historical stock price volatilities as at 4
November 2020. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on the directors of the Company’s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations. The estimations on
expected dividend yield are based on the historical experience of
Omnigold.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’
best estimate as assisted by an independent professional valuer.

The fair value of vested portion on 4 November 2020 amounting
to RMB4,978,000 are included as part of the non-controlling
interest in Leju.
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2 (18) (Continued)

Omnigold i % 12 € B 5+ &
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Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold (Continued)

The following tables disclose movements of the number of Leju’s
share options under the Omnigold Plan during the year:

R021E  BREEEH R2021%
1A18  Omnigold# 12318
HATE KTEERE FARE  FAEE FRRR FrIE AT
TR T TR T TR T TR

Outstanding

share options

of Omnigold
Outstanding on date of  Granted Vested  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1 January acquisition of during the during the during the during the at 31 December
2021 Leju year year year year 2021
'000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Omnigold#IEEf&#E  Number of Omnigold's

#8 share options 875 - - - (50) - 825
MELHTEE Weighted average exercise price 1.50%7 - - - 150%7% - 1.50%7
US$1.50 - - - US$1.50 - US$1.50
R20205  WEZERH #2020%
1A1A  Omnigold#y 12R318
AR KITERERE  BARL  HARE ARk BRIE HALTE
Tk T T T T T Tk

QOutstanding

share options

of Omnigold
QOutstanding ondate of  Granted Vested  Forfeited Expired QOutstanding
at 1 January  acquisition of  during the  during the  during the  during the &t 31 December
2020 Leju period period period period 2020
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000 ‘000 '000 ‘000

Omnigold#9&E&#E  Number of Omnigold's

| share options - 875 - - - - 875
METEITRE Weighted average exercise price = 1.50%T - - - - 1.50%1
- US$1.50 - - - - US$1.50
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33.

34.
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REFER  AKESETHEEAY
RSB BAIERE A - &
RISt T E (MEB) DRER T E
R W BB G RERE -

AEBBREZ2021F12H31H
LtFEEBARE REREMKEH
BRERZBHRONEBERI AR
#14,309,000 T (20204 : AR¥E
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33.

34.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold (Continued)

At the end of each year, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest ultimately. The
impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit and loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB14,309,000
(2020: RMB59,932,000) for the year ended 31 December 2021
in relation to share options and restricted shares granted by
the Company and Leju. No expense was recognised for share
options granted by Omnigold.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that group companies
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings, convertible note, lease
liabilities and amounts due to related parties of non-trade nature
disclosed in notes 29A, 29B, 30 and 23, net of cash and cash
equivalent, and equity attributable to owners of the Group.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the management of the Group
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management
of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new shares issues as well as
the issue of new debt or redemption of existing debt.



35. T H

a.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SRITESHE a. Categories of financial instruments
20214 20204
ARET T AREF T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ERMEE Financial assets
b [DFIN Amortised cost 4,727,417 12,243,690
BARBEFEILTA FVTOCI
HE 2w 2,251,496 6,965,579
BARBEFELTABZE  FVIPL 212,848 1,388,027
7,191,761 20,597,296
sHas Financial liabilities
B SHAK AN Amortised cost 8,571,279 10,137,298
HEBE Lease liabilities 293,411 334,052
ARREETET RS S Derivative component of Convertible Note 13,773 124,786
8,878,463 10,596,136
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include accounts
receivables, bills receivables, other receivables, receivables
at FVTOCI, deposits paid to property developers, deposits
paid for acquisition of property and equipment, rental
deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, financial assets classified as FVTPL,
accounts payables, other payables, amounts due from (to)
related parties, bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities
and convertible note. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Currency risk

Certain bank balances and cash, amounts due from (to)
related parties, and other borrowings are denominated in
foreign currency of the respective group entities which are
exposed to foreign currency risk.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and

monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than
the respective group entities” functional currencies at the

FIEATE : end of each reporting period are as follows:
BE AafE
Assets Liabilities
20214 20204 20214 20204
AR¥TR ARBTT AR®BTR ARETZ
2021 2020 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
e us$ 1,495,302 4,372,786 4,552,006 5,886,644
BT HK$ 586,122 1,714,639 112 102

HRAEEERERRANEE
TH B B0 HME LB AR K - SR R
BRI SN SRR - AN
15E BN E ZR R R PSR
FE R -

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy as the management of the Group considers
that the foreign exchange risk exposure of the Group
is minimal. The Group will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
10% decrease in the functional currency of the relevant
group entities against the foreign currency. 10% is the
sensitivity rate used in management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 10%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive (negative)
number below indicates an increase (decrease) in post-
tax profit for the year where the functional currency of
relevant group entities weakening against the relevant

BENEREE - foreign currencies. For a 10% strengthen of the functional
currency of relevant group entities, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit after taxation.

202145 20204
AR®T T ARBET T
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

SN Foreign currency

ETT us$ (305,403) (151,352)

BT HK$ 58,601 171,454

—=—

—FEHE
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities and convertible note (see notes 29 and 30 for
details). The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. The management of the Group
monitors the Group’s exposure on an on-going basis and
will consider hedging interest rate risk should the need
arises.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floated-rate restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for bank balances at
the respective reporting date. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the
respective reporting date was outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 basis point increase or decrease in interest rate
on bank balances is used which represent management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible changes in interest
rates.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
If interest rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower for

bank balances and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the year would have

INCRA) AR &% - increased (decreased) by the following magnitude:
20215 20204
AR¥TR AR¥ETTT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
FERAEE N Increase in profit for the year 1,608 3,853
H th {E 1% E B Other price risk
AEBBBEARBEFEAR The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its

BEGT A BENER RRAE S
WEAZBAERRR - SRR
I EmBRAFZLEmME - MK
RNFBEHHEE EF TE5%
BIEZ2021F12 A31HILFE
BT B FEBEN, R AR
#5,978,0007T (20204 : AR

#20,824,0007T) °

278 ZE(FE)EEERERAT

T —FERE

investments in debt and equity securities measured at
FVTPL. For listed equity securities in the Stock Exchange,
if the price of the respective equity securities had been
5% higher/lower, the profit after tax for the year ended
31 December 2021 would have increased/decreased by
RMB5,978,000 (2020: RMB20,824,000).
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
accounts receivables, bills receivables, receivables at
FVTOCI, other receivables, other non-current assets,
amounts due from related parties, restricted bank balances,
pledged bank deposit, and bank balances, representing
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at state-owned banks and other
medium or large-sized listed banks. The management of
the Group does not expect that there will be any significant
losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk without taking into account any
collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 9.13%
(2020: 48.92%) and 18.31% (2020: 56.83%) of the total
accounts receivables, bills receivables, amounts due from
related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) was
due from the Group's largest customer and five largest
customers as at 31 December 2021, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances

Included in the Group’s accounts receivables, amounts due
from related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI)
as at 31 December 2021 with aggregate amounts of
RMB76,429,000 (2020: RMB71,755,000), the Group has
collateral of real estate properties over these balances.
Details of the arrangement is set out in notes 22 and 24.

For accounts receivables, bills receivables, amounts due
from related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI),
the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9
to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The ECL
on these balances are assessed on an individual basis
for customers with good credit rating (strategic type
customers) or individually assessed customers or with high
credit risk (normal risk type customers — credit-impaired or
high risk type customers) and the remaining (normal risk
type customers — not credit-impaired) is collectively using
provision matrix, estimated based on historical settlement
pattern, past default experience of the debtor, fair values
of real estate properties obtained as collateral, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances (Continued)

The Group writes off an accounts receivables, bills
receivables, amounts due from related parties — accounts
receivables (including those carried at amortised cost
and FVTOCI) when there is information indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings.

The following table details the risk profile of the Group’s
accounts receivables and bills receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) which are assessed
based on provision matrix. Debtors with normal risk type
credit-impaired, high risk type customers, strategic type
customers and, individual assessed customers with contract
amounts of RMB1,162,702,000 (2020: RMB295,729,000),
RMB313,090,000 (2020: RMB258,099,000),
RMB3,266,404,000 (2020: RMB4,639,791,000),
RMB1,743,389,000 (2020: nil) as at 31 December 2021
were assessed individually, respectively.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021

R AR R R R R (B RE KA R AR B
B2t AR 2K EAFRIE) — BHRE
Accounts receivables and bills receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost
and FVTOCI) — days aged

—RERERTE GHEERE) —FHURA —EMF #E

Normal risk type customers
(not credit-impaired) Within 1 year 1-2 years Total

IEFHIEHEEELE  Weighted average expected
credit loss rate 5.78% 17.77% 11.21%

BREERZE (ARBTFIT)  Total gross carrying amount
(RMB’000) 1,262,673 1,045,311 2,307,984

2 HEEEERL Lifetime ECL (RMB’000)

(AREFT) (72,995) (185,786) (258,781)
1,189,678 859,525 2,049,203

SE(PE)EXRERARRIA —T-—FERE



35. 2@ T & (&)

b.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

cHEREEEERBE b. Financial risk management objectives and
(#&) policies (Continued)

EERK () Credit risk (Continued)

E SR () Trade-related balances (Continued)

720206 12A31H

As at 31 December 2020

FEW R N JE M R IR (B IR B SN A IR A 7 B
B Wt AREMEEKEANFRIE) — BHXE
Accounts receivables and
bills receivables (including those carried at
amortised cost and FVTOCI) — days aged

—RERERF (EHEERE) —F AR —EWF #Et
Normal risk type customers
(not credit-impaired) Within 1 year 1-2 years Total

IEFHRRERERAE

Weighted average expected

credit loss rate 6.00% 19.44% 10.24%
IREEAZE (ARBTIIT)  Total gross carrying amount
(RMB’000) 2,807,328 1,293,579 4,100,907
ZHTEERE BB Lifetime ECL (RMB’000)
(AE®TFT) (168,444) (251,509) (419,953)
2,638,884 1,042,070 3,680,954
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances (Continued)

During the current year, the Group recognised net reversal
of provision of RMB146,150,000 (2020: net reversal of
provision of RMB19,675,000) based on the provision
matrix for accounts receivables and bill receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI)
and recognised net loss allowance of RMB5,474,954,000
(2020: RMB156,389,000) assessed on an individual basis
on accounts receivables, bills receivables and amounts due
from related parties — accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) from (1) normal
risk type customers — credit-impaired, (2) high risk type
customers, (3) strategic type customers and (4) individually
assessed customers.

Non-trade related balances

In order to minimise credit risk on other receivables and
other non-current assets, the Group has tasked its credit
management committee to develop and maintain the credit
risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their
degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where available
and, if not available, the credit management committee
uses other publicly available financial information and the
Group’s own trading records to rate its counterparties.
The Group's exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Non-trade related balances (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework in
respect of other receivables and other non-current assets

ERBIFEA TR

comprises the following categories:

il Eizipu ERIEMEERKELE
Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
R RZHFEHNRBE - WEEARATIRRRRE —FIAR o 128 A FRHEERK
Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any 12m ECL
past-due amounts or aged within 1 year.
G B iatERE - EERRARINE Rk —Z=/MR4F) - FHEMEERL —
EEERE
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial Lifetime ECL —
recognition (aged within 1 year but less than 2 years). not credit-impaired
) BEFRKAEELREERME RERFIAL) ° HIFEMEERL —
EERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired (aged over 2 Lifetime ECL —
years). credit-impaired
7%= BEIRKRBEEARABRENMBRE - F 485 B4 B 5 IEH) A % 8
2‘ﬁ%///t °
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Non-trade related balances (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment assessment, other
receivables and other non-current assets are considered to
have low credit risk as the counterparties to these financial
assets have a high credit rating except that receivables
from redemption of a convertible note are doubtful.
Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment,
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
12m ECL. As at 31 December 2021, the gross carrying
amount of other receivables and other non-current assets
subjected to ECL amounted to RMB4,370,219,000 (2020:
RMB2,515,917,000).

In determining the ECL for other receivables and other
non-current assets, the management of the Group has
taken into account the historical default experience and
the future prospects of the industries and/or considering
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information, as appropriate, in estimating the probability
of default of each of the other receivables and other
non-current assets occurring within their respective loss
assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default
in each case.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the
Group to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group
monitors the utilisation of bank and other borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity dates for financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.
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35. s TR (&) 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. £REBREEEEREE b. Financial risk management objectives and
(#&) policies (Continued)
TENEEE () Liquidity risk (Continued)
TREFEMNERARSIRESRE © The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
T B M R 3 B 2R Liquidity and interest risk table
nEYHE  RERE FERRS

BANE  HMER 12388 3fEAE1E 1E5F SENL nEEE  KEE
% ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR  ARETR ARNTR

Weighted
average  On demand Within Within Total
effective ~ or less than 1to3 3 months Over undiscounted  Carrying

interest rate Imonth  months toflyear 1-5years  Syears  cashflows  amount
% RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

20215128318 31 December 2021
BRI R ERE Accounts and other payables - 1534725 - - - - 534,725 1534725
R AR Amounts due to related parties - 159,003 - - - - 159,003 159,003
BN ERTER Fixed-rate bank borrowings 449 257,707 795503 793778 495383 132,440 2474811 2,321,465
BEH =M ER Fixed-rate other borrowings 8.64 - - 2271808 2,126,852 - 4,398,660 3,783,867
HREENEESA Liability component of Convertible Note 9.09 4,070 - 1901 883 - 741200 743,139
HE6E Lease labilities 5.29 885 13480 74927 160338 145822 40347 293411
1964355 808,983 3,159,590 3500716 278262 9,711,906 8,835,610
2020128318 31 December 2020
R R R Accounts and other payables - 191393 - - = - 1913936 1913936
RS Amounts due to related parties - 138,499 - - - - 138499 138499
ERHERIER Fixed-rate bank borrowings 437 97319 22365 1395510 404569 277545 2,398,611 2,221,303
ERfE A ER Fixed-rate other horrowings 8.92 - 241395 262470 3,720,824 - 624689 5,147,973
ARZENAESD Liability component of Convertible Note 8.73 4,976 - 233 740,908 = 768,218 715586
HERfR Lease labilties 4.40 18195 17,004 68494 194061 177,051 474895 334052

2172935 2,482,147 1748808 5060362  4545% 11,918,848 10,471,349
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

instruments

their fair values.

Fair value measurements of financial

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amount of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities, except for Senior Notes and debt component of
Convertible Note of which their fair values are disclosed
in notes 29A and 29B, respectively, recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate

AnBEE (HERTE
W12 A31BMAREBE B WREARE
Fair value Fair value  Valuation technique
as at 31 December hierarchy  and key input
2021F 2020%F
AR®TRT ARETR
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
SREE/SRARE Financial assets/financial liability
SEBBHIEAREEFE  Equity securities listed in the Stock Exchange 138,758 416,485 F— NEERTBEANB
m)\}ammﬂm%és@ classified as financial assets mandatorily Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
BB E TR A E measured at FVTPL the active market
DEARAREBEFEWET Structured deposits classified as financial - 508,000 E=H K
ANBEMERBENLEE  assets measured at FVTPL Level 3 note i
HER
SEBEAREBRTELET Unlisted debt and equity investment - 311,509 E=® i
ANEEREREEME classified as financial assets at FVTPL Level 3 note
LEBRRAEE
DREARARBEEWET Bond receivables classified as financial assets - 40,455 E=M et
ABEMEREEMNENR  measured at FVTPL Level 3 note i
&%
SEBBHIEAREEFE  Investment in limited partnership classified 74,090 111,578 E=H M
Wt ABZMEREER  as financial assets mandatorily measured Level 3 note iv
BREBKRE at FVTPL
ARRZETETERS  Derivative component of Convertible Note (13,773)  (124,786) EZR Kt
Level 3 note v
BANBESTEWF AR Receivables at FVTOC 2,251,496 6,965,579 FE=R Kt
ZE MR ELIE Level 3 note vi
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021.

Note i:

The fair values as at 31 December 2020 were determined by
discounted cash flow method by calculating the present value
of the expected future economic benefits to be derived from
the ownership of these structured deposits. The significant
unobservable input to the discounted cash flow method is the
forecast yield from the structured deposits. The higher the
forecast yield of the structured deposits, the higher the fair value
of the structured deposits will be. The management of the Group
considers that the impact of the fluctuation in forecast yield of
the underlying instruments to the fair value of structured deposits
is insignificant as these structured deposits have short maturities,
and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Note ii:

The fair values of equity portion as at 31 December 2020
were determined using the market approach by calculating the
enterprise multiple of the comparable entities multiplied by the
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
of the entity. The significant unobservable input to the market
approach was the enterprise multiple of the comparable entities.
The management of the Group considers that the impact of the
fluctuation in enterprise multiple of the comparable entities to the
fair value of the equity portion of the entity is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented.

The fair value of debt portion as at 31 December 2020 was
determined using the income method by calculating the present
value of the expected future economic benefits to be derived
from the ownership of the debt investment. The significant
unobservable input to the discounted cash flow method was the
implicit rate of return to the debt investment. The management
of the Group considers that the impact of the fluctuation in the
implicit rate of return of the debt investment to the fair value of
the debt portion of the entity is insignificant and therefore no
sensitivity analysis is presented.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Note iii:

The fair value as at 31 December 2020 was determined by
discounted cash flow method by calculating the present value of
the expected future economic benefits that will flow to the Group.
The higher the expected return, the higher the fair value of the
investment will be. The management of the Group considers that
the impact of the fluctuation in the expected return is insignificant
to the fair value of the bond receivables and therefore no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Note iv:

The fair value as at 31 December 2020 and 2021 was determined
based on the fair value of the underlying assets of private equity
fund. The significant unobservable input is the fair value of the
underlying assets. The higher the fair value of the underlying
assets, the higher the fair value of the investment will be.

An increase in the stock price of the equity shares of a company
listed on the Stock Exchange which is the underlying investment
of the private equity fund, used in isolation would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of the private equity fund,
and vice versa. A 5% increase in the stock price of the underlying
equity shares of a company listed on the Stock Exchange would
increase the carrying amount of the private equity fund by
RMB3,705,000.

Note v:

The fair value as at 31 December 2020 and 2021 was determined
by Black-Scholes option pricing model. The significant
unobservable input to the Black-Scholes option pricing model
being the volatility of the share price of the investee, stock price
and discount rate. The higher the volatility of the investee and
stock price, the higher the fair value of the convertible note will
be. The lower the discount rate, the higher the fair value of the
convertible note will be.
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